Production, purification and analysis of novel peptide antibiotics from terrestrial cyanobacteria

Vom Fachbereich Maschinenbau und Verfahrenstechnik der Rheinland-Pfälzischen Technischen Universität Kaiserslautern Landau zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktor-Ingenieur (Dr.-Ing.)

genehmigte

Dissertation

vorgelegt von Herrn M. Sc. Marco Witthohn aus Cuxhaven

Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Roland Ulber
Prüfungsvorsitzender:	Prof. DrIng. Erik von Harbou
Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Roland Ulber
	Prof. Dr. Nicole Frankenberg-Dinkel
	Prof. DrIng. Kai Muffler
Datum der mündlichen Prüfung:	11.12.2023

Kaiserslautern, 2023 D 386

Abstract

Cyanobacteria are a known source for bioactive compounds, of which several also show antibiotic activity. In regard to the growing number of multi-resistant pathogens, the search for novel antibiotic substances is of great importance and unexploited sources should be explored. So, this thesis initially dealt with the identification of productive strains, especially within the group of the terrestrial cyanobacteria, which are less well studied than marine and freshwater strains. Amongst these, Chroococcidiopsis cubana, an extremely desiccation and radiation tolerant, unicellular cyanobacterium was found to produce an extracellular antimicrobial metabolite effective against the Gram-positive indicator bacterium *Micrococcus luteus* as well as the pathogenic yeast *Candida auris*. However, as the sole identification of a productive cyanobacterium is not sufficient for further analysis and a future production scale-up, the second part of this thesis targeted the identification of compound synthesis prerequisites. As a result, a limitation of nitrogen was shown to be the production trigger, a finding that was used for the establishment of a continuous production system. The increased compound formation was then used for purification and analysis steps. As a second approach, in silico identified bacteriocin gene clusters from C. cubana were cloned and heterologously expressed in Escherichia coli. By this, the bacteriocin B135CC was identified as a strong bacteriolytic agent, active predominantly against the Gram-positive strains Staphylococcus aureus and Mycobacterium phlei. The peptide showed no cytotoxic effects against mouse neuroblastoma (N2a-) cells and a high temperature tolerance up to 60 °C. In order to facilitate the whole project, two standard protocols, specifically adapted for the work with cyanobacteria, were established. First, a method for a quick and easy in vivo vitality estimation of phototrophic cells and second, an approach for a high throughput determination of nitrate concentrations in microalgal cultures. Both methods greatly helped to proceed the main objectives of this work, the first one by simplifying the development of suitable cryopreservation protocols for individual cyanobacteria strains and the second one by accelerating the determination of the optimal nitrate concentration for the production of the antimicrobial compound from C. cubana. In the course of this cultivation optimization, the ability of cyanobacteria to utilize organic carbon sources for an accelerated cell growth was examined in greater detail. It could be shown that C. cubana reaches significantly higher growth rates when mixotrophically cultivated with fructose or glucose. Interestingly, this effect was even further enhanced when light intensity was decreased. Under these low-light conditions, phototrophically cultivated C. cubana cells showed a clearly decreased cell growth. This effect might be extremely useful for a quick and economic preparation of precultures.

Kurzzusammenfassung

Cyanobakterien sind als Produzenten bioaktiver Verbindungen bekannt, von denen viele auch antibiotische Wirkung zeigen. Im Hinblick auf die wachsende Zahl multiresistenter Krankheitserreger ist die Suche nach neuartigen antibiotischen Substanzen von großer Bedeutung und unerschlossene Quellen sollten erkundet werden. Daher befasste sich diese Arbeit zunächst mit der Identifizierung produktiver Stämme, insbesondere aus der Gruppe der terrestrischen Cyanobakterien, die weniger gut untersucht sind als marine und Süßwasser-Stämme. Die Arbeiten zeigen, dass Chroococcidiopsis cubana, ein besonders austrocknungs- und strahlungsresistentes, einzelliges Cyanobakterium, eine extrazelluläre antimikrobielle Verbindung produziert, die sowohl gegen das Gram-positive Indikatorbakterium Micrococcus luteus als auch gegen den pathogenen Hefepilz Candida auris wirkt. Da jedoch die alleinige Identifizierung eines produktiven Cyanobakteriums für weitere Analysen und ein anschließendes scale-up nicht ausreichen, beschäftigte sich der zweite Teil dieser Arbeit mit den Synthesevoraussetzungen für die Verbindung. Dabei konnte eine Stickstofflimitierung als Produktionsauslöser nachgewiesen werden, eine Erkenntnis, die für die Etablierung eines kontinuierlichen Produktionssystems genutzt wurde. Die daraus resultierende höhere Substanzausbeute wurde für anschließende Reinigungs- und Analyseschritte genutzt. In einem zweiten Ansatz wurden durch in silico Analysen identifizierte Bacteriocin-Gencluster aus C. cubana kloniert und heterolog in Escherichia coli exprimiert. Auf diese Weise wurde das Bacteriocin B135CC als stark bakteriolytisches Peptid identifiziert, das vor allem gegen die Gram-positiven Stämme Staphylococcus aureus und Mycobacterium phlei wirkt. B135CC zeigte keine zytotoxische Wirkung gegenüber Maus-Neuroblastom-Zellen (N2a) und eine hohe Temperaturtoleranz bis zu 60 °C. Es wurden außerdem zwei Standardprotokolle entwickelt, die speziell für die Arbeit mit Cyanobakterien angepasst wurden. Zum einen eine Methode zur schnellen und vivo-Vitalitätsmessung einfachen in phototropher Zellen. um aeeianete Kryokonservierungsprotokolle für Cyanobakterien entwickeln zu können, und zum anderen Hochdurchsatzmethode zur Bestimmung Nitratkonzentration eine von in Mikroalgenkulturen. Diese wurde zur Optimierung der Produktionsbedingungen mit C. cubana verwendet. Im Zuge dessen wurde auch die Fähigkeit der Cyanobakterien, organische Kohlenstoffquellen für ein beschleunigtes Zellwachstum zu nutzen, näher untersucht. Es konnte gezeigt werden, dass C. cubana deutlich höhere Wachstumsraten erreicht, wenn es mit Fructose oder Glucose kultiviert wird. Interessanterweise wurde dieser Effekt sogar noch verstärkt, wenn die Lichtintensität verringert wurde. Unter diesen lichtarmen Bedingungen zeigten phototroph kultivierte C. cubana-Zellen dagegen ein

deutlich verringertes Zellwachstum. Dieser Effekt könnte für eine schnelle und wirtschaftliche Anzucht von Vorkulturen genutzt werden.

List of Publications

Peer-reviewed:

M. Witthohn, A. Schwarz, J. Walther, D. Strieth, R. Ulber, K. Muffler (2020a). Novel method enabling a rapid vitality determination of cyanobacteria. Eng Life Sci, 20:580-584.

M. Witthohn, D. Strieth, S. Eggert, S. Kins, R. Ulber, K. Muffler (2021). Heterologous production of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin with potent antibacterial activity. CRBIOT, 3:281-287.

M Witthohn, D Strieth, J Kollmen, A Schwarz, R Ulber, K Muffler (2022). Process Technologies of Cyanobacteria. In: Cyanobacteria in Biotechnology: Applications and Quantitative Perspectives 303-352.

M. Witthohn, A.-K. Schmidt, D. Strieth, R. Ulber, K. Muffler (2022b). A modified method for a fast and economic determination of nitrate concentrations in microalgal cultures. Algal Res, 69:1-13.

M. Witthohn, D. Strieth, R. Ulber, K. Muffler (2023). Continuous production of an antimicrobial metabolite with the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana*. Algal Res, 103193.

Other:

M. Witthohn, A. Schwarz, D. Strieth, S. Lenz, R. Ulber, K. Muffler (2020b). Terrestrische Cyanobakterien als Quelle für antimikrobielle Wirkstoffe, Biospektrum, 07.20, 794-796.

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	IV
Chapter I	1
General Introduction	1
1 Cvanobacteria – facing new problems with old microbes.	
1.1 Aim of the thesis	
1.2 The versatility of the cvanobacterial metabolism	
1.3 Cyanobacteria as a source of antimicrobial compounds	8
2 References	15
Chapter II	21
Process Technologies of Cyanobacteria (Bookchapter)	
1 Introduction	
2 Genome-based Screening for Potential New Bioactive Substances	24
3 Strain Conservation of Cyanobacteria	26
3.1 Cryopreservation of Cyanobacteria	26
3.2 Alternative Conservation Approaches for Cyanobacteria	31
3.2.1 Lyophilisation	31
3.2.2 Immobilization	
3.3 Commonly used Pre-culture Technologies in Algae Biotechnology	
4 Characterization of Cyanobacteria	
4.1 Cell Vitality	
4.1.1 In vivo Growth Fluorometry	
4.1.2 Resazurin Assay	
4.1.3 Vitality Determination by pO ₂ Measurements	
4.1.4 Spectral domain Optical Coherence Tomography (sdOCT) and Pulse Amplitude	modulated
(PAM)-fluorometry	40
4.2 Cell Viability	43
4.2.1 Staining Methods	44
5 Photobioreactors	45
5.1 Closed photobioreactors (PBRs)	45
5.2 Attached (Biofilm) Cultivation of Cyanobacteria	46
5.3 (Partly-)Submerged Biofilm PBRs	54
5.4 Dynamic Systems	54
5.5 Stationary Systems	55
5.6 Air-exposed Biofilm PBRs	56
6 Cultivation Modes of Cyanobacteria	59
7 Conclusion	68
8 References	69
Chapter III	79
Novel method enabling a rapid vitality determination of cyanobacteria	
1 Introduction	80
2 Materials and Methods	81
2.1 Strain cultivation	81
2.2 Cryopreservation	81
2.3 Vitality test setup	82
2.4 Determination of cell vitality	83
2.5 Method comparison	83
3 Results and Discussion	83
3.1 Vitality determination via pO2 measurement	83
3.2 Method validation	84

4 Concluding remarks 5 References	86 86
Chapter IV	87
A modified method for a fast and economic determination of nitrate concentrations in microal	gal cultures
1 Introduction	
2 Materials and methods	
2.1 Determination of nitrate concentration	
2.1.1 Sodium salicylate assay	
2.1.2 Reference assav (Griess assav)	
2.2 Mineral media	
2.3 Cultivation of Svnechococcus elonaatus PCC 6301	
2.4 Statistical analysis	
3 Results and discussion	
3.1 Spectrogram of 5-nitrosalicylic acid	92
3.2 Applicability for standard mineral media	
3.3 Practical application of the assay	
4 Conclusion	
5 References	97
Chapter V	99
Continuous production of an antimicrobial metabolite with the terrestrial cyanobacterium	
Chroococcidiopsis cubana	
1 Introduction	
2 Material and methods	
2.1 Used strains	
2.2 Cultivation and cell harvest	
2.2.1 Cultivation in Bioreactors	
2.3 Inhibition zone test	
2.4 Checkerboard growth inhibition test	
2.5 Nitrate test	
2.6 Purification of the antibiotic substance	
2.7 Temperature stability test	
3 Results and Discussion	105
3.1 Screening for antibiotic substances	105
3.2 Establishment of a continuous production setup	
3.3 Enrichment of the antibiotic substance	
3.4 Putative regulation mechanism and identification of the responsible gene cluster	113
3.5 Process industrialization	115
4 Conclusion	116
5 References	116
Chapter VI	121
Heterologous production of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin with potent antibacterial activity	
1 Introduction	
2 Material and methods	124
2.1 Generation of expression strains	124
2.2 Protein expression	124
2.3 Cell harvest and cell disruption	124
2.4 Protein purification	125
2.5 Bioactivity test	125
2.6 Protein leakage test	125
2.7 Cytotoxicity assay	126
3 Results and Discussion	126
4 Conclusion	133

5 References	133
Chapter VII	
General Discussion & Outlook	
1 Antimicrobial metabolites from Chroococcidipsis cubana	
1.1 Native production of an antimicrobial metabolite	
1.1.1 Identification of the biosynthetic gene cluster	
1.1.2 Identification of the antimicrobial compound	140
1.1.3 Optimization of the production process	140
1.2 Heterologous production of an antimicrobial metabolite	142
2 Summary and Conclusion	145
3 References	147
A Supplemental Material	149
A1 Betreute Arbeiten	
A2 Tagungsbeiträge	
A3 Lebenslauf	

List of Abbreviations

aa	Amino acid
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ABR	Algal biofilm reactor
antiSMASH	Antibiotics and Secondary Metabolite Analysis Shell
ASN	Artificial seawater nutrients
AT	Acetyltransferase
ATP	Adenosintriphosphat
ATS	Algal turf scrubber
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BAGEL	BActeriocin GEnome Mining tooL
BBM	Bold's basal medium
BG	Blue-green algae
BGC	Bioactive gene clusters
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
BMPBR	Biofilm membrane PBR
CBB cycle	Calvin-Benson-Basham cycle
CDM (CDW)	Cell dry mass (Cell dry weight)
CPBR	Capillary-driven PBR
CTC	5- Cyano-2,3-Ditolyl Tetrazolium Chloride
CWW	Cell wet weight
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2- phenylindole
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DMT	Drug metabolite transporter
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
CPA	Cryoprotective agent
ED pathway	Entner-Doudoroff pathway
EMP pathway	Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas pathway
ePBR	Emerse PBR
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substances
Ev	Illuminance
FBR	Fixed-bed biofilm reactor
FDA	Fluorescein diacetate
FPLC	Fast protein liquid chromatography
GABA	γ-aminobutyrate

GAP	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate
GBL	γ-butyrolactone
gDNA	Genomic DNA
HDPE	High-density polyethylene
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HFP	Horizontal flat panel
Hik	Histidine kinase
HTS	High-Throughput-Screening
INT	2-(4-lodo-phenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-phenyltetrazolium chloride
ISE	Ion-selective electrodes
KS	Ketosynthase
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry
LDH	Lactate Dehydrogenase
MeOH	Methanol
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentration
MLPR	Multi-layered photobioreactor
MS	Mass spectrometry
MSSePBR	Multi-skin sheet emerse PBR
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NHLP	Nitrile hydratase leader peptide
NMR spectroscopy	Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy
NRPS	Non-ribosomal peptide synthase
OD	Optical density
OGDC	2-oxoglutarate decarboxylase
OPP pathway	Oxidative Pentose Phosphate pathway
P(3HB-co-3HV)	Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate)
PAM-fluorometry	Pulse amplitude modulated fluorometry
PBR	Photobioreactor
PHB	Polyhydroxybutyrate
PCP	Peptidyl carrier protein
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PK pathway	Phosphoketolase pathway
PKS	Polyketide synthase
PPAL	Parallel plate air lift
PPT	4'-phosphopantetheine
PRPC	Photorotating biological contactor

PSBR	Porous substrate bioreactors
RAB	Revolving algal biofilm
RBC	Rotating biological contactor
RFP	Rotating flat plate
RiPP	Ribosomally synthetized and post-translationally modified
	peptides
RPC	Reversed phase chromatography
rpm	Rounds per minute
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase PCR
sdOCT	Spectral domain optical coherence tomography
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TAR	Transformation assisted recombination
TCA cycle	Tricarboxylic acid cycle
TCP	total cell protein
TE	Thioesterase
ТОММ	thiazole/oxazole-modified microcin
TR	Transcriptional regulator
UV	Ultraviolet

Chapter I

General Introduction

1 Cyanobacteria – facing new problems with old microbes

Cyanobacteria are among the oldest organisms on our planet, according to fossil records they developed about 3.5 billion years ago [1]. As oxygenic, phototrophic organisms, they have made a major contribution to the formation of the earth's oxygen-rich atmosphere. Thus, cyanobacteria can be seen as the trigger for this far-reaching evolutionary process. These microorganisms are highly adaptable and robust bacteria, found in almost all inhabitable areas on earth. Strains were isolated from salt and fresh water, deserts, glaciers, and hot springs [2]. As a result of these adaptations, cyanobacteria produce a variety of high-value substances with enormous commercial potential. Cyanobacteria, unlike plants, can also use light at wavelengths of 490-620 nanometers for photosynthesis. Special chromophores, the phycobilins, have evolved for this purpose [3]. Various carotenoids also contribute to the extension of the usable light spectrum in cyanobacteria. Both substance classes were successfully established in food industries for some time [4]. Concomitantly, a diverse array of metabolic pathways developed, resulting in a large abundance of different energy storage compounds. Among these are mainly long-chain unsaturated fatty acids, such as gamma-linolenic acid, arachidonic acid or docosahexaenoic acid, which are a health-promoting food additive, mostly used in form of dried cell mass [5]. Furthermore, cyanobacteria produce a variety of biotechnologically relevant substances, such as lipids (e.g., linoleic and α -linolenic acid [6], polysaccharides (especially extracellular polysaccharides [7]), essential amino acids [8], vitamins (e.g., vitamin B12 [9]) and enzymes as proteases, cellulases and amylases [8]. Among the natural substances produced by cyanobacteria are often toxins, as is known from the annual "cyanobacterial blooms" in local swimming lakes. Anatoxin A, produced by Anabaena, and microcystins, produced by *Microcystis*, are among the most potent naturally occurring toxins and can also cause severe health damage in humans [10, 11]. Much more beneficial are the numerous cyanobacterial secondary metabolites, which were shown to have antimicrobial or antitumor effects [12]. The diversity of the different substance classes is particularly interesting. These range from peptides, polyketides, alkaloids, and isoprenoids to antiviral polysaccharides [13]. So far, mainly aquatic cyanobacteria were described as a rich source of bioactive natural compounds. However, terrestrial cyanobacteria also produce many medically and biotechnologically interesting substances. Within the orders Chroococcales, Oscillatoriales, Pseudoanabaenales and Nostocales, both aquatic and terrestrial cyanobacteria occur [14]. Besides the Pseudoanabeanales, these orders include the main producers of bioactive secondary metabolites in the cyanobacterial kingdom [5]. Among them are mainly toxines, antiviral, antifungal, and antibacterial substances, but also substances with proven activity against cancer cells, higher plants and algae [13]. In addition to a broad spectrum of potentially interesting bioactive secondary metabolites, terrestrial cyanobacteria have several biotechnological advantages over aquatic species. Despite their natural life on land, most terrestrial cyanobacteria can be cultivated submersely in (photo-) bioreactors. They show a high tolerance towards fluctuating cultivation conditions, such as temperature, light input, and gassing [14]. These organisms can even survive complete desiccation without damage, which opens completely new possibilities in the field of bioreactor technology [15]. Terrestrial cyanobacteria are thus on the one hand a promising source of yet unknown bioactive substances and on the other hand possess unique physiological properties that make them highly interesting for biotechnological processes [14].

1.1 Aim of the thesis

The constant and increasing menace from bacterial pathogens resistant to common antibiotics, caused by excessive prescription of these compounds, as well as misuse in the agricultural area [16], is a serious global concern. Especially the so-called "ESKAPE" strains, consisting of *Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Klebsiella* pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Enterobacter species, are clinically most important pathogens, frequently evolving multidrug-resistances. Since these bacteria tend to spread mobile genetic elements harboring antibiotic resistance conferring genes, the development of novel pharmaceutics with high efficacy is an urgent necessity [17]. The aim of this thesis was to participate in facing the emerging threat of multi-resistant pathogens by further exploring the diversity of cyanobacterial bioactive metabolites. After an initial screening and the identification of an antibiotic-producing cyanobacterium, the focus should be on the implementation of a reliable production process, for which the synthesis mechanism had to be elucidated. The results of this approach were addressed in chapter V. In the course of the experiments the establishment of a quick and reliable nitrate determination method became necessary; this topic is covered in chapter IV. Next to this, a genetic engineering approach should be tested, which included the in silico identification of potential biosynthetic gene clusters in the genomic sequence of a productive cyanobacterium, followed by a heterologous production in a suitable heterotrophic expression strain (chapter VI). Because common cryoconservation protocols are not suitable for every cyanobacterial strain, methods for a reliable conservation of the identified producers of interesting compounds should be established. A developed method dealing with this topic is described in **chapter III**.

1.2 The versatility of the cyanobacterial metabolism

The huge advantage of cyanobacteria over solely heterotrophic microorganisms is their ability to produce a vast array of industrially relevant compounds by using light and CO_2 , with only O_2 as "waste material". As the big challenges of our time mainly consist of climate

change, caused by CO₂ and methane release to the atmosphere, and the reckless exploitation of non-renewable resources, this evolutionary achievement may present a key element of the way out. Although the commercial exploitation of microalgae (procaryotic and eucaryotic) is still largely expandable, several industrial branches already count on the versatility of these microorganisms. In case of cyanobacteria, particularly halotolerant Arthrospira platensis (often referred to as Spirulina) serves as a production strain [18] with an estimated annual global production of about 15,000 t dry mass [19]. The raw, dried biomass is mostly used as food supplement because of its high nutritional value, or as skin care product in cosmetics. Extracted phycocyanin, of which approximately 200 t is produced every year [19], is used as a food colorant or nutraceutical with (suggested) healthpromoting effects [20]. Cyanobacteria are also genetically engineered to produce ethanol on an industrial scale; the American company Algenol (Bonita Springs, FL, USA) built a production plant with a proposed productivity of >60,000 L ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, using different genetically optimized cyanobacterial isolates (mostly Synechocystis sp. or Synechococcus sp.) [21]. However, today Algenol focusses its main business on the production of microalgae biomass for healthcare concerns. Although the heterologous expression of Zymomonas mobilis genes, respectively coding for a pyruvate decarboxylase and an alcohol dehydrogenase, is mainly used to synthesize ethanol with cyanobacteria, some strains are also naturally capable of its production [22]. By exposing Spirulina maxima to a NaCl concentration of 1.24 M, during dark anaerobic metabolism, the ethanol yield could be increased 121-fold to 34.5 mg/g dry weight [23]. Although, the involved metabolic pathways and their regulation has not been fully elucidated, it was postulated that the conversion of acetaldehyde to ethanol is catalyzed by two identified bifunctional aldehyde alcohol dehydrogenases [23]. Next to ethanol, which was the first commercialized biofuel product (additive or substitute) [24], also biodiesel can be produced using microalgae. Since cyanobacteria do not naturally accumulate free fatty acids, mostly oleaginous, eucaryotic microalgae are used to produce "third-generation" biofuel, as they accumulate triacylglycerols (TAG) as reserve molecules. In 2020 a global market value of 5,022 billion USD was estimated for algal biofuel, which is predicted to increase to 9.033 billion USD in 2027 [25]. By culture medium adaptations like limitation of the nitrogen source or by exposing the cells to salt stress, the cellular lipid concentration can increase up to 80 % of the total dry weight [20]. However, cyanobacteria possess carbon-concentrating mechanisms and show a high photosynthetic efficiency of up to 10 %, which is two-fold the efficacy of eucaryotic microalgae [26]. Additionally, they possess an effective biosynthetic lipid metabolism, granted by their metabolic plasticity. In combination with the Calvin-Benson-Basham (CBB) cycle, the recently discovered phosphoketolase pathway enables a more efficient acetyl-CoA biosynthesis by reducing the substrate consumption of CO₂ and

ATP [27, 28]. As cyanobacteria are also much more accessible for metabolic engineering than eucaryotic microalgae [29], they are supposed to present the most suitable platform for future biofuel production approaches [30]. By heterologous expression of codonoptimized thioesterase genes and deletion of several cell wall stabilizing genes in the model strain Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, a direct secretion of 197 \pm 14 mg L⁻¹ free fatty acids could already be achieved [31]. As mentioned before, unlike eucaryotic microalgae, cyanobacteria do not form TAGs as energy storage compounds. However, when stressed by nutrient limitation (e.g., nitrogen, phosphate, or potassium [32]), most studied cyanobacteria produce polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) from catabolized glycogen storage [33]. Interestingly, this possible substitute for petroleum-based plastics is not formed as an energy and carbon storage [34], which is the case for most heterotrophic bacteria [35]. The precise physiological function is still not elucidated, a possible role as a temporary electron sink was proposed [34]. Outgoing from glucose monomers, which are catabolized mainly via the Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas pathway, PHB is formed by the condensation of two molecules acetyl-CoA, the subsequent reduction of the formed acetoacetyl-CoA to 3hydroxybutyryl-CoA and a final polymerization step to PHB. The key enzymes involved in this process are the β -ketothiolase PhaA, the acetoacetyl-CoA reductase PhaB [36] and the two-subunit polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase PhaEC [37]. Cyanobacteria have not yet been used for large scale productions of PHB, but they remain the most sustainable solution. However, slow growth rates and, in comparison to heterotrophic producer strains as Cupriavidus necator, low cellular PHB contents still are the main drawbacks. While C. necator cell dry weight (cdw) can consist of up to 80 % PHB [38], cyanobacteria typically only reach about 10 - 20 % [39]. Consequently, a general metabolic engineering approach comprises the heterologous expression of the PHB synthesis genes phaABC from C. necator in fast growing cyanobacteria strains as Synechococcus elongatus UTEX 2973. By this, the cellular PHB content could be increased 2.4-fold to 16.7 % of cdw, in comparison to the natural producer strain Synechocystis PCC 6803 [40]. However, the highest reached specific productivity of 75.2 mg L⁻¹ d⁻¹ is still comparably low.

The stated examples provide an insight into the remarkable versatility of cyanobacterial carbon and energy metabolism, which enables the direct synthesis of various biotechnologically relevant products and offers diverse entry points for metabolic engineering approaches. Next to the CO₂ fixation process through the Calvin-Benson-Bassham cycle, in combination with the photorespiration pathway, cyanobacteria also possess all known glycolytic pathways to catabolize organic carbon sources. In the conversion process of glucose to the key-intermediate acetyl-CoA, the Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas (EMP) pathway, the Entner-Doudoroff (ED) pathway, the oxidative pentose phosphate (OPP) pathway and the phosphoketolase pathway are involved [28] (**Fig. 1**).

5



Fig. 1 Glycolytic pathways in cyanobacteria. Glucose is catabolized via the Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas (EMP) pathway, the Entner-Doudoroff (ED) pathway, the oxidative pentose phosphate (OPP) pathway and the phosphoketolase (PK) pathway. The resulting acetyl-CoA can be further converted to *e.g.* PHB or ethanol (in some strains). Modified according to [28].

The availability of various glycolytic pathways enables cyanobacteria to directly respond to changing environmental conditions, since all pathways differ in effectivity regarding produced ATP and NAD(P)H, ranging from 1 to 2.33 and 0 to 5.33, respectively [28]. So,

for example, under conditions of a limited availability of organic carbon sources, merely the ED pathway is used, as it needs 3.5-fold less catalytic enzymes for the generation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate (GAP) from glucose. In this case, the nutrient limitation has a stronger impact than the total ATP outcome, as the EMP pathway is generally more effective than the ED pathway [41]. Eventually all glycolytic routes result into the formation of acetyl-CoA, which is the key substrate for the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (**Fig. 2**).



Fig. 2 Tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle in cyanobacteria. As it lacks a 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex, succinate can be generated via the 2-oxoglutarate decarboxylase (OGDC) shunt, the γ -aminobutyrate (GABA) shunt or the glyoxylate shunt.

Because of the lack of a functional 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex, a long time the TCA cycle was considered to be incomplete in cyanobacteria [42]. However, in these bacteria a much more flexible solution developed. Instead of the conversion of α -ketoglutarate (AKG) to succinyl-CoA, followed by an oxidation to succinate, AKG can either be decarboxylated and dehydrogenated to succinate, with succinyl semialdehyde as an intermediate (2-oxoglutarate decarboxylase (OGDC) shunt [43]), or aminated to glutamate and further decarboxylated to γ -aminobutyrate (GABA), which gets deaminated to succinyl semialdehyde (GABA-shunt) [44]. A third pathway, the glyoxylate shunt, originates from isocitrate which is split to succinate and glyoxylate; by addition of acetyl-CoA, the latter compound is converted to malate and reenters the cycle [45]. These TCA

cycle variants allow several metabolic advantages, such as the maintenance of pH homoeostasis by the proton-consuming decarboxylation reaction of glutamate to GABA [46], the utilization of acetate as an additional source for carbon and energy by the glyoxylate shunt [45] and the strong lead to succinate, which serves as the electron donor for oxidative phosphorylation [47]. Consequently, cyanobacteria can quickly respond to changes in energy provision caused by different light intensities or the availability of organic carbon sources.

The unique adaptability of cyanobacteria is the result of constant evolutionary processes, which started about 3.5 billion years ago. Till then, these organisms were able to survive all climatic changes and to prevail all possible habitats. But for a prolonged existence in such a broad spectrum of life, the development of effective defense mechanisms against many types of competitors seems to be inevitable. And indeed, cyanobacteria are a profound source of structurally very diverse antibiotic substances, of which many are still to be discovered and characterized.

1.3 Cyanobacteria as a source of antimicrobial compounds

As previously mentioned, cyanobacteria are a huge and long-known but and nearly untapped source of bioactive metabolites with antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal and antitumoral effects. The group of cyanobacterial antibacterial compounds comprises a huge variety of chemical classes, among these are primarily peptides [48], terpenes [49] and alkaloids [50], but also depsipeptides [51], macrolides/lactones [52], lipopeptides [53], lipids [54] and polyketides [55]. The majority of the identified antibacterial compounds also possesses further bioactive characteristics, especially general cytotoxicity [13]. So, no general rule can be determined linking a specific chemical class to antibiotic activity in cyanobacteria. However, together with depsipeptide and lipopeptide classes, peptides represent 51 % of altogether 260 metabolite families compiled by Demay et al. (2019) [13]. A reason for this may be that cyanobacteria have evolved multiple ways for the synthesis of peptidic biomolecules. Next to the "classic" ribosomal peptide biosynthesis, whose products can additionally be post-translationally modified (RiPPs), also pathways involving non-ribosomal peptide synthases (NRPS) or a combination of NRPS and polyketide synthases (PKS) are used for the generation of bioactive molecules [56].

The precursor peptides of RiPPs are initially ribosomally synthetized and consist of a leader peptide and one or more core peptides, which can be separated by non-functional regions flanking the core peptide(s) [57] (**Fig. 3**). The leader peptide is recognized by maturation enzymes, which perform several post-translational modifications on the core peptide. The leader peptide normally undergoes a proteolytic cleavage in this process. Commonly catalyzed reactions are e.g. dehydration, cyclization, oxidation and methylation [57]. As an

8

example, cyanobactins first undergo a heterocyclization process, where the amino acids (aa) serine and threonine are converted to their respective oxazoline variant, while cystein is modified to thiazoline [58]. These alterations are followed by a macrocyclization process leading to a cyclic molecule structure. A prominent example for cyanobactins are Patellamide A and C, which were first identified in *Prochloron didemni*, a cyanobacterial symbiont of the ascidian *Lissoclinum patella* [59].



Fig. 3 Typical gene cluster encoding the RiPP precursor protein and maturation/transporter proteins. **Red**, optional aa sequence; **blue**, minimal necessary aa sequence. After the precursor peptide is ribosomally synthesized, the core peptide is surrounded by non-functional regions, followed by an N-terminal leader peptide. In some RiPPs, a C-terminal follower peptide is used instead of a leader peptide. In the maturation process, this part is removed by proteolytic cleavage, and the core peptide is post-translationally modified by several maturation enzymes enabling its bioactivity. Signal regions are used in some RiPPs for the targeted transport to the destination site within the cell, prior to the activation. The protein product of the encoded transporter adjacent to the precursor gene is responsible for the transport of the maturated RiPP over the cell membrane. Modified according to [57, 60].

Of the identified Patellamides (A-G), several compounds were shown to possess cytotoxic or multidrug reversing activity [61]. Next to the cyanobactins, also RiPPs that belong to the classes of bacteriocins and microviridins are produced by cyanobacteria [62]. Members of the first one are known for their antimicrobial activity and often contain the non-proteinogenic amino acids lanthionine and methyl-lanthionine and are therefore called lanthipeptides or lantibiotics, in case of possessing an antibiotic activity. Bacteriocins can be identified by a double-glycine motif within the leader peptide sequence, that is

recognized and cleaved by a C39 peptidase domain, being part of an ABC transporter [63]. Although bacteriocins are mostly known to be produced by Gram-positive bacteria, especially by lactic acid bacteria [64], the advances of *in silico* screening methods allowed to also identify members of this family in Gram-negative bacteria, including cyanobacteria [65]. The family of microviridins, N-acetylated tri-and tetra-decapeptides (depsipeptides), often act as (serine) protease inhibitors, and could be used for the treatment of metabolic disorders. Microviridins are relatively large oligopeptides and consist of 12 to 20 amino acids [66]. They were first discovered in and extracted from the cyanobacteria. Microviridins can be identified by a conserved N-terminal leader motif within the leader peptide and another conserved amino acid sequence in the core peptide [57].

As already mentioned before, cyanobacterial secondary metabolites can also be synthesized via NRPS-, PKS-, or PKS-NRPS hybrid-pathways, large multienzyme complexes which process and modify precursor peptides to one bioactive molecule [67, 68] (**Fig. 4**).



Fig. 4 Enzymatic domains and general process of non-ribosomal peptide and polyketide synthesis by NRPS (**A**) and PKS (**B**) modules. **Red**, optional domains; **blue**, necessary domains. A, Adenylation domain; ACP, Acyl carrier protein; AT, Acyltransferase; C, Condensation domain; DH, Dehydratase; E, Epimerase; ER, Enoyl reductase; KR, Ketoreductase; KS, Ketosynthase; MT, Methyltransferase; PCP, Peptidyl carrier protein; PPT, 4'phosphopantetheinyl transferase; TE, Thioesterase. Modified according to [60].

NRPS consist of different enzymatic modules, each adding an aa to the growing peptide chain. In contrast to ribosomal peptide synthesis, the substrates for chain elongation can either be proteinogenic or non-proteinogenic aas, so huge varieties are possible as about 300 different substrates can be used [69]. Module I, the initiation module, consists of an

adenylation domain (A) that activates the aa substrate by reaction with ATP, a thiolation domain or peptidyl carrier protein domain (PCP) forming an aminoacyl thioester, and a condensation domain (C) which catalyzes the formation of thioester bonds between the thioester intermediates [70]. Before this process, the C domain must be primed by addition of a 4'-phosphopantetheine (PPT) moiety to a conserved serine residue. This essential step is performed by a 4'phosphopantetheinyl transferase [70, 71]. Adjacent elongation modules (M2) add further substrates to the peptide chain, following the same principle. As every module only adds one aa, large NRPS-derived biomolecules require NRPS-cluster with multiple modules. The terminal module possesses a thioesterase domain, which releases the full-length molecule by hydrolysis or cyclisation. Further (optional) modifications can be catalyzed by e.g. ketoreductases, methyltransferases or epimerases [70]. Most cyanobacterial NRPS-pathways also incorporate PKS-modules for product synthesis. One of the molecules which is only NRPS-derived is nostocyclopeptide from terrestrial Nostoc sp. strains [72]. A more recently identified variant, nostocyclopeptide M1 from Nostoc sp. XSPORK 13A (Fig. 5), acts as a potent antitoxin against the hepatotoxins microcystin and nodularin, by inhibiting drug transporters [73, 74].



Fig. 5 Molecule structure of the NRPS-derived Nostocyclopeptide M1 from *Nostoc* sp. The premature peptide undergoes a macrocyclization through the formation of an imino bond between the N- and C-terminal tyrosines [60]. The individual aa domains are differently colored for a better distinction. Modified according to [74].

Although nonribosomal peptides and polyketides are completely different molecule families, the biosynthetic process of PKS shows many similarities to the one of NRPS [75] (**Fig. 4**). Just as the PCP-module of NRPS-clusters, the acyl carrier protein of the PKS loading module is activated by transfer of a phosphopantetheinyl-group, catalyzed by a PPTase. A

ketosynthase (KS) catalyzes a condensation reaction to combine the PK-chain with an α-carboxyacyl-extender unit, resulting from an acyltransferase (AT) mediated transacylation of an acyl-CoA-ester (mostly malonyl-CoA) [75, 76]. The polyketide is then elongated by further modules, consisting of the same three domain-components. Additional modifications can be performed by e.g. ketoreductases, dehydratases or enoyl reductases. As in NRPS, the synthesis process is as well completed by hydrolysis or macrocyclization catalyzed by a thioesterase (TE) domain [76]. The alkaloid and potent neurotoxin anatoxin-a from *Oscillatoria* sp. is an example for a solely PKS-derived cyanobacterial bioactive molecule [77], while also NRPS/PKS hybrid-pathways are frequently used for the production of nonribosomal peptides in cyanobacteria. By PKS-mediated addition of polyketides or fatty acid side chains to NRPS-derived peptides, a much greater diversity can be achieved. Examples are the highly toxic compounds nodularin from *Nodularia spumigena*, or microcystin from *Microcystis aeruginosa* [56].

Through the revelation of biosynthetic mechanisms and great advances in genomic and proteomic methods, more and more bioactive secondary metabolites of potential clinical relevance are identified in cyanobacteria (Fig. 6A). However, due to slow growth rates and the need of photobioreactors for cultivation, the huge majority of these substances is not considered for further pharmaceutical use [75]. Moreover, many strain isolates are not yet cultivatable or biosynthetic gene clusters are silent and don't get expressed [78]. An alternative for the direct cultivation of cyanobacteria for secondary metabolite production is the use of synthetic approaches. Until now, several NRPS and PKS cluster, as well as smaller bacteriocin encoding genes, could successfully be expressed heterologously in heterotrophic bacteria or fungi, leading to functional products. The main requirement for this approach is the availability of the respective DNA-material, which is increasingly granted by the growing number of sequenced genomes: in 2021, about 950 different cyanobacterial gDNA sequences were available [79]. As heterologous hosts, primarily standard E. coli expression strains were used [59, 80], but also Gram-positive Streptomyces strains [81], the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae [82], and even genetically amenable and fast-growing cyanobacteria as Anabaena sp. [83], Synechocystis sp. [84] and Synechococcus sp. [85] were successfully used. Smaller RiPPs, such as microviridins, can be cloned by direct PCRamplification and subsequent ligation with a respectively digested expression vector (Fig. 6B). For larger gene clusters, e.g. direct pathway cloning can be applied, which relies on long-amplicon PCR of the biosynthetic genes (whole or partly), followed by HiFi assembly with the target plasmid, harboring complement 5'- and 3'-terminal DNA sequences, from which an exonuclease cleaves the 5' ends and creates annealable 3' overhangs. (Fig. 6D) [78, 86]. By this approach, the first heterologous production of an NRPS-derived anabaenopeptin from Nostoc punctiforme was done in E. coli, which achieved an >100-fold

product yield, compared to the native synthesis [86]. For large gene clusters, vectors as fosmids, cosmids (about 40-45 kilobase pairs, kb) or bacterial artificial chromosomes (BACs; about 200 kb) can be used [78].



Fig. 6 Bottom-up approach for the identification of biosynthetic gene clusters from cyanobacteria (**A**) and subsequent cloning mechanisms for heterologous product synthesis (**B-E**). **A**, a culturable cyanobacterial strain produces a bioactive substance of unknown identity. For the identification of the associated biosynthetic gene cluster, information gained from bioactivity assays and data from e.g., mass spectrometry (MS)/ nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) analysis, can be used. Together with strain information and gDNA sequences, *in silico* analysis tools can lead to the identification of biosynthetic gene clusters. **B**, direct ligation of amplified gene cluster and vector. **C**, genomic library cloning approach, digestion of gDNA and ligation with vector. **D**, PCR amplification of gene cluster and vector, followed by HiFi assembly through homologous 5'- and 3'-overhangs. **E**, transformation assisted recombination (TAR) in yeast cells, which possess a strong recombination machinery.

For the previously introduced patellamides from P. didemni, a heterologous production was mandatory, as the symbiotic cyanobacterium cannot be cultured under laboratory conditions. Patellamides A, C were cloned by genomic library-based cloning using fosmids as expression vector (Fig 6C) [59], D by shotgun cloning, succeeded by ligation with a BAC [87]. All three molecules were verifiably produced with E. coli. Particularly large gene clusters of up to 300 kb can be cloned using the transformation-associated recombination (TAR) approach, which uses the strong recombination machinery of yeast cells [88]. The cells are transformed with a linearized TAR cloning vector and one or several PCR products; sequences which shall be ligated, must possess homologous 5'- and 3'-overhangs. Through homologous recombination, the DNA fragments are assembled with the cloning vector, forming a circular BAC, which can be isolated from the yeast cells and brought into the bacterial target strain [88]. This approach was e.g. used to express the 28.7 kb NRPS/PKS cryptomaldamide gene cluster, natively from Moorea producens, heterologously in S. elongatus PCC 7942 and Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 [89]. With the latter strain, a high-titer production of cryptomalamide was achieved, yielding a concentration of about 26 mg/L [89]. The heterologous production of a cyanobacterial metabolite with antibiotic effects was done in the course of this thesis (see chapter VI), apart from that, an improved production of cyanobacterial substances with antibiotic effects, by using heterologous hosts, does not seem to be in the focus of current research. However, the cloning techniques, even for very large gene clusters, were shown to result in functional, bioactive products. Together with improving in silico tools for genome mining approaches, as e.g., antiSMASH (Antibiotics and Secondary Metabolite Analysis Shell) [90], and with regard to the menace of multiresistant pathogens, it will only be a question of time when cyanobacteria and the variety of their synthetized antibiotic metabolites come to the fore. These phototrophic organisms can be a great chance for an emission free and climate friendly production of diverse bioactive compounds, which again leads to the beginning of this chapter and the fascinatingly flexible carbon- and energy metabolisms. The possibilities of mixotrophic cultivation approaches have not yet been fully exploited, but have already shown promising results, not only for the production of various primary, but also bioactive secondary metabolites [91].

2 References

- 1. Farrokh P, Sheikhpour M, Kasaeian A, et al (2019) Cyanobacteria as an eco-friendly resource for biofuel production: A critical review. Biotechnol Prog 35:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2835
- 2. Büdel B (2011a) Cyanobacteria: habitats and species. In: Lüttge U, Beck E, Bartels D (eds) Plant desiccation tolerance. Springer, Heidelberg, 11–21.
- 3. Kadish KM, Smith KM, Guilard R (2016). Eds., Handbook of Porphyrin Science (Volumes 41, 42, 43, 44): With Applications to Chemistry, Physics, Materials Science, Engineering, Biology and Medicine, World Scientific, Singapore Hackensack, London.
- 4. Borowitzka MA (1995) Microalgae as sources of pharmaceuticals and other biologically active compounds. J Appl Phycol 7:3–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00003544
- 5. Burja AM, Banaigs B, Abou-mansour E, et al (2007) Marine cyanobacteria a prolific source of natural products. Tetrahedron Lett 57:9347–9377
- 6. Kaiwan-arporn P, Hai PD, Thu NT, et al (2012). Cultivation of cyanobacteria for extraction of lipids. Biomass Bioenergy, 44:142–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.04.017
- 7. Rossi F, & De Philippis R (2016). Exocellular polysaccharides in microalgae and cyanobacteria: chemical features, role and enzymes and genes involved in their biosynthesis. The physiology of microalgae, 565-590.
- 8. Brasil B dos SAF, de Siqueira FG, Salum TFC, et al (2017). Microalgae and cyanobacteria as enzyme biofactories. Algal Res, 25:76–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.04.035
- 9. Bonnet S, Webb EA, Panzeca C, et al (2010). Vitamin B12 excretion by cultures of the marine cyanobacteria *Crocosphaera* and *Synechococcus*. Limnol Oceanogr, 55:1959–1964. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.5.1959
- 10. Christensen VG, & Khan E (2020). Freshwater neurotoxins and concerns for human, animal, and ecosystem health: A review of anatoxin-a and saxitoxin. Sci Total Environ, 736:139515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139515
- 11. Pearson L, Mihali T, Moffitt M, et al (2010). On the chemistry, toxicology and genetics cvanobacterial toxins, nodularin, of the microcystin, saxitoxin and cylindrospermopsin. In Marine Drugs (Vol. Issue 5). 8, https://doi.org/10.3390/md8051650
- 12. Silva-Stenico ME, Kaneno R, Zambuzi, et al (2013). Natural Products from Cyanobacteria with Antimicrobial and Antitumor Activity. Curr Pharm Biotechnol, 14:820–828.
- 13. Demay J, Bernard C, Reinhardt A, Marie B (2019) Natural Products from Cyanobacteria: Focus on Beneficial Activities. Mar Drugs 17:1–49. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/md17060320
- 14. Lakatos M, Strieth D (2018) Terrestrial Microalgae: Novel Concepts for Biotechnology and Applications. In: Cánovas FM, Lüttge U, Matyssek R (eds) Progress in Botany Vol. 79. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 269–312
- 15. Muffler K, Lakatos M, Schlegel C, et al (2014) Application of Biofilm Bioreactors in White Biotechnology. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 123:127–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/10
- 16. Weist K, Diaz Högberg L (2014) ECDC publishes 2013 surveillance data on antimicrobial resistance and antimicrobial consumption in Europe. Eurosurveillance 19:1. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014.19.46.20962
- 17. Giedraitiene A, Vitkauskiene A, Naginiene R, et al (2011) Antibiotic resistance mechanisms of clinically important bacteria. Medicina (B Aires) 47:137–146. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina47030019

- 18. Mazard S, Penesyan A, Ostrowski M, et al (2016) Tiny microbes with a big impact: The role of cyanobacteria and their metabolites in shaping our future. Mar Drugs 14:97. https://doi.org/10.3390/md14050097
- 19. Fernández FGA, Reis A, Wijffels RH, et al (2021) The role of microalgae in the bioeconomy. N Biotechnol 61:99–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2020.11.011
- 20. Hachicha R, Elleuch F, Hlima H Ben, et al (2022) Biomolecules from Microalgae and Cyanobacteria: Applications and Market Survey. Appl Sci 12:1924. https://doi.org/10.3390/app12041924
- 21. de Farias Silva CE, Bertucco A (2016) Bioethanol from microalgae and cyanobacteria: A review and technological outlook. Process Biochem 51:1833–1842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.02.016
- 22. Yadav AN, Rastegari AA, Yadav N, Gaur R (2020) Biofuels Production Sustainability and Advances in Microbial Bioresources. Springer, Cham.
- 23. Carrieri D, Momot D, Brasg IA, et al (2010) Boosting autofermentation rates and product yields with sodium stress cycling: Application to production of renewable fuels by cyanobacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:6455–6462. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00975-10
- 24. Agarwal AK (2007) Biofuels (alcohols and biodiesel) applications as fuels for internal combustion engines. Prog Energy Combust Sci 33:233–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2006.08.003
- 25. Sathya AB, Thirunavukkarasu A, Nithya R, et al (2023) Microalgal biofuel production: Potential challenges and prospective research. Fuel 332:126199. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.126199
- 26. Parmar A, Singh NK, Pandey A, et al (2011) Cyanobacteria and microalgae: A positive prospect for biofuels. Bioresour Technol 102:10163–10172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.08.030
- 27. Xiong W, Lee TC, Rommelfanger S, et al (2015) Phosphoketolase pathway contributes to carbon metabolism in cyanobacteria. Nat Plants 1:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.187
- 28. Xiong W, Cano M, Wang B, et al (2017) The plasticity of cyanobacterial carbon metabolism. Curr Opin Chem Biol 41:12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2017.09.004
- 29. Rosenberg JN, Oyler GA, Wilkinson L, Betenbaugh MJ (2008) A green light for engineered algae: redirecting metabolism to fuel a biotechnology revolution. Curr Opin Biotechnol 19:430–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2008.07.008
- Hudson EP (2021) Synthetic biology in cyanobacteria and applications for biotechnology. In J. Nielsen, S. Lee, G. Stephanopoulos, & P. Hudson (Eds.), Cyanobacteria Biotechnology (pp.123–170). WILEY-VCH. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527824908.ch5
- 31. Liu X, Sheng J, Curtiss R (2011) Fatty acid production in genetically modified cyanobacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:6899–6904. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103014108
- 32. Hauf W, Schlebusch M, Hüge J, et al (2013) Metabolic changes in *Synechocystis* PCC6803 upon nitrogen-starvation: Excess NADPH sustains polyhydroxybutyrate accumulation. Metabolites 3:101–118. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo3010101
- 33. Ansari S, Fatma T (2016) Cyanobacterial polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB): Screening, optimization and characterization. PLoS One 11:1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158168
- 34. Damrow R, Maldener I, Zilliges Y (2016) The multiple functions of common microbial carbon polymers, glycogen and PHB, during stress responses in the non-diazotrophic cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Front Microbiol 7:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00966
- 35. Jendrossek D (2009) Polyhydroxyalkanoate granules are complex subcellular organelles (carbonosomes). J Bacteriol 191:3195–3202. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01723-08

- 36. Taroncher-Oldenburg G, Nishina K, Stephanopoulos G (2000) Identification and analysis of the polyhydroxyalkanoate-specific β-ketothiolase and acetoacetyl coenzyme a reductase genes in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4440–4448. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.10.4440-4448.2000
- 37. Hein S, Tran H, Steinbüchel A (1998) *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 possesses a twocomponent polyhydroxyalkanoic acid synthase similar to that of anoxygenic purple sulfur bacteria. Arch Microbiol 170:162–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002030050629
- 38. Anderson AJ, Dawes EA (1990) Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates. Microbiol Rev 54:450–472. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.54.4.450-472.1990
- Kamravamanesh D, Lackner M, Herwig C (2018) Bioprocess engineering aspects of sustainable polyhydroxyalkanoate production in cyanobacteria. Bioengineering 5:1– 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOENGINEERING5040111
- Roh H, Lee JS, Choi H il, et al (2021) Improved CO₂-derived polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) production by engineering fast-growing cyanobacterium *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 for potential utilization of flue gas. Bioresour Technol 327:124789. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.124789
- 41. Chen X, Schreiber K, Appel J, et al (2016) The Entner-Doudoroff pathway is an overlooked glycolytic route in cyanobacteria and plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:5441–5446. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521916113
- 42. Pearce, J., Leach, C.K., Carr NG (1965) The Incomplete Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle in the Blue-green Alga. J Gen Microbiol 55:371–378
- 43. Zhang S, Bryant DA (2011) The tricarboxylic acid cycle in cyanobacteria. Science (1979) 334:1551–1553. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210858
- Xiong W, Brune D, Vermaas WFJ (2014) The γ-aminobutyric acid shunt contributes to closing the tricarboxylic acid cycle in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Mol Microbiol 93:786–796. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12699
- 45. Zhang S, Bryant DA (2015) Biochemical validation of the glyoxylate cycle in the cyanobacterium *Chlorogloeopsis fritschii* strain PCC 9212. J Biol Chem 290:14019–14030. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.648170
- 46. Feehily C, Karatzas KAG (2013) Role of glutamate metabolism in bacterial responses towards acid and other stresses. J Appl Microbiol 114:11–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05434.x
- 47. Cecchini G (2003) Function and structure of complex II of the respiratory chain. Annu Rev Biochem 77–109. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.72.121801.161700
- 48. Antunes J, Pereira S, Ribeiro T, et al (2019) A multi-bioassay integrated approach to assess the antifouling potential of the cyanobacterial metabolites portoamides. Mar Drugs 17:1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17020111
- 49. Jaki B, Orjala J, Sticher O (1999) A novel extracellular diterpenoid with antibacterial activity from the cyanobacterium *Nostoc commune*. J Nat Prod 62:502–503. https://doi.org/10.1021/np980444x
- 50. Mo S, Krunic A, Chlipala G, Orjala J (2009) Antimicrobial ambiguine isonitriles from the cyanobacterium *Fischerella ambigua*. J Nat Prod 72:894–899. https://doi.org/10.1021/np800751j
- 51. Rojas V, Rivas L, Cárdenas C, Guzmán F (2020) Cyanobacteria and eukaryotic microalgae as emerging sources of antibacterial peptides. Molecules 25:. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25245804
- 52. Shishido TK, Humisto A, Jokela J, et al (2015) Antifungal compounds from cyanobacteria. Mar Drugs 13:2124–2140. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13042124
- 53. Iwasaki A, Ohno O, Sumimoto S, et al (2015) Jahanyne, an apoptosis-inducing lipopeptide from the marine cyanobacterium *Lyngbya* sp. Org Lett 17:652–655. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol5036722
- 54. Antonopoulou S, Karantonis HC, Nomikos T, et al (2005) Bioactive polar lipids from *Chroococcidiopsis* sp. (Cyanobacteria). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -

B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 142:269–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2005.07.007

- 55. Nowruzi B (2022) Cyanobacteria Natural Products as Sources for Future Directions in Antibiotic Drug Discovery. In Cyanobacteria—Recent Advances and New Perspectives; IntechOpen: London, UK.
- 56. Dittmann E, Gugger M, Sivonen K, Fewer DP (2015) Natural Product Biosynthetic Diversity and Comparative Genomics of the Cyanobacteria. Trends Microbiol 23:642–652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2015.07.008
- 57. Rubin GM, Ding Y (2020) Recent advances in the biosynthesis of RiPPs from multicore-containing precursor peptides. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 47:659–674. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-020-02289-1
- 58. Le T, van der Donk WA (2021) Mechanisms and Evolution of Diversity-Generating RiPP Biosynthesis. Trends Chem 3:266–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trechm.2021.01.003
- 59. Schmidt EW, Nelson JT, Rasko DA, et al (2005) Patellamide A and C biosynthesis by a microcin-like pathway in *Prochloron didemni*, the cyanobacterial symbiont of *Lissoclinum patella*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:7315–7320. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501424102
- 60. Kehr JC, Picchi DG, Dittmann E (2011) Natural product biosyntheses in cyanobacteria: A treasure trove of unique enzymes. Beilstein J Org Chem 7:1622–1635. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.7.191
- 61. Sivonen K, Leikoski N, Fewer DP, Jokela J (2010) Cyanobactins-ribosomal cyclic peptides produced by cyanobacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86:1213–1225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2482-x
- 62. Micallef ML, D'Agostino PM, Al-Sinawi B, et al (2015) Exploring cyanobacterial genomes for natural product biosynthesis pathways. Mar Genomics 21:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margen.2014.11.009
- 63. Wang H, Fewer DP, Sivonen K (2011) Genome mining demonstrates the widespread occurrence of gene clusters encoding bacteriocins in cyanobacteria. PLoS One 6:. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022384
- 64. Nes IF, Diep DB, Holo H (2007) Bacteriocin diversity in *Streptococcus* and *Enterococcus*. J Bacteriol 189:1189–1198. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01254-06
- 65. Dirix G, Monsieurs P, Dombrecht B, et al (2004) Peptide signal molecules and bacteriocins in Gram-negative bacteria: A genome-wide *in silico* screening for peptides containing a double-glycine leader sequence and their cognate transporters. Peptides (NY) 25:1425–1440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2003.10.028
- 66. Amaral SC Do, Monteiro PR, Neto J da SP, et al (2021) Current Knowledge on Microviridin from Cyanobacteria. Mar Drugs 19:1–29. https://doi.org/10.3390/MD19010017
- 67. Jones AC, Gu L, Sorrels CM, et al (2009) New tricks from ancient algae: natural products biosynthesis in marine cyanobacteria. Curr Opin Chem Biol 13:216–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.02.019
- Welker M, Dittmann E, von Döhren H (2012) Chapter Two Cyanobacteria as a Source of Natural Products. In: Hopwood DA (ed) Natural Product Biosynthesis by Microorganisms and Plants, Part C. Academic Press, pp 23–46
- 69. Grünewald J, Marahiel MA (2006) Chemoenzymatic and Template-Directed Synthesis of Bioactive Macrocyclic Peptides. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 70:121–146. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.70.1.121-146.2006
- 70. Winn M, Fyans JK, Zhuo Y, Micklefield J (2016) Recent advances in engineering nonribosomal peptide assembly lines. Nat Prod Rep 33:317–347. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5np00099h
- 71. Koglin A, Walsh CT (2009) Structural insights into nonribosomal peptide enzymatic assembly lines. Nat Prod Rep 26:987–1000. https://doi.org/10.1039/b904543k
- 72. Becker JE, Moore RE, Moore BS (2004) Cloning, sequencing, and biochemical characterization of the nostocyclopeptide biosynthetic gene cluster: Molecular basis

for imine macrocyclization. Gene 325:35–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2003.09.034

- 73. Herfindal L, Myhren L, Kleppe R, et al (2011) Nostocyclopeptide-M1: A potent, nontoxic inhibitor of the hepatocyte drug transporters OATP1B3 and OATP1B1. Mol Pharm 8:360–367. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp1002224
- 74. Jokela J, Herfindal L, Wahlsten M, et al (2010) A novel cyanobacterial nostocyclopeptide is a potent antitoxin against microcystins. ChemBioChem 11:1594–1599. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201000179
- 75. Dittmann E, Neilan BA, Börner T (2001) Molecular biology of peptide and polyketide biosynthesis in cyanobacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 57:467–473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530100810
- 76. Nivina A, Yuet KP, Hsu J, Khosla C (2019) Evolution and Diversity of Assembly-Line Polyketide Synthases. Chem Rev 119:12524–12547. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.9b00525
- 77. Méjean A, Mann S, Maldiney T, et al (2009) Evidence that biosynthesis of the neurotoxic alkaloids anatoxin-a and homoanatoxin-a in the cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria* PCC 6506 occurs on a modular polyketide synthase initiated by L-proline. J Am Chem Soc 131:7512–7513. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9024353
- 78. Dhakal D, Chen M, Luesch H, Ding Y (2021) Heterologous production of cyanobacterial compounds. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 48:kuab003. Https://doi.org/10.1093/jimb/kuab003
- 79. Sánchez-Baracaldo P, Bianchini G, Wilson JD, Knoll AH (2022) Cyanobacteria and biogeochemical cycles through Earth history. Trends Microbiol 30:143–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2021.05.008
- 80. Ongley SE, Bian X, Zhang Y, et al (2013) High-titer heterologous production in *E. coli* of lyngbyatoxin, a protein kinase C activator from an uncultured marine cyanobacterium. ACS Chem Biol 8:1888–1893. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb400189j
- Kim EJ, Lee JH, Choi H, et al (2012) Heterologous production of 4- O demethylbarbamide, a marine cyanobacterial natural product. Org Lett 14:5824– 5827. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol302575h
- 82. Park SH, Lee K, Jang JW, Hahn JS (2019) Metabolic Engineering of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for Production of Shinorine, a Sunscreen Material, from Xylose. ACS Synth Biol 8:346–357. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.8b00388
- Videau P, Wells KN, Singh AJ, et al (2020) Expanding the Natural Products Heterologous Expression Repertoire in the Model Cyanobacterium Anabaena sp. Strain PCC 7120: Production of Pendolmycin and Teleocidin B-4. ACS Synth Biol 9:63–75. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.9b00334
- Yang G, Cozad MA, Holland DA, et al (2018) Photosynthetic Production of Sunscreen Shinorine Using an Engineered Cyanobacterium. ACS Synth Biol 7:664– 671. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.7b00397
- 85. Knoot CJ, Khatri Y, Hohlman RM, et al (2019) Engineered Production of Hapalindole Alkaloids in the Cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. UTEX 2973. ACS Synth Biol 8:1941–1951. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.9b00229
- 86. Greunke C, Duell ER, D'Agostino PM, et al (2018) Direct Pathway Cloning (DiPaC) to unlock natural product biosynthetic potential. Metab Eng 47:334–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2018.03.010
- 87. Long PF, Dunlap WC, Battershill CN, Jaspars M (2005) Shotgun cloning and heterologous expression of the patellamide gene cluster as a strategy to achieving sustained metabolite production. ChemBioChem 6:1760–1765. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200500210
- 88. Kouprina N, Larionov V (2016) Transformation-associated recombination (TAR) cloning for genomics studies and synthetic biology. Chromosoma 125:621–632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-016-0588-3
- 89. Taton A, Ecker A, Diaz B, et al (2020) Heterologous Expression of Cryptomaldamide in a Cyanobacterial Host. ACS Synth Biol 9:3364-76. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.0c00431

- 90. Blin K, Shaw S, Steinke K, et al (2019) antiSMASH 5.0: updates to the secondary metabolite genome mining pipeline. Nucleic Acids Res 47:81–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz310
- 91. Nowruzi B, Khavari-Nejad RA, Sivonen K, et al (2012) A gene expression study on strains of *Nostoc* (Cyanobacteria) revealing antimicrobial activity under mixotrophic conditions. Afr J Biotechnol 11:11296–11308. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb11.4129

Chapter II

Process Technologies of Cyanobacteria (Bookchapter)

Marco Witthohn¹, Dorina Strieth², Jonas Kollmen², Anna Schwarz¹, Roland Ulber², Kai Muffler¹

¹Department of Life Sciences and Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Bingen, Berlinstr. 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany ²Chair of Bioprocess Engineering, Technical university of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology (2022), 183, 303-352

Authorship contribution

M. Witthohn:	Project administration; visualization, writing, investigation, review & editing
	(chapters 3, 4, 6, 7).
D. Strieth:	Project administration; visualization, writing, investigation (chapters 1-4).
J. Kollmen:	Visualization, writing, investigation (chapter 5).
A. Schwarz:	Final approval of the article, review & editing, investigation (chapter 6).
R. Ulber:	Funding acquisition, review & editing, conceptualization.
K. Muffler:	Funding acquisition, supervision, conceptualization, review & editing.

Keywords: Cyanobacteria, Strain conservation, Cell characterization, Photobioreactors, Mixo-/Heterotrophic cultivation

Abstract

Although the handling and exploitation of cyanobacteria is associated with some challenges, these phototrophic bacteria offer great opportunities for innovative biotechnological processes. This chapter covers versatile aspects of working with cyanobacteria, starting with up-to-date *in-silico* and *in-vitro* screening methods for bioactive substances. Subsequently, common conservation techniques and vitality/viability estimation methods are compared and supplemented by own data regarding the non-invasive vitality evaluation via pulse amplitude modulated fluorometry. Moreover, novel findings about the influence the state of the precultures have on main cultures are presented. The following sub-chapters deal with different photobioreactor-designs, with special regard to biofilm photobioreactors, as well as with heterotrophic and mixotrophic cultivation modes. The latter topic provides information from literature on successfully enhanced cyanobacterial production processes, augmented by own data.

1 Introduction

Bioeconomy describes the transformation from a petroleum-based market economy to a sustainable, post-fossil market economy. The focus is on securing nutrition of a growing population (Sustainable Development Goal "SDG" 2: Zero Hunger), the sustainable use of resources (SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production) and climate change (SDG 13: Climate Action). The vision of a post-fossil market economy replaces fossil resources with renewable raw materials, which are used both energetically and materially. However, the production of renewable resources requires intensive cultivation of agricultural land, which leads to a loss of biodiversity. In addition, the availability of agricultural land is limited (see **Fig. 1**), which creates a conflict between tank, trough and plate.



Fig. 1 Current global land use. 37 % are used for agricultural cultivation, 29.1 % are woods and forests, 32.1 % are barren (mountains, desert etc.), and 1.5 % are used for settlement and transportation [1]. The share of cultivated agriculture land is further divided into 71 % used for grazing and 29 % farmland, which in turn is divided into land used for the production of raw materials (6.9 %), food (17.9 %), feed (71 %), and bioenergy (3.8 %). Figure created after [1].

However, renewable resources are most often coupled to the intensive use of fertilizer. This adds substantially to the climate issue, as in most cases the Haber Bosch process is used for ammonia production. It comes along with a significant climate footprint and it is estimated that 1-2 % of the global energy consumption and 1.44 % of global CO₂ emissions are attributed to this process [2]. Further, the use of artificial fertilizer releases high amounts of nitrous oxide (greenhouse gas) [3]. Innovative and new concepts are needed here to meet the challenges in agricultural research such as yield security, climate friendliness, environmental protection and biodiversity conservation. Microalgae can be part of the solution. Photo-autotrophy is a form of life in which, simplified, organisms use light as an energy source to produce oxygen and carbohydrates (sugars) from water and CO_2 and thereby contribute to SGDs 13 and 2. According to current projections, they bind around 30 % of atmospheric CO₂ via the Calvin Benson Bassham cycle (CBB cycle). Cyanobacteria, on which we will focus in this chapter, are prokaryotes, performing an oxygenic photosynthesis, although they are commonly referred to as microalgae. Some cyanobacterial strains form biofilms, meaning they live embedded in a self-produced matrix of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) that protectively surround them [4]. Depending on their origin, aquatic and terrestrial cyanobacteria can be distinguished. In addition to CO₂, some cyanobacteria also bind atmospheric nitrogen and convert it into bioavailable nitrogen [5], making them interesting to be used as a natural living fertilizer in agriculture as a co-culture with plants [6, 7]. Furthermore, they are also able to bind particulate matter and can be cultivated under flue gas [8]. They live in the most extreme habitats (deserts, hot springs, Antarctica) and are tolerant to fluctuating biotic and abiotic conditions. This makes them easy cultivation organisms, since the common monitoring and controlling of critical cultivation parameters, as temperature and pH, is often not necessary. On the other hand, light is one of the most important substrates which is not dispersible. The intensity and quality of the light can change during cultivation due to e.g. mutual shading and thus influences cell physiology and in a consequence growth rate as well as physiology [9]. Each cyanobacterium has organism-specific requirements based on its origin and - depending on the desired target product - in terms of light intensity and light composition as well as temperature [10]. In addition, cyanobacteria can be used to produce a variety of interesting products such as natural dyes, biopolymers, polysaccharides and fatty acids. The biomass itself can be used as a food (supplement), animal feed or fertilizer. Moreover, many cyanobacterial strains are known as producers of various bioactive substances of different chemical classes with, amongst others, antibacterial [11–13], antifungal [14], antiviral [15] and anti-tumoral [16] activity. Several reviews summarize the potential of cyanobacteria as well as potential biotechnological products [17-19].

23

In this chapter, an overview of modern genome-based screening methods is given. In addition, different ways to preserve and cultivate cyanobacteria are discussed as well as the application of state-of-the-art photobioreactors. Furthermore, alternative ways to increase productivity by heterotrophic and mixotrophic cultivation, and methods for determining cell-vitality and biofilm growth are presented.

2 Genome-based Screening for Potential New Bioactive Substances

The potential of cyanobacteria, especially regarding secondary metabolites, has not yet been exhausted due to the fact that only a small fraction of all existing cyanobacteria have been described up to now [20, 21]. Especially the discovery of bioactive cyanobacterial metabolites is still a hot topic in research, which is indicated by the still increasing number of publications in this research field [22]. The structure of secondary metabolites is as diverse as their field of application. They fulfill various roles including defense against other organisms (antimicrobial substances), metal transporting agents, facilitators for symbiosis, antioxidants, photoprotectors and others [23, 24]. Over the last decades the excessive use of antibiotics has led to the rise of multi-drug resistant bacteria. Thus, the identification of new antibacterial compounds, as well as antifungal and anticancer substances is of high interest [25, 26].

Standard *in-vitro* screening is based on the phenotypic properties of cyanobacteria: *i.e.*, cyanobacterial biomass is collected or grown and usually an extract is prepared, which is then tested in bioactivity assays for its anticancer, antifungal, or antibacterial properties. Commonly used bioactivity tests in lab-scale are summarized by Strieth *et al.* [27]. However, this type of screening can be very laborious and time-consuming, especially in view of the preceding slow growth of the cyanobacteria. This disadvantage is only partially overcome by High-Throughput-Screening (HTS) methods. HTS allows to screen automatically and robot supported of up to 100,000 or more samples per day. This method is mainly used to identify compounds (so called hits) with pharmacological or biological activity. Using HTS only a single concentration (commonly 10 μ M) of the compound is tested, which may or may not be sufficient to achieve a response. In quantitative HTS (qHTS), multiple concentrations of the respective compound are tested, which allows the determination of the "minimal inhibitory concentration" (MIC) [28].

It is known that the synthesis pathways leading to such active molecules are mostly encoded by large gene clusters [29]. Due to the ever-increasing number of sequenced genomes and the fact that availability and accessibility of genome data has highly improved, there has been an expansion of genomic screening in the last decade [30–32]. Two
examples of genome data collections are the GEO DataSets from National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) that collects and provides, for example, biomedical and genomic information and the CyanoMetDB. The latter was developed by Jones *et al.* [22] and is an openly-accessible database of cyanobacterial secondary metabolites summarized from 850 peer-reviewed articles published between 1967 and 2020.

Genomic-based screening methods can be divided into *in-vivo* and *in-silico* methods. While *in-vivo* screening methods are mainly based on the detection of the gene(s) of interest using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) *in-silico* methods rely on genome mining approaches. Thereby, a lot of information about an organism can be obtained [33]. Many secondary metabolites have the advantage of being synthesized from so called bioactive gene clusters (BGC) whose structure is similar within their molecular class. It is advantageous that the corresponding nucleotide sequences are very similar across different species [34]. Thus, within a substance family, highly conserved sequences are often found within these gene clusters. For example, LanC is involved in the modification of lantibiotics [35]. Different tools are available for identifying respective BGCs and potential cyanobacterial producers in the genome data space, *e.g.* antiSMASH (Antibiotics and Secondary Metabolite Analysis Shell) [36].

In some cases, these analysis tools even can predict the possible structural formula of a molecule without an existing extract and/or structure [33]. If a strain has the LanC it has the potential to produce lantibiotics. Weber & Uk give an overview of existing tools like BAGEL (BActeriocin GEnome Mining tool), Evo Mining and RODEO that can be used to investigate secondary (bioactive) compounds and their corresponding gene clusters (http://secondarymetabolites.org/) [37]. Additional, Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) by NCBI can be used to compare unknown DNA or protein sequences to already annotated sequences in various data bases. Methods like blastn (for nucleotide sequences), or blastx (for amino acid sequences) are readily available. Although the number of known cyanobacterial genomes is slowly increasing only a small part of the existing genome space is covered up to date. To gain more information about potential strains, it is important that as many cyanobacteria as possible get sequenced and included in existing genome databases. It is known that a majority of bioactive compounds reported from cyanobacteria are cyclic or linear peptides [38]. Peptide derived compounds can be synthesized in different ways, either through non-ribosomal peptide synthetases (NRPS) or via ribosomal synthesized and post-translationally modified peptides (RiPPs). Additional structure diversity is afforded by mixing NRPS and polyketide synthases (PKS) [39, 40]. Vestola et al. characterized the biosynthetic pathway of numerous novel glycosylated lipopeptides in *Anabaena sp.* SYKE748A [41]. The glycolipopeptide were similar to antimycotic hassalidins A and B found in *Hassallia* sp. Further analysis showed that 20 strains of the genus *Anabaena* carry the hassalidin (*has*) synthetase genes, whereby the structure of antimycotic compound differs, but all inhibit the growth of *Candida albicans*. Finally, they could find the hassalidin synthetase genes in four other cyanobacterial genii [41].

In most cases the genome of a cyanobacterium is not sequenced. In this case analysis can be performed in-vivo using PCR. For example, the hassalidin NRPS genes indicate the presence of the has gene cluster. Thus, this sequence can be used to screen for potential hassalidin producers [41]. Often a mixture of similar primers is used, so called degenerated primers, to amplify homologous (in different species) or paralogous (within a species) genes. Degenerated primers have a high but not complete sequences similarity to their target, which allows them binding to similar sequences and enables in-vivo detection of conserved regions of biosynthetic gene clusters [34]. Thereby, Vestola et al. detected the has NRPS gene in 31 cyanobacteria. It could be shown that although all investigated strains carried the has NRPS gene, five strains were not synthesizing the antimycotic compound [41]. In a further study Neilan et al. reported that 70 % of the investigated cyanobacteria contain NRPS gene clusters, which does not necessarily mean that an antimicrobial compound is synthesized by the organisms [42]. Genomic screening for synthesis pathways of bioactive compounds facilitates the identification of cyanobacterial workhorses, but verification of the actual product is crucial. For this reason, genome mining should be coupled to a subsequent bioactivity assay as well as isolation, purification and characterization of the product [43, 44]. Up to now, mainly phenotypic screening methods are used due to the small number of available genomes of cyanobacteria.

3 Strain Conservation of Cyanobacteria

The phylum 'cyanobacteria' includes 323 genera with approximately 2,698 known species [45] and represents one of the largest sub-groups of Gram-negative prokaryotes [46]. They occur on almost every place on earth, from oceans over freshwaters to deserts, rocks and hot springs. Due to the many different habitats cyanobacteria live in, they possess a great variety in form, metabolism and growth demands. Therefore, it is a challenging task to implement a strain conservation technique that fits every single strain. However, techniques suiting a wide range of different cyanobacteria were already described.

3.1 Cryopreservation of Cyanobacteria

In the area of biosciences, cryopreservation is the predominantly used method for strain conservation. Since it was (accidently) discovered in 1948 that glycerol can prevent fowl

sperm cells from freezing injuries, this discovery significantly promoted the field of cell conservation [47, 48]. For a long time, it was a common opinion that cryopreservation is not applicable for cyanobacterial strains, or at least only for a very limited number. After thawing of the cells, vitality often decreases dramatically and cells may suffer from freezing damages and die rapidly. A great improvement in cell vitality can be achieved by the two-step cooling method, using a controlled rate temperature decrease and, in most cases, a cell penetrating cryoprotective agent (CPA) [49].

In the process of cryopreservation, there are mainly two critical effects affecting cell viability. The first one being the formation of intracellular ice and the second one being osmotic stress, eventually followed by plasmolysis, caused by cell dehydration. Both effects are directly connected to the cooling rate in the course of cryopreservation. During slow cooling rates, the concentration of extracellular solutes increases, as pure water freezes more rapidly and gets eliminated from the solute-solvent system [50]. Consequently, intracellular water is osmotically driven out of the cells, which have a lower freezing point caused by a higher concentration of dissolved solutes. These physical mechanisms lead to a reduction in cell size and osmotic stress of the cells. However, a too rapid or uncontrolled cooling rate prevents proper dehydration of the cells, which dramatically increases the danger of intracellular ice formation. Cell penetrating CPAs like dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), glycerol or methanol (MeOH) are mostly used for the cryopreservation of cyanobacteria. They passively enter the cell over the cytoplasmic membrane, replace the intracellular water, and thus prevent the formation of cell-damaging ice crystals. Moreover, cell permeating CPAs prevent cells from excessive dehydration by equilibrating the osmotic pressure between the intra- and extracellular room. A certain incubation time of the cells after addition of the respective CPA at room temperature and under low light intensity assures the osmotic equilibration between solute concentrations outside- and inside of the cells [51]. However, a prolonged incubation time can also cause cell damages, especially if potentially toxic compounds as DMSO and MeOH are used [52]. In order to overcome the risks of cell damages during cryopreservation, most recent protocols use a two-step freezing method. As a first step, the prepared cryovials are frozen to a sub-zero temperature (usually between -30 and -40 °C), using a defined cooling rate. The cooling rate depends on the used strains, usually a decrease of -1 °C min⁻¹ is used. In the course of cooling the cells get slowly dehydrated, which prevents the formation of intracellular ice crystals. The second step implies a rapid cooling to -196 °C with liquid nitrogen. After the freezing process, samples should be stored at ≤ -139 °C, as recrystallization processes can occur at higher temperatures [53]. However, not every laboratory has access to liquid nitrogen, so also higher storage temperatures (mostly -80 °C) are frequently used for cyanobacteria. The success of cryopreservation highly depends on the used strains. Cell viabilities can vary a lot by application of different CPAs and cooling protocols. In **Table 1**, several cryopreservation approaches are listed, sorted by the respective cyanobacterial order. It shall provide a quick overview about successful cryopreservation methods (with and without usage of liquid nitrogen) and can give hints on appropriate approaches for not yet cryopreserved strains.

generally viable.					
Cyanobacterial Order	No. of strains	Vitality (vt), Viability (vb) [%]	(Best) Cryoprotectant	Cooling Protocol	Reference
Chroococcales	თ	> 90 (8/9) (vt)	DMSO 3 - 5 % (v/v)	$RT \rightarrow -40 \ ^\circC \ (-4 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \rightarrow -80 \ ^\circC$ $(-4 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \ \mathbf{2S}$	[54]
	-	> 75 (vb)	DMSO 5 % (v/v)	$RT \rightarrow -80 \text{ °C } SF$	[55]
	74	> 60 (62/74) (vb)	DMSO 3 % (v/v)	$RT \to -30 \ ^\circC \ (-1 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \to -196 \ ^\circC$ 25 LN	[56]
	9	100 (vb)	none	$RT \rightarrow -60 \ ^{\circ}C \ SF$	[57]
	თ	+ (8/9) (vb)	DMSO 15 % (v/v)	$RT \to -40 \ ^\circC \ (-3 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \to -196 \ ^\circC$ 25 LN	[57]
Chroococcidiopsidales	б	> 90 (vt)	DMSO/MeOH 3 - 5 % (v/v)	$RT \to -40 \ ^{\circ}C \ (-4 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \to -80 \ ^{\circ}C$ $(-4 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \ \mathbf{2S}$	[54]
Nostocales	34	> 90 (32/34) (vt)	DMSO 3 - 5 % (v/v)	$RT \to -40 \ ^\circC \ (-4 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \to -80 \ ^\circC$ $(-4 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \ \mathbf{2S}$	[54]
	2	78 - 97 (vb)	Glycerol 10 % (v/v)	$RT \rightarrow -80 \text{ °C }SF$	[55]
	28	> 60 (11/28) (vb)	DMSO 3 % (v/v)	$RT \rightarrow -30 \ ^{\circ}C \ (-1 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \rightarrow -196 \ ^{\circ}C$ 25 LN	[56]
	7	0-80 (vb)	none	$RT \to -60 \ ^\circC$ SF	[57]

Table 1 Overview of different (successful) cryopreservation approaches sorted by cyanobacterial orders. 1S = one-step freezing with controlled rate; 2S = twostep freezing with controlled rate, 2S LN = two-step freezing with controlled rate, involves Liguid Nitrogen; SF = one-step freezing without controlled rate. +,

[58]	This work	[54]	[55]	[56]	[57]	[58]	This work	[54]	[56]	[54]	[29]	This work	[55]	[26]	
RT → -40 °C (-3 °C min ⁻¹) → -196 °C 2S LN	RT \rightarrow - 80 °C (- 1 °C min ⁻¹) 1S	$RT \rightarrow -40 ^{\circ}C (-4 ^{\circ}C min^{-1}) \rightarrow -80 ^{\circ}C$ $(-4 ^{\circ}C min^{-1}) \mathbf{2S}$	$RT \to -80 \ ^{\circC} \ SF$	RT → -30 °C (-1 °C min ⁻¹) → -196 °C 2S LN	RT → -60 °C SF	$RT \rightarrow -40 \ ^\circC \ (-3 \ ^\circC \ min^{-1}) \rightarrow -196 \ ^\circC$ 28 LN	RT ightarrow - 80 °C (-1 °C min ⁻¹) 1S	$RT \rightarrow -40 ^{\circ}C (-4 ^{\circ}C min^{-1}) \rightarrow -80 ^{\circ}C$ $(-4 ^{\circ}C min^{-1}) \mathbf{2S}$	RT → -30 °C (-1 °C min ⁻¹) → -196 °C 2S LN	$RT \rightarrow -40 \ ^{\circ}C \ (-4 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \rightarrow -80 \ ^{\circ}C \ (-4 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \ 2S \ (-6 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \ 2S \ (-6 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \ 2S \ (-6 \ ^{\circ}C \ min^{-1}) \ (-6 \$	RT ightarrow - 80 °C (-1 °C min ⁻¹) 1S	RT ightarrow - 80 °C (-1 °C min ⁻¹) 1S	$RT \rightarrow -80 \text{ °C }SF$	$RT \rightarrow -30~^\circC (-1~^\circC \min^{-1}) \rightarrow -196~^\circC$	2S LN
DMSO 15 % (v/v)	DMSO 5 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 - 5 % (v/v)	Glycerol 10 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 % (v/v)	none	DMSO 15 % (v/v)	DMSO 5 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 - 5 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 - 5 % (v/v)	DMSO 1 % (v/v)	DMSO 5 % (v/v)	Glycerol 10 % (v/v)	DMSO 3 % (v/v)	
+ (7/8) (vb)	50-80 (9/10) (vt)	> 90 (12/13) (vt)	(vb) <	> 60 (24/39) (vb)	100 (vb)	+ (7/8) (vb)	> 50 (vt)	> 90 (vt)	> 60 (1/2) (vb)	> 90 (27/29) (vt)	> 80 (vb)	80 (vt)	87 (vb)	(vb) <	
ω	10	13	-	39	~	ი	2	7	7	29	-	-		-	
		Oscillatoriales						Pleurocapsales		Synechococcales			Stigonematales		

Usually, 3 - 5 % DMSO (v/v) is the most appropriate CPA for the cryopreservation of cyanobacteria. Only few strains maintain a high viability with MeOH as CPA.

During the thawing process, it is essential that a quick warming rate is applied to the cells (*e.g.* water bath, 35 - 45 °C). This is proposed by almost all cryopreservation protocols, as rapid thawing minimizes the risk of intracellular water recrystallization. After thawing, the CPA should be quickly removed, particularly if cytotoxic substances as MeOH and DMSO were used. Glycerol generally won't harm cyanobacterial cells, but it can be used as carbon source by heterotrophic contaminants, if non-axenic cyanobacteria were cryopreserved. During the washing steps, light intensity should be maintained low and centrifugation steps should be avoided or reduced to minimum speed/duration.

3.2 Alternative Conservation Approaches for Cyanobacteria

There are also interesting alternatives to cryopreservation, two of which are shortly summarized in the following chapter.

3.2.1 Lyophilisation

In the process of lyophilisation, frozen samples are dehydrated under vacuum and at low temperatures. Through sublimation, ice crystals are directly converted to a gaseous state, without getting liquid. Lyophilisation is a rather rarely used method for the conservation of cyanobacteria. It has been shown only for a very limited number of strains/genera. Most filamentous, heterocysts-forming strains, like Nostoc or Anabaena, are relatively robust and survive freeze-drying. Cyanobacteria that produce akinetes, thick-walled, cold and desiccation resistant spores, are also described to be insensitive towards lyophilisation [60]. The production of a thick layer of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) can also lead to a higher viability rate after re-culturing [55]; **Table 2**).

Strain/s	Viability [%]	Lyoprotectant/ Suspending	Reference
		medium	
Nostoc sp.	< 4	BG-11	[55]
Stigonema sp.	> 60	BG-11	[55]
Synechococcus cedrorum	+	Lamb serum	[60]
S1C1/J3C1			
Synechococcus elongatus S2C1	+	Human ascites fluid/Beef serum	[60]
Anacystis nidulans Ac1C1	+	Human ascites fluid/Lamb serum	[60]
Microcystis aeruginosa J1/M2/M4	+	Lamb serum/Fetal bovine serum	[60]
Merismopedia elegans Me1	+	Human ascites fluid/Lamb serum	[60]
Gloeocapsa calcarea G1	+	Lamb serum	[60]
Oscillatoria subbrevis Os1	+	Lamb serum	[60]
Anabaena flos-aque Ab1C1	+	Human ascites fluid/Lamb serum	[60]
Anabaena viariabilis Ab2C1	+	Lamb serum	[60]
Nostoc muscorum N1C1	+	Human ascites fluid /Lamb serum	[60]
Tolypothrix tenuis	58 – 92 %	Human serum albumin	[61]
Calothrix brevissima	42 – 96 %	Human serum albumin	[61]
<i>Lyngbya</i> sp. 487/488	+	Horse serum	[62]
Lyngbya versicolor	+	Horse serum	[62]
<i>Nostoc</i> sp. 387/389	+	Horse serum	[62]
Nostoc ellipsosporum	+	Horse serum	[62]
Phormidium luridum	+	Horse serum	[62]

 Table 2 Overview of different (successful) lyophilisation approaches with different cyanobacterial strains. +, generally vital.

When a suitable strain conservation technique needs to be chosen, it could be worth considering lyophilisation. If the concerning strains are amenable to this technique and show high viability rates afterwards, lyophilisation is a useful approach. Freeze-dried cells do not need to be stored at sub-zero temperatures and can be revived more quickly than cryopreserved cells. Moreover, lyophilisation reduces the risk of contaminations and does not promote growth of heterotrophic contaminants [55]. This can be the case after cryopreservation, with CPAs like glucose.

3.2.2 Immobilization

The immobilization of cyanobacterial cells has already been used for a wide range of applications. In photobioreactors, immobilized cyanobacteria can be used for the continuous production of valuable bioproducts [63-65]. Further advantages are the simplification of downstream processes; higher cell densities, combined with improved production effectivity, and the applicability of higher dilution rates [63]. Immobilized cyanobacteria can as well be used for bioremediation processes [66, 67], or the detection of pollutants [68]. However, immobilization can also be applied for the conservation of cyanobacteria. In 1988, Lukavský immobilized six cyanobacterial strains (among several eukaryotic algae) in 2 % agar and stored them under low light intensity at 10 °C. After 32 months, the cells were transferred to fresh cell medium and showed good growth at standard culturing conditions. Overlying the agar tubes with paraffin oil clearly decreased the recovery rate [69]. Also alginate beads (hardened with CaCl₂) are suited as shown for the filamentous cyanobacterium Pseudoanabaena galeata, which could be preserved for 14 - 18 month at 4 °C in the dark, without a decrease in growth rate or alteration of physiological characteristics [70]. Thereby, cyanobacterial cell metabolism was drastically decreased, or completely stopped. This was indicated by a constant number of cells and no significant alterations in C, H, N and P content [70]. Thus, it is highly likely that genetic changes through mutations or selection of subspecies do not occur. Conservation of cyanobacteria by immobilization with agar or alginate is an interesting alternative to established cryopreservation. It has the advantages of being cheap and accessible for any laboratory. Furthermore, cells can be re-cultured more rapidly than after cryopreservation. Even an encapsulation device for the automated and continuous production of alginate beads has been proposed [71]. However, there is not much data about, which cyanobacterial strains are suited for this kind of conservation method nor is it known, how long cells can be stored this way.

3.3 Commonly used Pre-culture Technologies in Algae Biotechnology

In general, cryopreserved cultures are used to inoculate pre-cultures in lab-scale. To subsequently inoculate the main culture, the cells are harvested in the exponential phase. This procedure minimizes differences in performance, ensures identical starting conditions and minimizes DNA mutations. Different protocols for cryopreservation of microalgae are established and described in the previous chapters, but since microalgae are growing very slow this standard procedure would be very time-consuming. Traditionally, cyanobacteria are preserved as metabolically active serial subcultures, which must constantly be transferred to fresh culture medium in intervals depending on the growth rates of the respective strains. Often, cyanobacteria are immobilized on agar plates and stored at 4 °C and low light intensities resulting in low biomass formation by simultaneously high viability

of the cells (up to 80 %) [72]. In regular intervals, new medium is added to provide the necessary nutrients. This biomass is then used to start a pre-culture. This kind of strain conservation provides the constant availability of vital cyanobacterial cell mass, which is especially helpful for slow-growing strains. However, for medium to large strain collections, this method has the clear disadvantage of being extremely time consuming and labour intensive. Additionally, it was reported that continuous serial subcultures can lead to alterations in the morpho- and genotype due to selection towards subspecies and DNA mutation [73, 74]. Thus, serial subcultures can be useful for a limited period, if fresh cell material is constantly needed. But for long time storage of cyanobacterial strains, cryopreservation or immobilization should be the method of choice.

However, since serial sub-culturing is often used the influence on the main culture needs to be investigated. It is unknown if different growth phases and the fluctuating nutrient concentrations of the pre-culture lead to a different performance in the main culture. To investigate the impact of the age of pre-culture on main cultures, *Nostoc* sp. was cultivated for 56 days in shaking flasks without baffles in a shaking incubator at 24 °C without any medium exchange. After 21, 28, 35, 42, 49 and 56 days of cultivation biomass was harvested and used to start the main cultures that were then cultivated for 14 days in shaking flasks at different light intensities. The typical growth curve of cyanobacteria could be detected including a lag-, an exponential as well as the beginning of the stationary phase (see **Fig. 2** A).



Fig. 2 Influence of different growth phases on the main culture of *Nostoc* sp. A, Cell dry weight (CDW) of the preculture over cultivation time. B, CDW of the respective main cultures inoculated with preculture of different age. CDW was determined after 14 days of cultivation at 80 and 130 μ mol_{photons} m⁻²s⁻¹, respectively. C, Influence of the pre-culture cultivation conditions on phycobiliprotein ratio in percent. D, Ratio of phycobiliproteins in the main culture after 14 days of cultivation. Cultivation parameters: 300 mL shaking flasks without baffles, inoculation with 0.1 g cell wet weight (CWW) of *Nostoc* sp. per 50 mL BG-11 medium, 24 °C, 120 rpm (eccentricity 2.5 cm), 130 μ mol_{photons} m⁻²s⁻¹, except the main cultures, n_b (biological replicates) = 3.

In this study, the age of pre-culture had no influence on biomass formation under two different conditions (see Fig. 2 B). For vitality determination the resazurin assay was used [75]. No influence on vitality could be detected over cultivation time (data not shown). EPS, Pigments and PBP were determined using the method described by Strieth and Stiefelmaier *et al.* [76]. Again, the age of pre-culture had no influence on EPS formation and phycobiliproteins (see Fig. 2 D) as well as pigment composition (data not shown). Furthermore, the total amount of PBP decreased, whereby also the amount of

C-phycocyanin decreased over time. C-phycocyanin is also used as nitrogen storage is thus degraded due to the decrease of nitrogen in the medium over time. That was interesting, because the ratio of PBP changed in the pre-culture but had no influence on PBP ratio in the main culture.

In conclusion the age of culture had no influence on the productivities of the slow-growing organism of the main culture in terms of biomass formation, but serial subcultures can lead to alterations in the morpho- and genotype due to formation of subpopulations and DNA mutation. Thus strains have to be regularly checked for genomic and morphological integrity and should also be available as original cryopreserves .

4 Characterization of Cyanobacteria

When establishing a suitable conservation method for individual cyanobacterial strains, the evaluation of the cells' condition before and after the conservation process is essential. In contrast to cell vitality tests, viability assays can only superficially differentiate between living and dead cells. Intracellularly impaired or dying cells will still be identified as viable cells. However, such tests are fast and will give first quick indications about cell fitness. For more reliable data, time-consuming cell vitality assays need to be accomplished.

4.1 Cell Vitality

As cyanobacteria tend to have slow to very slow growth rates, a vitality check through this variable can be a time-consuming matter. In addition, the calculation of growth rates by absorption measurement is often not applicable for cyanobacteria. Especially cell aggregates interfere with spectrophotometric methods. In this subchapter, alternative methods for determining cell vitality are introduced.

4.1.1 In vivo Growth Fluorometry

A widespread method for the vitality determination of cyanobacteria is the quantification of cell growth by measuring the *in vivo* fluorescence of chlorophyll a. This method is used for diatoms [77], cyanobacteria [78] and green algae [79]. Fluorometric measurements can be performed with a spectrophotometer. A modified variant has been implemented by Karsten *et al.* (2006), in which microalgal cells can be measured in petri dishes [78]. The method's principle remains the same, chlorophyll a gets excited by a light source at 435 - 470 nm [78, 80] and emits light of slightly lower energy. The light intensity is measured by a detector and used for the calculation of growth rates, without need for calibration. An excitation wavelength of 630 nm was proposed for the measurement of phycocyanin and allophycocyanin in cyanobacteria [81]. An advantage of the method is the low amount of needed cell mass. Karsten *et al.* (2006) only used 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ per run. That minimizes the risk of self-shading and scattering effects [80]. Another benefit is the specificity of the

method, as only living cells are measured and heterotrophic contaminants can be distinguished from cyanobacterial cells [82]. However, although single measurements are only a matter of seconds, the vitality test is still based on the determination of culture growth. Thus, for slowly growing strains several days of culturing are required. Another difficulty of using fluorometry for cyanobacterial growth monitoring is that many strains form cell clusters and aggregates with EPS and are therefore not evenly dispersed in the culture medium. These clusters tend to sediment quickly, which prevents the collection of samples and the quantitative measurement from being reproducible.

4.1.2 Resazurin Assay

The resazurin assay, or Alamar Blue Assay, is based on the reduction of the barely fluorescent, dark purple dye resazurin (redox and pH indicator) to resorufin, which is pink and highly fluorescent. This reaction occurs in a vital cell. If the metabolic activity of the cell is reduced (less vital), less resazurin is converted. By measuring the fluorescence, conclusions can be drawn about the cells vitality. This method is mainly used as bioactivity assay where different amounts of extracts are tested against e.g. Escherichia coli. The test strain is resuspended in a buffer solution and placed together with the respective extract and resazurin into a microtiter plate for cultivation. After incubation a colour change indicates no inhibition of the test strain by the used extract [83]. This method cannot only be used as bioactivity assay. Mehring et al. showed that the test is also usable to detect vitality of cyanobacteria and is transferable to heterotrophic bacteria and callus cells [75]. In this case, a certain amount of biomass is resuspended in a buffer solution and resazurin is added. The reaction to resorufin only takes place in viable cells and the intensity of the resulting fluorescence can be correlated to metabolic activity. This is a medium to high throughput method for fast and easy determination of cell vitality, which can also be well automated.

4.1.3 Vitality Determination by pO₂ Measurements

The evaluation of cyanobacterial cell vitality should include more classifications than "alive" or "dead", as important metabolic functions or cell compartments can be damaged without leading to cell death but hampering growth. Therefore, growth experiments are a reliable basis to judge cell viability. However, they have the disadvantage of being very time-consuming in case of cyanobacteria. Since these bacteria perform an oxygenic photosynthesis oxygen is produced during photosynthetic activity. Consequently, oxygen is a good indicator for viable, growing cells. This fact was used to establish an easy vitality test, based on pO_2 measurements [84] (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3 pO₂ measurement setup for the *in vivo* vitality determination of cyanobacteria. The working volume is 20 - 50 ml. Modified according to Witthohn *et al.*, 2020 [84]. Reproduction of this figure is granted by a Creative Commons Attribution License.

A cell wet mass pellet of 0.5 g cryopreserved and thawed *Nostoc* sp. was resuspended in BG-11 medium and applied to the measuring flask. The culture was stirred at about 500 rpm and heated to 27 °C. The LED strip provides light for photosynthesis; the pO₂ increase was measured by a sensor inside the culture medium. The slope of the resulting graph can be compared to the one obtained by fresh, not cryopreserved cells (**Fig. 4A**) [84]. In this way, different CPAs can be tested in a relatively small amount of time. For example, the results shown in **Fig. 4B** can theoretically be obtained in 5 – 6 hours, as one run takes about 30 min.



Fig. 4 A, pO₂ increase for vitality determination of *Nostoc* sp. (formerly referred to as *Trichocoleus sociatus*) cells cryopreserved with glycerin as CPA. Measurements have been performed in the device shown in figure 3. B, obtained vitality data of *Nostoc* sp. cells cryopreserved with different CPAs. Modified according to Witthohn *et al.*, 2020 [84]. Reproduction of this figure is granted by a Creative Commons Attribution License.

Thereby it could be shown that DMSO is the most appropriate CPA for cryopreservation of *Nostoc* sp. Moreover, the comparison of these results with data from "classic" growth experiments demonstrate the reliability of the pO_2 measurement technique (**Fig. 5**).



Fig. 5 A, Growth assay with *Nostoc* sp. (formerly referred to as *Trichocoleus sociatus*) by determination of CDM. The cells were cryopreserved for two weeks with different CPAs (DMSO/MeOH 5 %, Glyc 15 % v/v). B, comparison of growth assay and pO2 measurement as vitality determination methods. Modified according to Witthohn *et al.*, 2020 [84]. Reproduction of this figure is granted by a Creative Commons Attribution License.

The vitality determination by means of pO₂ increase constitutes an easy and functional approach for the quick evaluation of cyanobacterial cell states. The data shown for *Nostoc* sp. could reflect the growth behaviour in shaking flasks. Although this method can give no hints on specific cell damages as vital staining with different dyes does, it nevertheless can be used to predict the anticipatory cell growth. As the proof of concept was only presented for one strain, more data with different cyanobacteria would be interesting.

4.1.4 Spectral domain Optical Coherence Tomography (sdOCT) and Pulse Amplitude modulated (PAM)-fluorometry

In this chapter, two further non-invasive methods to characterize cyanobacterial growth are presented; the spectral domain optical coherence tomography (sdOCT) and pulse amplitude modulated (PAM)-fluorometry (Fig. 6). The growth behaviour under identical cultivation parameters can be seen as indicator for cell vitality. Cyanobacterial growth on surfaces can be measured by means of chlorophyll activity using a PAM-fluorometer (Imaging-PAM). A saturation pulse in the form of red light (620 nm) is given via the PAM fluorometer, which excites the chlorophyll molecules. This raises the electrons in the electron transport chain to a higher energy level. When the electrons fall back to their ground state, energy is released in the form of heat or radiation. This energy can also be used for photochemical processes. Accordingly, radiation is at its maximum, when the energy used for photochemical processes is at its minimum. The reaction centre of photosystem II can be inactivated, or the electron acceptors reduced by a short, strong flash of light, allowing the radiated heat to be measured [85]. The Imaging-Win software (Heinz Walz GmbH, Effeltrich, Germany) can be used to record the emitted radiation and thus determine the spread of the biofilm in two-dimensional space via the activity of the reaction centre (photosystem II). By this, it is possible to describe growth curves of surface-associated growing cyanobacteria in a short time (about 1 minute per plate of 5 colonies). The technique is thus applicable for the evaluation of cyanobacterial cell viability and cell vitality after cryopreservation, for example.



Fig. 6 Non-invasive methods for cell growth characterization as indicator for cell vitality by the example of *Nostoc* sp. (A) Area growth determined by chlorophyll-a fluorescence using PAM fluorometry over a cultivation period of 17 days. n_b (biological replicates) = 3 (B) Area growth in percent over cultivation time and correlation of area with cell dry weight (CDW). (C) Biofilm thickness measured using OCT over a cultivation period of 17 days. n_b = 3, n_t (technical replicates) = 30 (D) Biofilm thickness over cultivation time and correlation of biofilm thickness with cell dry weight (CDW). CUltivation parameters: Solid BG-11 medium, 24 °C, 100 μ mol_{photons} m⁻²s⁻¹, 400 ppm CO₂, 30 days, n_b = 3

In principle, the method relies on measuring the surface covered by cyanobacteria when growing attached to a surface as a biofilm, like on an agar plate. This is accomplished by measuring chlorophyll a emission when excited at 620 nm (**Fig. 6** A). Both, the fluorescence intensity, and the area from which fluorescence occurs can be measured. Only the absolute area is used to calculate growth. The areas can be reproducibly measured by defining fixed thresholds for fluorescence. The cyanobacterial growth is described as the increase in the

surface covered by the bacteria (Fig. 6 B). Typical growth phases of the biofilm area over the cultivation time could be reported [86]. The correlation between area and biomass was linear up to ten days, afterwards deviations between replicates increased (Fig. 6 B). This can be explained by the increasing biofilm thickness that can be determined using noninvasive sdOCT (Fig. 6 C). Here, the contrast is achieved by the different light scattering properties of the biofilm and thus provides information about its microstructure and thickness without any use of contrast agents [87]. A problem when using sdOCT to determine the layer thickness is that above a certain biofilm thickness (also depending on the pigment content), mutual shadowing occurs, and the biofilm cannot be completely imaged. In this case, it is no longer possible to distinguish between cavity and shadowing, which makes the evaluation of the data more difficult. Furthermore, it is not possible to distinguish between water deposits and biofilm as well as between cells and EPS [86]. Similar to the spreading of the biofilm, biofilm thickness could also not be linearly correlated with CDW meaning (see Fig. 6 D), real growth rates cannot be determined. This is probably because the ratio of biomass to EPS changes over the cultivation period (data not shown), which allows the biofilm to become thicker without forming cell mass. Furthermore, the thickness of the biofilm depends on the stored water in the EPS. Therefore, this method can be used to determine re- and dehydration of biofilms (Fig. 7). Biofilm thickness changes and the associated water loss of Nostoc sp. biofilms growing on borosilicate glass, PMMA and silicone at 24 °C and a relative humidity of 30 % (typical cultivation conditions in aerosolbased photobioreactors (description of the PBR see chapter 0) without aerosol supply) were documented by sdOCT (Fig. 7). To better compare the influence of different substrates on the dehydration of the biofilm, the respective half-lives were calculated at which the biofilm showed 50 % of its initial thickness. Respective values determined were 30.27 ± 7.26 min (borosilicate glass), 27.60 ± 5.13 min (PMMA) and 18.90 ± 6.70 min (silicone). In comparison, a water film reduced its thickness by 50 % after only 8 min (data not shown).



Fig. 7 De- and rehydration of *Nostoc* sp. biofilms. Dehydration was performed on different materials (borosilicate glass, PMMA, and silicone) and rehydration was only performed on silicone in an aerosol-based photobioreactor. The biofilm thickness was recorded by OCT at 24 °C and 30 % relative humidity and plotted as a percentage ($n_b = 5$).

This shows that EPS protects the biofilm from dehydration and that the change in layer thickness can be determined reliably and with low deviations using sdOCT. Based on the results obtained, sdOCT is suitable for visualizing the surface morphology and for dehydration and rehydration experiments of biofilms, assuming that no cavities are formed. Additional, growth curves can be used as additional information source to gain more information about the state of the cells. Furthermore, characterization of growth behaviour using PAM fluorometry or sdOCT under the same cultivation conditions can be applied to determine cell vitality and viability, since growth only occurs when the cells are viable and biomass formation depends on metabolism activity (cell vitality). Both methods are suitable for a fast und simple characterization of the surface-associated growth of cyanobacteria [86]. It should be mentioned again, that for the calculation of growth rates a linear correlation between horizontal spreading and CDW is essential, which is not possible with this method. However, sdOCT is suited for characterization of surface attached cyanobacteria and allows to obtain qualitative data on biofilm development and cell vitality.

4.2 Cell Viability

In contrast to cell vitality tests, viability assays can only superficially differentiate between living and dead cells. Intracellularly impaired or dying cells will still be identified as viable cells. However, such tests are fast and will give first quick indications about cell fitness. For more reliable data, time-consuming cell vitality assays need to be accomplished.

4.2.1 Staining Methods

In many cases, the number of living cells is used as an indicator for culture viability after cryopreservation. For this purpose, the cells are stained and evaluated by microscopy. In this process either only dead cells are stained, as the colorants can cross their damaged cell membrane, or only living cells are stained because of enzymatic activation of the dye. A staining approach addressing cell vitality by combining different stains was developed by Tashyreva *et al.* (2013). They used a series of different dyes to determine the physiological state of *Phormidium* cells. With SYTOX green, damaged cell membranes could be revealed; by staining with 4',6-diamidino-2- phenylindole (DAPI), degraded DNA was shown and with 2-(4-lodo-phenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-phenyltetrazolium chloride (INT) and 5- Cyano-2,3- Ditolyl Tetrazolium Chloride (CTC) the respiratory function of the cells could be verified.

There are several staining methods for cell viability testing established for bacteria, however, not all work for cyanobacteria. For example, it was found that propidium iodide, which is meant to stain only non-viable cells, also stained viable cells of filamentous cyanobacteria [88]. It was postulated that this is due to intracellular channels between the cells [89, 90]. In the following, compounds frequently used for viability staining of cyanobacteria are presented. Depending on the used substance, stained cells can be observed either via light, or fluorescence microscopy. The bisazo dye tryptan blue [54, 91] and the triphenylmethan compound erythrosine b [92] are staining agents detectable via light microscopy. Tryptan blue binds to proteins of cells with an impaired cell wall; the staining procedure takes 5 to 10 min [91]. Intact cell walls of viable cells are not permeative for the dye. A prolonged incubation should be avoided since tryptan is cytotoxic and can thus lead to false positive results. Moreover, this substance should be handled with care, as it is teratogenic [93] and carcinogenic [94]. Erythrosine b on the other hand is used as a food colouring and therefore a non-toxic compound. The staining process is as quick as with tryptan blue and it also acts on proteins of cells with damaged cell walls [95].

Fluorescein diacetate (FDA) [96–99] and SYTOX green are fluorescent stains frequently used for cyanobacteria [100–102]. FDA is a non-fluorescent molecule which can cross the bacterial cell membrane of living cells. Upon entering the cell the compound is hydrolized to the yellow-green fluorescent compound fluorescein, which can be detected under ultraviolet light [103]. It is often used in combination with propidium iodide, an analogon of ethidium bromide, which stains DNA of dead cells [97]. SYTOX green also acts as nucleic acid stain of cells with damaged plasma membranes [104]. It can be excited at 488 nm and emits light of 523 – 530 nm. However, just as propidium iodide, it was described as non-applicable for filamentous cyanobacteria [89].

5 Photobioreactors

Due to their diversity, cyanobacteria can be cultivated in many different ways. Heterotrophic cultivation in stainless steel fermenters, for example, is possible, although it has some disadvantages compared to phototrophic cultivation [105]. For example, there is a risk of contamination by adherent heterotrophic bacteria, which cannot be completely removed from the cultures even with complex isolation methods [106–108]. Another major advantage of phototrophic and mixotrophic cultivation is that CO₂ can be used as a carbon source. This not only allows the use of cheaper cultivation media, but is also of great interest, especially in the current times when global climate goals depend on a reduction of carbon dioxide emissions. Chapter 6 gives a more detailed view on the advantages of the different cultivation modes of cyanobacteria, with a focus on mixotrophic cultivation. Furthermore, the type of cultivation has an influence on the profile of the synthesised secondary metabolites, making some processes depended on photo-autotrophic growth. The systems for phototrophic cultivation can be divided into open and closed systems based on their design. Open systems in the form of open ponds are still the most commonly used form for large-scale cultivation. This is mainly due to the fact that they are cheap and easy to set up and operate. However, due to the open design, there is a high evaporation rate of water and additionally a risk of contamination. Furthermore, gas exchange is poor, leading to low biomass productivities, which in turn adds to the bad biomass to land ratio of such facilities. Therefore, open pond systems are not covered further here, instead this chapter is focussing on closed photobioreactors (PBR).

5.1 Closed photobioreactors (PBRs)

Closed systems have several advantages over open systems. The risk of contamination is significantly reduced, and the closed design enables more diverse construction options. This allows the surface area to volume ratio to be optimised, which is particularly important with regard to an optimal light supply for phototrophic organisms. As light is not dispersible, systems with a low surface area to volume ratio lead to inhomogeneous light distribution. A good compromise must be found here, as a large surface area to volume ratio automatically results in a large footprint of the reactor. The light can be supplied either as artificial or natural light and also the material of the PBR will heavily impact light intensities and quality due to different refractive indices. Optimized light supply significantly increases biomass productivity compared to open ponds. Furthermore, the use of resources such as water is also improved, as the problem of evaporation is eliminated. In this chapter, only a brief description of the different submerged PBR designs is given, as the focus here will be on biofilm reactors. The interested reader is referred to existing reviews in the literature [109–111].

The simplest form of a submerged PBR is the stirred tank, which due to its geometry offers poor light distribution and is therefore less suitable for phototrophic cultivation. Flat panel PBR are characterised by small depth, improving light supply. Beside these, there are multiple PBR designs based on tubular geometry. Vertical tubular PBR, are operated as a bubble column or airlift reactor and the mixing in these reactors can be controlled by adjusting the gassing rate. Horizontal tubular PBRs consist of tubes that can be arranged in different shapes and lengths. The horizontal arrangement simplifies the illumination by natural light [109]. However, submerged systems are not the optimal cultivation method, especially for biofilm-forming cyanobacteria, as they do not grow submerged by nature but surface-associated.

5.2 Attached (Biofilm) Cultivation of Cyanobacteria

Biofilm formation usually follows the following principle [110]: i) initial adhesion of cyanobacteria to the surface by adsorption (reversible), ii) adhesion by the formation of EPS (irreversible), iii) formation of EPS, iv) biofilm growth by attachment of additional cyanobacteria and organisms, and v) partial detachment of the biofilm due to loss of integrity. The formation of a biofilm and the resulting growth in this form can be utilised with the help of specially designed reactors. Cultivation in the form of biofilms can thus bring a multitude of advantages, like the potential of a reduced water to biomass ratio [112] and a reduction in costs compared to submerged PBRs. The reduced costs are the result of several factors. These include the already mentioned reduced water consumption as well as increased biomass production. Furthermore, the harvesting of cyanobacteria as biofilm is significantly simplified, since the biomass can, for example, simply be scraped off the surface and the separation of the biomass from the process water is much easier than for planktonic cultures. Depending on biofilm thickness, cells benefit from better light availability especially in the outer regions of the biofilm. The lower layers may become light limited if the biofilm is too thick, which can reduce the productivity of the cells in the biofilm [113]. This problem can be avoided by regular harvesting, which in turn is not a major problem if considered in the design of the reactor [114]. Another advantage of regular partial harvesting is a faster re-growth of the biofilm, which in turn can increase productivity [115]. A disadvantage of biofilm cultivation is the unwanted, spontaneous detachment of biofilm, which then continues to grow in the medium, or biofouling and clogging of the complete PBR system.

In the cultivation of biofilms, a distinction can be made between submerged systems, in which cultivation takes place in a liquid medium, and surface-associated systems, in which the biofilms grow air-exposed. These systems will be discussed separately in the following. Table 3 gives an overview on existing systems for biofilm cultivation attached to surfaces.

The table shows that most systems are aimed at either optimising biomass productivity or maximising the production of lipids, which can be used *e.g.* for the production of biofuels. In addition, the most important application is the treatment of wastewater, to remove high concentrations of pollutants, like nitrogen and phosphorus.

id to surfaces. (PBR – photopioreactor, NA – not	Growth Biomass Reference	surface productivity	(m²) (g m² day⁻¹)	0.125 6.70 – 7.20 [114]		0.54 49.10 [116]		0.54 50 - 80 [117]		0.046 1.7 [118]			0.077 – 10 [119]	0.538		10.72 0.6 - 1.8 [120]			
algae attach	Liquid	reservoir	()	I		I		I		I			I			1			
if cyanobacteria or micro:	Product			Removal of nitrogen	and phosphorous	Lipid and hydrocarbon	production	Lipids		Biomass			Lipid production,	removal of nitrogen	and phosphorous	Biomass			
bioreactors for the cultivation c	Cyanobacteria/Microalgae			Phormidium,	Pseudanabaena, Nitzschia, Scenedesmus	Botryococcus braunii		Scenedesmus obliquus		Coleofasciculus	chtonoplastes, Nostoc sp.		Scenedesmus sp.			Isochrysis sp., Tetraselmis	suecica, Phaeodactylum	tricornutum,	Nannochloropsis sp.
i different Photol	Biofilm	placement		Air-exposed		Air-exposed		Air-exposed		Air-exposed			Air-exposed			Air-exposed			
Table 3: Comparison of applicable)	Reactor			Vertical PBR		Multiple plates PBR		Multiple layer vertical	plate attached PBR	Multi-skin sheet	emerse PBR	(MSSePBR)	Capillary-driven PBR	(CPBR)		Twin-layer PBR			

Reactor	Biofilm placement	Cyanobacteria/Microalgae	Product	Liquid reservoir (I)	Growth surface (m²)	Biomass productivity (g m ⁻² day- ¹)	Reference
Biofilm cultivation system	Air-exposed	Haematococcus pluvialis	Optimization of water footprint		0.001	6.0	[121]
Attached biofilm reactor	Air-exposed	Pseudochlorococcum	Biomass		0.00025	6 - 8	[122]
Emerse PBR (ePBR)	Air-exposed	Nostoc sp.	Biomass and EPS		0.0025	2.4	[123]
Twin-layer system	Air-exposed	Halochlorella rubescens	Removal of nitrogen and phosphorous		NA	6.3	[124]
Attached PBR	Air-exposed	Scenedesmus sp.	Removal of NH₄Cl, CuSO₄, tertracycline, norfloxacin and sulfadimidine		NA	6.2	[125]
Fixed-bed biofilm reactor (FBR)	Air-exposed	Chlamydomonas sp.	Biomass, removal of nitrogen, phosphorous and Cu(II)	1	8. O	49.70	[126]
Horizontal flow lanes	Intermittently submerged	Phormidium, Pseudanabaena, Nitzschia, Scenedesmus	Removal of nitrogen and phosphorous	1	0.140	4.50 - 9.90	[114]

Reactor	Biofilm placement	Cyanobacteria/Microalgae	Product	Liquid reservoir (I)	Growth surface (m²)	Biomass productivity (g m² day ⁻¹)	Reference
Revolving algal biofilm (RAB)	Intermittently submerged	Chlorella vulgaris	Biomass		2.94 or 1.85	18.90	[127]
Rotating algal biofilm reactor (RABR)	Intermittently submerged	Mixed algal culture	Removal of nitrogen and phosphorous	8 535 8000	0,24 2,72 4,26	5,50 20,00 31,00	[128]
Rotating biological contactor (RBC)	Intermittently submerged	Chlorella sorokiniana	Biomass	5	0.362	20.1	[129]
Photorotating biological contactor (PRBC)	Intermittently submerged	Klebsormidium sp.	Biomass	1 3	1.57	0.45	[130]
Rotating biological contactor (RBC)	Intermittently submerged	Mixed algal culture	Treatment of aqueous effluent containing diesel oil	4	0.83	NA	[131]
Rotating flat plate (RFP) PBR	Intermittently submerged	Chlorella vulgaris	Biomass, lipids	ω	0.286	2.99	[132]
Rotating algal biofilm reactor (RABR)	Intermittently submerged	Mixed algal culture	Removal of wastewater nutrients, lipid production	ω	٩	0.96	[133]

Parallel plate air lift Subm (PPAL)	Jerged			reservoir (I)	surface (m²)	productivity (g m ⁻² day ⁻¹)	
		S. obliquss, C. vulgaris, Coccomyxa sp., Nannochloris sp., Nitschia palea, Oocystis sp., Oocystis polymorpha	Lipids	-1 5	0.064	1.10 - 2.08	[134]
Biofilm membrane Subm PBR (BMPBR)	nerged	Chlorella vulgaris	Secondary effluent treatment	280	1	NA	[135]
Attached algal Subm culture system	nerged	Mixed algal culture	Fatty acids production, removal of nitrogen and phosphorous	0.2	0.0136	0.58 - 2.57	[115]
Attached algal Subm cultivation	nerged	<i>Scenedesmus, Chlorella,</i> <i>Pediastrum, Nitzschia,</i> <i>Cosmarium,</i> filamentous microalgae and others	Lipids	8000	33.1	9.10	[136]
Semi-continuous flat Subm plate parallel horizontal PBR	nerged	Scenedesmus obliquus, Nitzschia palea	Lipids	0.288	0.072	2.1 – 2.8	[137]
Algae biofilm PBR Subm	nerged	Botryococcus braunii	Lipids	AN	0.275	0.71	[112]

Reactor	Biofilm placement	Cyanobacteria/Microalgae	Product	Liquid reservoir (I)	Growth surface (m²)	Biomass productivity (g m² ¹)	Reference
Moving bed PBR	Submerged	Nostoc sp.	Biomass	65	11.26	NA	[138]
Roof-installed parallel plate microalgae biofilm reactor	Submerged	Scenedesmus obliquus	Wastewater treatment	ى ب	0.5	2.5	[139]
Algal turf scrubber	Submerged	Mixed algal culture	Removal of nitrogen, phosphorous and chemical oxygen demand	200	-	5.0	[140]
Horizontal flat panel (HFP) PBR	Submerged	Mixed algal culture	Removal of phosphorous	AN	7	12.21	[141]
Algal biofilm reactor (ABR)	Submerged	Chlorella, Phormidium	Biomass	с	0.063	4.0	[142]
Algal turf scrubber (ATS)	Submerged	Mixed algal culture	Phosphorous removal	ı	2.67	33 - 39	[143]
Biofilm capillary reactor	Submerged	Synechocystis sp.	Biomass	NA	AN	NA	[144]
Attached PBR	Submerged	Mixed algal culture	Biomass, nutrient removal	15	0.171	1.57 – 1.91	[145]

Reactor	Biofilm placement	Cyanobacteria/Microalgae	Product	Liquid reservoir (I)	Growth surface (m²)	Biomass productivity (g m ⁻² day ⁻¹)	Reference
Tubular biofilm PBR	Submerged	Chlorella sorokiniana	Removal of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous	7,5	.	Ϋ́	[146]
Algal-based immobilization reactor	Submerged	Scenedesmus	Removal of nitrogen and phosphorous	96	Ч	Ϋ́	[147]

5.3 (Partly-)Submerged Biofilm PBRs

The reactor systems for submerged or partly-submerged cultivation of biofilms can be further divided (see **Fig. 8**). One possible classification is into fixed bed, in which the biofilm grows on a fixed surface, and fluidised bed reactors, in which the support material behaves like a fluid. The fixed bed can be further subdivided into vertical, horizontal and rotating reactors, depending on the orientation of the support material. For fluidised bed reactors, a further distinction can be made between mobilised and immobilised systems [148]. A further possible division of (partly-)submerged biofilm PBRs is the distinction between dynamic and stationary systems, whereby dynamic systems include all reactors in which the substratum is moved [149]. This categorisation of reactors is also applied here.



Fig. 8 Classification of (biofilm) photobioreactors

5.4 Dynamic Systems

Dynamic biofilm PBRs are defined by the surface on which the biofilm is cultivated and thus also the biofilm itself is moved in the medium. The movement serves to simulate natural growth conditions, for example by imitating the tide. Furthermore, in systems where the biofilm is not constantly submerged, the gas exchange can be improved. In the attached algal culture system, the supporting material, *e.g.* made from polystyrene foam, is located on the bottom of a growth chamber, which is fixed on a rocking mechanism (see Figure 9 A) [115]. The growth chamber is shaken gently by 15° via the horizontal axis and illumination is continuous with 110 - 120 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ from the top. Manure wastewater is used as medium. Harvesting is accomplished by scraping the biofilm off the surface. Another dynamic biofilm PBR is the rotating biological contactor (see **Fig. 9** B) [131]. The applied RBC consist of 27 acrylic discs mounted on a PVC shaft, which serve as growth substratum. 35% of the respective disc surface is submerged in the cultivation medium. Due to the rotation of the discs with the biofilm, it is only temporarily submerged and otherwise exposed to the air. The rotating algal biofilm reactor (RABR) [128] is based on the same principle. Instead of individual disks, it has a rotating tube supporting the growth substratum. Another

design consists of a paddle wheel, in which the paddles are made of the supporting material. In both designs, the respective growth surfaces were 40 % submerged. Compared to suspended cultures, the RABR achieved higher biomass productivity, which was increased from 7,4 g m⁻² d⁻¹ in suspended cultivation to 20 - 31 g m⁻² d⁻¹ in the RABR. Hodges *et al.* [150] also used the RABR described by Christenson and Sims [128] to remove solids from petrochemical wastewater. They observed a significant increase of solids removal and biomass productivity compared to open pond experiments. Another dynamic system for increasing biomass productivity combined with facilitated harvesting is the Revolving Algal Biofilm (RAB) cultivation system [127]. In this reactor, the supporting material is stretched around drive shafts in the form of a flexible mat. Different geometries can be achieved by a triangular or a vertical arrangement of the drive shafts, whereby higher productivity is achieved with the latter. Only the lower drive shaft and thus only a small part of the surface is submerged in the medium. On a pilot-scale, biomass productivity with the RAB was increased by 302 % compared to a classic raceway pond (8.5 m²). Walther et al. [138] developed a submerged biofilm reactor based on a moving bed bioreactor. The carriers were made of high-density polyethylene (HDPE) with a size of 1 - 5 cm. The glass reactor has a volume of 65 litres and mixing is achieved by gassing at the bottom. To avoid dead zones, an inclined plate is installed next to the gassing unit. A cultivation of Nostoc sp. was successfully carried out in the reactor.

5.5 Stationary Systems

In stationary biofilm cultivation systems, the supporting material and thus also the biofilm is fixed in place. The only movement is caused by the flow of the medium over the biofilm. The substratum can be arranged in the form of vertical plates, as is the case in the parallel plate air lift (PPAL) reactor according to Genin et al. [134]. The reactor consists of a glass chamber with a volume of 15 l, in which two vertical plates made of acrylic glass are located. Various supporting materials can be attached to these plates. The gas supply is located at the bottom of the reactor and between the two plates. The lighting is provided from the side. The multi-layered photobioreactor (MLPR) consists of several alternating layers of cell suspension layers and transparent medium layers, separated only by membranes [151]. The incident light is diffused by the medium layers and thus evenly distributed in the MLPR, providing illumination over a larger area. A simpler vertical system for attached cultivation was used by Lee et al. [136]. In this system, the attaching material was suspended in the form of several rectangular nylon meshes in a raceway pond, so that the flow runs across the length of the mesh. Lee et al. compared growth directly with a suspended culture and achieved a 2.8-fold increase in biomass and total lipid productivity in the attached system. In addition to a vertical arrangement, a horizontal one is of course also conceivable, such as in the flow lane biofilm reactor [114]. This consists of horizontal channels of different depths. The medium flows over the biofilm by itself due to a slight tilt of the reactor. The lighting is also provided from above. Boelee et al. simulated a wave effect by pouring the medium at regular intervals from a reservoir. The algae biofilm photobioreactor (see Fig 9 E) by Ozkan et al. [112] also relies on the independent flow of the medium through a slight negative slope. The reactor consists of a concrete plate that serves as a growth surface. The medium is fed at the highest point and collected and recirculated at the lower end. Schnurr et al. [137] use a flow forced by pumps in their semi-continuous flat plate parallel horizontal PBR. This allows them to precisely adjust the flow velocity and thus also the shear stress for the biofilm. The reactor consists of 18 small parallel PBR's, which are all operated with the same parameters. A system based neither on vertical nor horizontal flat growth surfaces is described by Gao et al. [135] in the form of a biofilm membrane PBR. As substratum, flexible fibre bundles were used. They were completely submerged in the medium. The fibres are submerged in a 0.5 m deep reactor made of plexiglass and the lighting is provided from the outside. In the biofilm capillary reactor (see Fig. 9 F) [144], the medium is transported by capillary forces through a thin reaction chamber with the biofilm on its inner surface. A segmented flow can be used to alternately supply the biofilm with medium and air.

5.6 Air-exposed Biofilm PBRs

Air-exposed cultivation of biofilms in reactors is not as well studied as submerged cultivation, but in recent years it has become increasingly popular. Especially for terrestrial cyanobacteria, this type of cultivation is advantageous, as their natural habitat is imitated. The supply of media can be carried out primarily in two ways: i) supply via a liquid medium, which is available to the biofilm on one side, while the other side of the biofilm is exposed to air and ii) supply via a nutrient mist (aerosol). The first type includes a multiple layer vertical plate PBR described by Liu et al. [117], for example. The supporting material consists of filter paper fixed on glass. The medium is passed through the filter paper, so that the biofilm grows exposed to the air on the outside, which optimises gas exchange and light absorption. The light is diluted between the individual surfaces, which are arranged in an array fashion. The same reactor was also used by Cheng et al. [116] and in addition in a horizontal arrangement. The biomass productivity of the vertical multi-layer PBR was about 10 times higher than in the horizontal reactor. A simpler construction of an airexposed biofilm reactor was shown by Boelee et al. [114]. A vertical plate made of different layers of geotextiles serves as substratum. Nutrients were supplied by continuously adding the liquid medium to the biofilm at the upper edge. Cultivation was carried out with continuous illumination. Harvesting can be done in this reactor by simply scraping the biofilm from the surface. Xu et al. [119] used a capillary-driven PBR (CPBR) consisting of polyester microfibers that were vertically attached in bundles. The lower end was placed in

the medium, which was distributed over the fibres by capillary forces. The illumination was from above and the biofilm grows completely exposed to air. Porous substrate bioreactors (PSBRs) (see Fig. 9 C) are another alternative for the emerse cultivation of biofilms [152]. The biofilm grows on a porous substrate, which on the one hand serves as a barrier to the liquid medium and as a growth surface, but on the other hand also allows the transport of water and nutrients. Scherer et al. [118] developed a multi-skin sheet PBR for the emerse cultivation of terrestrial cyanobacteria as biofilm. The design was optimised for later application in facades. In this case, nutrients are supplied via an aerosol. The biomass productivity could be increased in comparison to suspended cultures. The emerse photobioreactor (ePBR) (see Fig. 9 D) developed by Kuhne et al. [153] and further improved by Strieth et al. [123, 154] is an aerosol-based PBR specifically designed for the cultivation of terrestrial cyanobacteria. The ePBR was fully characterised in terms of aerosol distribution to ensure optimal nutrient supply. Through the optimisation, the biomass formation of Nostoc sp. could be almost tripled. An influence of the surface on the growth of the biofilms with regard to biomass productivity could not be observed. Another version of the ePBR is the hexagonal ePBR developed by Stiefelmaier et al. [155] which differs in its geometry.



Fig. 9 Overview of Biofilm Photobioreactors. A: Attached algal culture system with a rocking mechanism (modified from Johnson and Wen 2010 [115]), B: Rotating biological contactor (RBC) (modified according to Mukherji and Chavan 2012 [131]), C: Porous substrate bioreactor (PSBR) (modified according to Podola *et al.* 2017 [152]), D: Emerse Photobioreactor (ePBR) (modified according to Strieth *et al.*, 2021 [7]), E: Algal biofilm photobioreactor system (modified according to Ozkan *et al.* 2012 [112]), F: Biofilm capillary reactor (modified according to Heuschkel *et al.* 2019 [144]).

6 Cultivation Modes of Cyanobacteria

Among the prokaryotes, cyanobacteria are the only organisms that are capable of oxygenic photosynthesis. Just as algae and higher plants, cyanobacteria also possess photosystems I and II. However, in difference to plants, photosynthesis and cell respiration can be performed simultaneously at the thylakoids [156]. Moreover, the CO₂ fixation efficiency is 10 to 50-fold higher than in plants [157]. Besides using CO₂ as sole source of carbon and energy, many cyanobacteria can also metabolize organic carbon sources, like glucose. In cyanobacteria, all known glycolytic pathways could be identified [158]. Carbohydrates can be metabolized via the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway (OPP), the Entner-Doudoroff (ED) pathway [159], as well as via the phosphoketolase- [160] and the Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas (EMP) pathway. All pathways eventually result in acetyl-CoA, which enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. In the past, it was assumed that cyanobacteria possess an incomplete TCA cycle, missing the α -ketoglutarate-dehydrogenase [161]. However, through synthesis of a 2-oxoglutarate decarboxylase and a succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase, which were first identified in Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002, the cycle is closed. These two enzymes catalyse the conversion of 2-oxoglutarate to succinate, with succinate semialdehyde as intermediate product [162] (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10 Schematic diagram of the citric acid cycle in cyanobacteria. SSADH, succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase; 2-OGDC, 2-oxoglutarate decarboxylase; 2-OGDH, 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase. Modified according to Zhang & Bryant, 2011 [161].

Moreover, the γ -aminobutyrate (GABA) shunt, which catalyses the conversion of glutamate to succinate, also contributes to a fully functional TCA cycle [163].

The mixotrophic cultivation of cyanobacteria confers great advantages over phototrophic cultivation. Several studies report that many cyanobacteria show a clearly enhanced growth if an organic carbon source is concomitantly applied with light. However, many cyanobacterial strains are contaminated with heterotrophic bacteria or fungal species. These organisms start growing when an organic carbon source is provided. For an estimation of contaminant share in cyanobacterial cultures, Walther *et al.* developed a qPCR method, which enables a differentiation between cyanobacterial cells and those of heterotrophic bacterial contaminants by means of specific DNA primers [164]. They could show that heterotrophic cultivation of the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Nostoc* sp. (formerly referred to as *Trichocoleus sociatus*) does not lead to a high concentration of contaminant cells. The cdw partition of *Nostoc* sp. shortly dropped to 90 % after two days of cultivation and quickly rose again to about 100 % of total cdw [164]. Similar results were shown for heterotrophic batch, mixotrophic batch and mixotrophic fed-batch cultivations of *Nostoc* sp.
and *Desmonostoc muscorum* (formerly referred to as *Nostoc muscorum*) with different carbon sources [165].

By addition of 0.5 g l⁻¹ glucose, *Spirulina* sp. reached growth rates of >0.05 h⁻¹, compared to >0.02 h⁻¹ at photoautotrophic conditions [166]. It was simultaneously observed that photoinhibition, which occurred from approximately 30 W m⁻² (approx. 138 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹) in autotrophic cultures, was completely unascertainable at mixotrophic conditions. By addition of glucose to the cultivation medium, light intensities of 50 W m⁻² (approx. 230 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹) could be applied. Above this value, growth could not be further increased, but also no drop in growth rates was noticed [166]. Similar results could be obtained with the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Nostoc* sp. (**Fig. 11**, this work).



Fig. 11 Growth rates of *Nostoc* sp., phototrophic/mixotrophic cultivation (2.5 g L⁻¹ raffinose), as function of light intensity. BG-11 medium, pH 7, t = 2 days, T = 27 $^{\circ}$ C, n =120 rpm, N= 5.

At mixotrophic cultivation, a linear growth rate increase between 1.5 and 100 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ was measured. At higher light intensities, a plateau was reached. In solely phototrophic cultures, photoinhibition at light intensities over 100 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ was noticed. This effect is caused by an excessive photon flux in the cell, which cannot be consumed by the Calvin-Benson-Basham (CBB) cycle. These electrons react with water molecules and form cell damaging hydrogen peroxide [166]. It has been suggested that dissolved carbohydrates have a protective impact against photoinhibition [166, 167]. Moreover, addition of carbon sources protects the cells from photoinhibition by significantly diminishing the chlorophyll content [168].

Schwarz *et al.* tested growth of two terrestrial cyanobacteria, *Nostoc* sp. and *Desmonostoc muscorum*, under phototrophic, heterotrophic and mixotrophic conditions [165]. The latter cultivation mode was also tested in combination with fed-batch cultivation. Especially *Nostoc* sp. showed significantly increased growth with fructose, glucose, galactose and raffinose

(0.25 % w/v respectively), when the cells were once again supplied with the respective organic carbon source after five days of cultivation. By addition of raffinose, a cell dry weight (cdw) of 1.32 g l⁻¹ at heterotrophic cultivation and 1.49 g l⁻¹ at mixotrophic cultivation could be reached after already two days of cultivation. This is 1.9/2.1 times more cdw than by phototrophic cultivation. *Nostoc* sp. showed very promising growth under hetero-/mixotrophic conditions with glucose or raffinose, further experiments with different concentrations of organic C-source and de-/increased light intensity were done for this subchapter (**Fig. 12**).



Fig. 12 Growth behaviour of *Nostoc* sp. in BG-11 medium at different light intensities and raffinose (**A**, **C**), or glucose concentrations (**B**, **D**). Initial pH 7, M1 = mixotrophic $c_{C-source} = 2,5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, $E_v = 5 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, M2 = mixotrophic $c_{C-source} = 2,5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, $E_v = 200 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, M3 = mixotrophic $c_{C-source} = 50 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, $E_v = 5 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, P1 = phototrophic, $E_v = 5 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, P1 = phototrophic, $E_v = 5 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, P1 = heterotrophic $c_{C-source} = 2,5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, H2 = heterotrophic, $E_v = 200 \mu \text{mol}_{\text{photons}} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, H1 = heterotrophic $c_{C-source} = 2,5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, H2 = heterotrophic $c_{C-source} = 50 \text{ g L}^{-1}$. CWM = cell wet mass. Cultivation parameters: t = 14 days, T = 27 °C, n = 120 \text{ rpm}, N = 3, phototrophic/mixotrophic L:D 24:0.

Not surprisingly, phototrophic growth increased along with an increase of light intensity from 5 (**Fig. 12** A/B; P1) to 200 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ (P2). In case of raffinose, this effect can also

be observed at mixotrophic conditions, although the effect is much more significant (Fig. 12 A; M1, M2). However, an interesting difference to mixotrophic cultivation with glucose can be noticed in Fig. 12 B. Here, the increase of light intensity shows the opposite effect. While at 5 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹, a cell wet mass (cwm) of about 150 g l⁻¹ was reached, at 200 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ only about 80 g l⁻¹ were obtained. In **Fig. 12** C it can be seen that *Nostoc* sp. possesses a high affinity for the metabolization of the trisaccharide raffinose. Moreover, the added concentration seems to be a crucial factor for growth. While at 2.5 g l⁻¹ raffinose (**Fig. 12** C, H1) a growth rate of 0.217 d⁻¹ and a maximum cwm of about 40 g l⁻¹ was reached, an addition of 50 g L⁻¹ (**Fig. 12** C, H2) resulted in a growth rate of 0.34 d⁻¹ and a preliminary maximum cwm of > 180 g l^{-1} after 14 days of cultivation. *Nostoc* sp. showed slightly poorer growth with 5 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity and constant raffinose supply (**Fig. 12** C, M3). The opposite can be observed in Fig. 12 D. As Nostoc sp. seems to have a lower affinity for the metabolization of glucose, and mixotrophic growth is thus preferred, a supply of light with 5 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ and simultaneous addition of 50 g l⁻¹ glucose (**Fig. 12** D, M3) results in an about 20 g L⁻¹ higher cwm compared to solely heterotrophic cultivation with the same glucose concentration.

The noticed differences between cultivation of *Nostoc* sp. with raffinose or glucose could be explained by consideration of the molecular structure of the two carbohydrates. While glucose is a simple monosaccharide, raffinose constitutes a trisaccharide composed of glucose, galactose and fructose. As such, it possesses a relatively high molecular weight of 594.5 g/ml and an entrance into the cyanobacterial cell by diffusion is highly unlikely. As a consequence, it must either be extracellularly degraded, or imported by an active transport system. The first possibility includes the energy consuming synthesis and export of specialized enzymes, without a previously transmitted signal for transcription of the corresponding genes. The second option implies an active transport over the cell membrane. Although no specific raffinose transporter has been described in cyanobacteria so far, a number of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) type transporter systems have been identified. In Anabaena sp. ATCC 29413, the uptake of fructose is conferred by such a system (frtABC) [169] just like in Nostoc sp. ATCC 29133 [170]. The genome of Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 contains genes coding for an ABC transporter that is responsible for the export of polysaccharides and thus for the development of exopolysaccharide layers [171]. Consequently, the import of raffinose could indeed be granted by an ATP-dependent ABC transporter in Nostoc sp. In phototrophically grown cells, ATP is synthesized by the electron transport chain which powers the ATP-synthase. At low light intensity, while only small amounts of ATP are produced, less of these nucleotides can be spent on the transport of raffinose. This could explain the effects seen in Fig. 12 A, M1. By application of higher light intensities, more energy can be delivered and raffinose gets imported and degraded in higher amounts **Fig. 12** A, M2. However, these explanations alone cannot explain the data shown in **Fig. 12** C. By supply of higher raffinose concentrations (50 g L⁻¹, M3), *Nostoc* sp. cells show a significantly better growth compared to **Fig. 12** A, M1, despite of only 5 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity. This can be explained by a signal cascade, triggered by the increased carbohydrate availability in the culture medium and a consequent release of extracellularly enzymes with α -galactosidase activity. A thermostable glycosidase that also shows galactosidase activity was found in the extracellular matrix of *Nostoc commune* [172]. The resulting degradation products galactose and sucrose could enter the cell through permeases, or TonB- dependent transporters [173, 174] and promote the significantly improved growth seen in Figure 12 **C**.

In further studies regarding mixotrophic growth of cyanobacteria, cells of *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* were cultivated with addition of different carbohydrates (5 g L⁻¹, respectively; **Fig. 13**).



Fig. 13 Growth rates of *C. cubana* in BG-11 medium enriched with different carbon sources. Initial pH 7. $E_v = 160 \ \mu mol_{photons} \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$, $c_{C-source} = 5 \ g \ L^{-1}$, $t = 13 \ days$, $T = 30 \ ^{\circ}C$, $n = 120 \ rpm$, N = 3, phototrophic/mixotrophic L:D 24:0.

The presented results show that *C. cubana* is capable of metabolizing a wide range of carbohydrates. As seen in the growth assays with *Nostoc* sp., this terrestrial cyanobacterium also shows a significantly enhanced growth at mixotrophic conditions, compared to solely phototrophic cultivation. By supplementation of almost each organic carbon source, growth rates could be at least doubled (**Fig. 13**). As the highest amount of biomass could be gained by cultivation with fructose, further experiments for growth optimization were performed with this monosaccharide.

The reduction of light supply, or the application of light-dark-periods, can significantly diminish cultivation costs. In **Fig 12** it was shown that in some cases lower light intensities can even improve cyanobacterial cell growth when combined with mixotrophic growth. This phenomenon was also observed in cultivations with *C. cubana* (**Fig. 14**).



Fig. 14 Growth rates of *C. cubana* in BG-11 medium with different carbon sources and under alternating light intensities. Initial pH 7. $E_v = 60/160 \ \mu mol_{photons} \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$, $c_{-source} = 5 \ g \ L^{-1}$, $t = 13 \ days$, T = 30 °C, n = 120 rpm, N = 3, phototrophic/mixotrophic L:D 24:0.

While *C. cubana* only shows slight growth differences at different light intensities under solely phototrophic conditions, significant growth rate alterations were determined in mixotrophic cultivations. By decreasing the light intensity from 160 to 60 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹, a growth rate increase of 15.8 % was measured for fructose; for glucose, an increase of even 25 % was observed. How can these observations be explained? Under phototrophic conditions, NADPH is generated through the photosynthetic electron transport between photosystems II and I at the thylakoid membrane. The NADPH is needed for carbon fixation in the CBB cycle. Under mixotrophic conditions, NAD(P)H can also be gained through several glycolytic pathways. The most abundantly used is the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway (OPP), which can generate 5.33 NAD(P)H per molecule of glucose [158]. This pathway can be upregulated under light limiting conditions [175]. As a result, organic carbohydrates are metabolized much more effectively, which causes an improved growth at lower light intensities. Consequently, mixotrophic cultivation of cyanobacteria does not only lead to enhanced cell growth, but also to upregulation of glycolytic pathways under certain cultivation conditions.

In recent literature, there are several promising examples of cyanobacterial bioprocesses, where a heterotrophic or mixotrophic cultivation mode greatly increased product yields (**Table 4**). Apparently, not only a general biomass productivity increase could be demonstrated for different strains, but also a significant enhancement of process productivity concerning different target products. This was, *e.g.*, found for biopolymers as poly- β -hydroxybutyrate (PHB) and the co-polymer Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) [P(3HB-co-3HV)], produced by *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 [176] and *Nostoc muscorum* Agardh [176], respectively. With *Synechocystis*, the addition of 0.4 % acetate to a culture pre-grown in BG-11 supplemented with 0.1 % glucose, led to a 29 % higher PHB accumulation (w/w dry cell mass), compared to phototrophically grown cells. In case of *Nostoc muscorum*, a supplementation with 0.4 % (w/v) fructose, glucose or acetate led to a respective share of 19.2 %, 26 % and 28 % of total dry cell weight, compared to only 8.4 % in the phototrophic control.

Mixotrophic cultivation also showed a positive impact on the production of the phycobiliprotein phycocyanin with *Spirulina platensis* [177]. Through implementation of a fed-batch process with glucose (2 g L⁻¹), the maximum biomass concentration could be increased from 2 g L⁻¹ to 10.2 g L⁻¹ and the maximum phycocyanin production rose from 280 to 795 mg L⁻¹.

A more recent study dealt with the maximisation of *Leptolyngbya subtilis* JUCHE1 cell lipid concentration and lipid productivity for the production of biofuels [178]. Under photoheterotrophic (mixotrophic) conditions of 2.5 kLux (approx. 88 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹) light illumination and a glycerol concentration equivalent to 5 % (v/v) CO₂, a maximum lipid productivity of 0.0702 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ could be obtained – a 4.66-fold higher value than by solely phototrophic cultivation. This study could also show that not only biomass formation was enhanced by mixotrophic cultivation (1.47-fold), but also particularly the lipid productivity.

Through genetic engineering of *Synechococcus elongatus* PCC 7942, Kanno *et al.* (2016) managed to greatly improve glucose utilization under concomitant light supply [179]. The modifications in glycolytic pathways and the calvin benson cycle led to a 2,3-butanediol production rate of 1.1 g l⁻¹ d⁻¹. The theoretical maximum yield, obtainable from solely glucose, was significantly exceeded by 36 %, suggesting actual mixotrophic growth with concurrent metabolization of an organic and an inorganic carbon source. Under diurnal conditions, a theoretical maximum yield increase of even 95 % was reached. These results impressively show what mixotrophic cultivation can achieve when combined with metabolic engineering strategies. Such attempts could eventually lead to an industrially relevant use of cyanobacteria in diverse biotechnological production processes.

Strain	Product	Cultivation mode	C-source (conc.)	Max product yield [g L ⁻¹]	Yield increase [%]	Literature
Arthrospira platensis	Biomass	Mixotrophic/Fed-batch	Acetate (387 mg L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	1.769	39	[180]
Spirulina platensis	Biomass	Mixotrophic/Batch	Molasses (0.75 g L ⁻¹)	2.94	n.a.	[181]
<i>Synechocystis</i> sp. PCC 6803	PHB	Mixotrophic/Batch	Acetate (0.4 %)	29 (% w/w)	29	[176]
Spirulina platensis	Phycocyanin	Mixotrophic/Fed-batch	Glucose (2 g L ⁻¹)	0.795	284	[177]
Nostoc flagelliforme	Biomass	Mixotrophic/Heterotrophic/ Batch	Glucose (2.53 g L ⁻¹)	1.67/0.731	499/218	[182]
<i>Anabaena</i> sp. PCC 7120	Biomass	Mixotrophic	Glucose (18 g L ⁻¹)	3.1	451	[183]
Nostoc muscorum	PHB/	Mixotrophic/Batch	Acetate/Fructose/	0.13/0.145/0.165	283/315/359	[184]
Agardh	P(3HB-co- 3HV)		Glucose (0.2 - 0.6 %)			
Leptolyngbya subtilis	Lipids	Mixotrophic/Batch	Glycerol	56 (% w/w)	448	[178]
Synechococcus	2,3-	Mixotrophic/Batch	Glucose (15 g L ⁻¹)	12.6	95	[179]
elongatus PCC 7942	butanediol					

Table 4 Examples for cyanobacterial bioprocesses enhanced by mixotrophic/heterotrophic cultivation

The examples show that the great metabolic versatility of cyanobacteria allows a variety of possible cultivation modes. For many cyanobacterial strains, mixotrophic cultivation is described to yield the highest densities in cell mass. But solely heterotrophic processes as well show very promising results. These also have the significant advantage that cheap carbohydrates can be used in combination with regular, non-illuminated bioreactors. Cyanobacteria are potentially able to metabolize a wide range of carbohydrates. Consequently, it might be worth to test several organic carbon sources prior to coping with low cell densities in phototrophic cultivation.

7 Conclusion

Cyanobacteria offer great chances for biotechnical processes and gain more and more attention. Novel in silico screening possibilities and an increasing availability of sequenced genomes open new doors for genome mining attempts and lead to the detection of valuable bioactive metabolites. For a save conservation of specific strain characteristics, cryoconservation should be considered for long time storage of cyanobacteria. Contrary to common opinions, many strains are capable to survive the process, if the right cryoprotectant and -protocol is used. For a cell condition evaluation, a variety of vitality and viability tests can be chosen. As a cell viability confirmation does not necessarily result into growing cells, a vitality assay should be considered to prevent cultivation failures. These tests do not mandatorily require high-tech hardware - the determination of cell vitality by resazurin-assay, or by means of pO₂ increase, can be conducted in a quick, easy and economic way. Because of their unique chacteristics, cyanobacteria often require specialized methods and cultivation conditions. This can be challenging, but also led and leads to the development of intriguing photobioreactor systems. In this chapter, a special focus was placed on the relatively new and heterogenous group of biofilm-based cultivation systems. By an improved light supply through lower self-shading of the cells and optimal conditions for biofilm producing terrestrial cyanobacteria, the productivity could be strongly improved, and expensive cell harvest steps can be avoided. Together with the promising mixotrophic cultivation attempts, these systems could be a way to overcome the commonly low productivity rates of cyanobacteria and to prepare the ground for industrial applications.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by funding from the State of Rhineland-Palatinate (project "iProcess" and the "Forschungsinitiative Rheinland-Pfalz"), the DFG (project STR1650/1-1), the Carl-Zeiss-Foundation, the TU Nachwuchsring and Forschungsinitiative Rheinland-Pfalz: "NanoKat - Nanostrukturierte Katalysatoren - Systeme für den Rohstoffwandel".

8 References

- 1. Jering A, Klatt A, Seven J, et al (2013) Globale Landflächen und Biomasse nachhaltig und ressourcenschonend nutzen. Umweltbundesamt, Germany
- 2. Kyriakou V, Garagounis I, Vourros A, et al (2020) An electrochemical haber-bosch process. Joule 4:142–158. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2019.10.006
- 3. Robertson GP, Dale VH, Doering OC, et al (2008) Sustainable biofuels redux. Science 322:49–50. https://doi.org/0.1126/science.1161525
- 4. Tamaru Y, Takani Y, Yoshida T, Sakamoto T (2005) Crucial Role of Extracellular Polysaccharides in Desiccation and Freezing Tolerance in the Terrestrial Cyanobacterium *Nostoc commune*. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:7327–7333. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.11.7327
- 5. Morris JJ, Schniter E (2018) Black Queen markets: commensalism, dependency, and the evolution of cooperative specialization in human society. J Bioecon 20:69–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10818-017-9263-x
- 6. Kollmen J, Strieth D (2022) The Beneficial Effects of Cyanobacterial Co-Culture on Plant Growth. Life 12:1–21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/life12020223
- 7. Strieth D, Di Nonno S, Stiefelmaier J, et al (2021) Co-cultivation of diazotrophic terrestrial cyanobacteria and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Eng Life Sci 21:126–136. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.202000068
- Choi SY, Sim SJ, Ko SC, et al (2020) Scalable Cultivation of Engineered Cyanobacteria for Squalene Production from Industrial Flue Gas in a Closed Photobioreactor. J Agric Food Chem 68:10050–10055. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c03133
- 9. Wang B, Lan CQ, Horsman M (2012) Closed photobioreactors for production of microalgal biomasses. Biotechnol Adv 30:904–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.01.019
- 10. Lakatos M, Strieth D (2017) Terrestrial Microalgae: Novel Concepts for Biotechnology and Applications. Progr Bot 269–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/124_2017_10
- 11. Ghasemi Y, Tabatabaei Yazdi M, Shafiee A, et al (2004) Parsiguine, a novel antimicrobial substance from *Fischerella ambigua*. Pharm Biol 42:318–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/13880200490511918
- 12. Volk RB, Furkert FH (2006) Antialgal, antibacterial and antifungal activity of two metabolites produced and excreted by cyanobacteria during growth. Microbiol Res 161:180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2005.08.005
- 13. Witthohn M, Strieth D, Eggert S, et al (2021) Heterologous production of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin with potent antibacterial activity. CRBIOT 3:281–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crbiot.2021.10.002
- 14. Shishido TK, Humisto A, Jokela J, et al (2015) Antifungal compounds from cyanobacteria. Mar Drugs 13:2124–2140
- 15. Carpine R, Sieber S (2021) Antibacterial and antiviral metabolites from cyanobacteria: Their application and their impact on human health. Curr Res Biotechnol 3:65–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crbiot.2021.03.001
- 16. Silva-Stenico ME, Souza C, Silva P, et al (2011) Non-ribosomal peptides produced by Brazilian cyanobacterial isolates with antimicrobial activity. Microbiol Res 166:161–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.04.002
- Abed RMM, Dobretsov S, Sudesh K (2009) Applications of cyanobacteria in biotechnology. J Appl Microbiol 106:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03918.x
- Demay J, Bernard C, Reinhardt A, Marie B (2019) Natural Products from Cyanobacteria: Focus on Beneficial Activities. Mar Drugs 17:1–49. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/md17060320
- 19. Singh R, Parihar P, Singh M, et al (2017) Uncovering Potential Applications of Cyanobacteria and Algal Metabolites in Biology, Agriculture and Medicine: Current Status and Future Prospects. Front Microbiol 8:1–37.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00515

- 20. Norton TA, Melkonian M, Andersen RA (1996) Algal biodiversity. Phycologia 35:308– 326. https://doi.org/10.2216/i0031-8884-35-4-308.1
- 21. Shalaby EA (2011) Algal biomass and biodiesel production. In: Biodiesel Feedstocks and Processing Technologies. InTech Croatia, pp 111–132
- 22. Jones MR, Pinto E, Torres MA, et al (2021) CyanoMetDB, a comprehensive public database of secondary metabolites from cyanobacteria. Water Res 196:117017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117017
- 23. Pereira DA, Giani A (2014) Cell density-dependent oligopeptide production in cyanobacterial strains. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 88:175–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12281
- Demain AL, Fang A (2000) The Natural Functions of Secondary Metabolites. In: Fiechter A (ed) History of Modern Biotechnology I. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 1–39
- 25. Laxminarayan R, Duse A, Wattal C, et al (2013) Antibiotic resistance the need for global solutions. Lancet Infect Dis 13:1057–1098
- de With K (2015) Antibiotic Stewardship Maßnahmen zur Optimierung der antibakteriellen Therapie. Internist 1264–1270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00108-015-3706-z
- 27. Strieth D, Lenz S, Ulber R (2022) In vivo and *in silico* screening for antimicrobial compounds from cyanobacteria. Authorea. https://doi.org/10.22541/au.164436121.14229912/v1
- Attene-Ramos MS, Austin CP, Xia M (2014) High Throughput Screening. In: Wexler P (ed) Encyclopedia of Toxicology (Third Edition), Third Edit. Academic Press, Oxford, pp 916–917
- Naughton LM, Romano S, Gara FO, Dobson ADW (2017) Identification of Secondary Metabolite Gene Clusters in the *Pseudovibrio* Genus Reveals Encouraging Biosynthetic Potential toward the Production of Novel Bioactive Compounds. Front Microbiol 8:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01494
- 30. Micallef ML, Agostino PMD, Sharma D, et al (2015) Genome mining for natural product biosynthetic gene clusters in the Subsection V cyanobacteria. BMC Genomics 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1855-z
- 31. Micallef ML, D'Agostino PM, Al-Sinawi B, et al (2015) Exploring cyanobacterial genomes for natural product biosynthesis pathways. Mar Genomics 21:1–12
- 32. Singh SP, Klisch M, Sinha RP, Häder D (2010) Genome mining of mycosporine-like amino acid (MAA) synthesizing and non-synthesizing cyanobacteria: A bioinformatics study. Genomics 95:120–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2009.10.002
- Ziemert N, Alanjary M, Weber T (2016) Natural Product Reports The evolution of genome mining in microbes – a review. Nat Prod Rep 33:988–1005. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6np00025h
- 34. Sarkar A, Soueidan H, Nikolski M (2011) Identification of conserved gene clusters in multiple genomes based on synteny and homology. BMC Bioinformatics 12:1–10
- 35. Mayer H, Bauer H, Prohaska R (2001) Organization and chromosomal localization of the human and mouse genes coding for LanC-like protein 1 (LANCL1). Cytogenet Cell Genet 104:100–104
- 36. Weber T, Blin K, Duddela S, et al (2015) antiSMASH 3.0 a comprehensive resource for the genome mining of biosynthetic gene clusters. Nucleic Acids Res 43:237–243. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv437
- 37. Weber T, Kim HU (2016) The secondary metabolite bioinformatics portal: Computational tools to facilitate synthetic biology of secondary metabolite production. Synth Syst Biotechnol 1:69–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.synbio.2015.12.002
- Welker M, Von Döhren H (2006) Cyanobacterial peptides nature's own combinatorial biosynthesis. FEMS microbiol rev 30:530–563. https://doi.org/10.22541/au.164436121.14229912/v1
- 39. Agrawal S, Acharya D, Adholeya A, et al (2017) Nonribosomal Peptides from Marine Microbes and Their Antimicrobial and Anticancer Potential. Front Pharmacol 8:1–26.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00828

- 40. Swain SS, Paidesetty SK, Padhy RN (2017) Antibacterial, antifungal and antimycobacterial compounds from cyanobacteria. Biomed Pharmacother 90:760–776
- 41. Vestola J, Shishido TK, Jokela J, et al (2014) widespread among cyanobacteria and are the end-product of a nonribosomal pathway. PNAS 1909–1917. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1320913111
- 42. Neilan BA, Dittmann E, Rouhiainen LEO, et al (1999) Nonribosomal Peptide Synthesis and Toxigenicity of Cyanobacteria. J Bacteriol 181:4089–4097
- 43. Mohimani H, Liu W, Kersten RD, et al (2014) NRPquest: Coupling Mass Spectrometry and Genome Mining for Nonribosomal Peptide Discovery. J Nat Prod 77:1902–1909. https://doi.org/dx.doi.org/10.1021/np500370c
- 44. Sigrist R, Paulo BS, Angolini CFF, De Oliveira LG (2020) Mass Spectrometry-Guided Genome Mining as a Tool to Uncover Novel Natural Products. JoVE. https://doi.org/doi:10.3791/60825
- 45. Nabout JC, da Silva Rocha B, Carneiro FM, Sant'Anna CL (2013) How many species of Cyanobacteria are there? Using a discovery curve to predict the species number. Biodivers Conserv 22:2907–2918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-013-0561-x
- 46. Rippka R, Deruelles J, Waterbury JB, et al (1979) Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria. Microbiology 111:1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1
- 47. Parkes AS (1956) Preservation of living cells and tissues at low temperatures. In: III International Congress on Animal Reproduction, Cambridge, 25th-30th June, 1956. Cambridge, pp 69-75 pp.
- 48. Pegg DE (2002) The history and principles of cryopreservation. Semin Reprod Med 20:5–13. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-23515
- 49. Morris GJ (1978) Cryopreservation of 250 strains of *chlorococcales* by the method of two-step cooling. B Phycol J 13:15–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071617800650031
- 50. Day JG, Brand JJ (2005) Cryopreservation Methods for Maintaining Microalgal Cultures. In: Algal Culturing Techniques. pp 165–187
- 51. Brand JJ, Diller KR (2004) Application and theory of algal cryopreservation by. 175– 189. https://doi.org/10.1127/0029-5035/2004/0079-0175
- 52. Day JG, Glyn NS (2007) Cryopreservation and freeze-drying protocols / Ed. by J.G. Day, G. Stacey: Humana Press, 347 p. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-362-2
- 53. Morris GJ (1981) Cryopreservation: An Introduction to Cryopreservation in Culture Collections. Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Cambridge, UK
- 54. Rastoll MJ, Ouahid Y, Martín-Gordillo F, et al (2013) The development of a cryopreservation method suitable for a large cyanobacteria collection. J Appl Phycol 25:1483–1493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-0001-z
- 55. Esteves-Ferreira AA, Corrêa DM, Carneiro APS, et al (2013) Comparative evaluation of different preservation methods for cyanobacterial strains. J Appl Phycol 25:919–929. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9927-9
- 56. Mori F, Erata M, Watanabe MM (2002) Cryopreservation of cyanobacteria and green algae in the NIES-Collection. Microbiol Cult Coll 18:45-55Mi
- 57. Park H (2006) Long-term Preservation of Bloom-forming Cyanobacteria by Cryopreservation. Algae 21:125–131. https://doi.org/10.4490/ALGAE.2006.21.1.125
- Wood SA, Rhodes LL, Adams SL, et al (2010) Maintenance of cyanotoxin production by cryopreserved cyanobacteria in the New Zealand culture collection. N Z J Mar Freshw Res 42:277–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330809509955
- 59. Racharaks R, Peccia J (2019) Cryopreservation of *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973. J Appl Phycol 31:2267–2276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1714-9
- 60. Corbett LL, Parker DL (1976) Viability of lyophilized cyanobacteria (blue green algae). Appl Env Microbiol 32:777–780. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.32.6.777-780.1976
- 61. Watanabe A (1959) Some Devices For Preserving Blue-Green Algae In Viable State. J Gen Appl Microbiol 5:153–157
- 62. Daily WA, McGuire JM (1954) Preservation of some algal cultures by lyophilization. Butl Univ Bot Stud 11:139–143

- 63. Brouers M, Hall DO (1986) Ammonia and hydrogen production by immobilized cyanobacteria. J Biotechnol 3:307–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1656(86)90012-X
- 64. Chetsumon A, Maeda I, Umeda F, et al (1995) Continuous antibiotic production by an immobilized cyanobacterium in a seaweed-type bioreactor. J Appl Phycol 7:135–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00693059
- 65. Pansook S, Incharoensakdi A, Phunpruch S (2019) Enhanced dark fermentative H₂ production by agar-immobilized cyanobacterium *Aphanothece halophytica*. J Appl Phycol 31:2869–2879. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-019-01822-9
- 66. Gardea-Torresdey JL, Arenas JL, Francisco NMC, et al (1998) Ability of Immobilized Cyanobacteria to Remove Metal Ions From Solution and Demonstration of the Presence of Metallothionein Genes in Various Strains. J Hazard Subst Res 1:1–18. https://doi.org/10.4148/1090-7025.1001
- 67. Cui J, Xie Y, Sun T, et al (2021) Deciphering and engineering photosynthetic cyanobacteria for heavy metal bioremediation. Sci Total Env 761:144111. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144111
- Avramescu A, Rouillon R, Carpentier R (1999) Potential for use of a cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. immobilized in poly(vinylalcohol): Application to the detection of pollutants. Biotechnol Tech 13:559–562. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008991531206
- 69. Lukavský J (1988) Long-Term Preservation of Algal Strains by Immobilization. Archiv für Protistenkunde 135:65–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9365(88)80054-X
- Romo S, Pérez-Martínez C (1997) the Use of Immobilization in Alginate Beads for Long-Term Storage of Algae 1076:1073–1076. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-3646.1997.01073.x
- Serp D, Cantana E, Heinzen C, et al (2000) Characterization of an encapsulation device for the production of monodisperse alginate beads for cell immobilization. Biotechnol Bioeng 70:41–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0290
- 72. Prasad RN, Sanghamitra K, Antonia G-M, et al (2013) Isolation, Identification and Germplasm Preservation of Different Native Spirulina Species from Western Mexico. Am J Plant Sci 04:65–71. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2013.412a2009
- 73. Lorenz M, Friedl T, Day JG (2005) Perpetual Maintenance of Actively Metabolizing Microalgal Cultures. In: Anderson RA (ed) Algal Culturing Techniques. pp 145–156
- 74. Day JG, Ller JM, Comte K, et al (2006) Phenotypic and genotypic stability of cryopreserved algal and cyanobacterial cultures: A prerequisite for taxonomic and systematic studies. Cryobiology 53:430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cryobiol.2006.10.152
- 75. Mehring A, Erdmann N, Walther J, et al (2021) A simple and low-cost resazurin assay for vitality assessment across species. J Biotechnol 333:63–66. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2021.04.010
- 76. Strieth D, Stiefelmaier J, Wrabl B, et al (2020) A new strategy for a combined isolation of EPS and pigments from cyanobacteria. J Appl Phycol 32:1729–1740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-020-02063-x
- 77. Karsten U, Schumann R, Rothe S, et al (2006) Temperature and light requirements for growth of two diatom species (*Bacillariophyceae*) isolated from an Arctic macroalga. Polar Biol 29:476–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-005-0078-1
- 78. Karsten U, Klimant I, Holst G (1996) A new in vivo fluorimetric technique to measure growth of adhering phototrophic microorganisms. Appl Env Microbiol 62:237–243. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.62.1.237-243.1996
- 79. Skjelbred B, Edvardsen B, Andersen T (2012) A high-throughput method for measuring growth and loss rates in microalgal cultures. J Appl Phycol 24:1589–1599
- Gustavs L, Schumann R, Eggert A, Karsten U (2009) In vivo growth fluorometry: Accuracy and limits of microalgal growth rate measurements in ecophysiological investigations. Aquat Microb Ecol 55:95–104. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01291
- 81. Jakob T, Schreiber U, Kirchesch V, et al (2005) Estimation of chlorophyll content and daily primary production of the major algal groups by means of multiwavelength-excitation PAM chlorophyll fluorometry: Performance and methodological limits. Photosynth Res 83:343–361. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-005-1329-2

- 82. Bramucci AR, Labeeuw L, Mayers TJ, et al (2015) A small volume bioassay to assess bacterial/phytoplankton co-culture using WATER-Pulse-Amplitude-Modulated (WATER-PAM) fluorometry. J Vis Exp e52455. https://doi.org/doi:10.3791/52455
- 83. Hamid R, Rotshteyn Y, Rabadi L, et al (2004) Comparison of alamar blue and MTT assays for high through-put screening. Toxicol Vitr 18:703–710. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2004.03.012
- 84. Witthohn M, Schwarz A, Walther J, et al (2020) Novel method enabling a rapid vitality determination of cyanobacteria. 580–584. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201900164
- 85. Schulze ED, Beck E, Müller-Hohenstein K (2005) Plant Ecology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg
- 86. Stiefelmaier J, Strieth D, Di Nonno S, et al (2020) Characterization of terrestrial phototrophic biofilms of cyanobacterial species. Algal Res 50:101996. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.101996
- 87. Chen Y, Liang C-P, Liu Y, et al (2012) Review of advanced imaging techniques. J Pathol Inf 3:22. https://doi.org/10.4103/2153-3539.96751
- 88. Johnson TJ, Hildreth MB, Gu L, et al (2015) Testing a dual-fluorescence assay to monitor the viability of filamentous cyanobacteria. J Microbiol Methods 113:57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2015.04.003
- 89. Johnson et al. TJ (2016) Evaluating Viable Cell Indicators for Filamentous Cyanobacteria and Their Application. JMBFS 6:886–893. https://doi.org/10.15414/jmbfs.2016/17.6.3.886-893
- 90. Mullineaux CW, Mariscal V, Nenninger A, et al (2008) Mechanism of intercellular molecular exchange in heterocyst-forming cyanobacteria. EMBO J 27:1299–1308. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2008.66
- 91. Strober W (2001) Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability. Curr Protoc Immunol Appendix 3:2–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.ima03bs21
- 92. Tessarolli LP, Day JG, Vieira AAH (2017) Establishment of a cryopreserved biobank for the Culture Collection of Freshwater Microalgae (CCMA-UFSCar), São Paulo, Brazil. Biota Neotrop 17. https://doi.org/10.1590/1676-0611-bn-2016-0299
- 93. Turbow MM (1966) Trypan blue induced teratogenesis of rat embryos cultivated in vitro. JEEM 15:387–395
- 94. Gillman T, Hallowes RC (1972) Ultrastructural changes in rat livers induced by repeated injections of trypan blue. Cancer Res 32:2393–2399
- 95. Ganesan L, Buchwald P (2013) The promiscuous protein binding ability of erythrosine B studied by metachromasy (metachromasia). J Mol Recognit 26:181–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmr.2263
- 96. Gaget V, Chiu YT, Lau M, Humpage AR (2017) From an environmental sample to a long-lasting culture: the steps to better isolate and preserve cyanobacterial strains. J Appl Phycol 29:309–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-016-0945-x
- 97. Jones KH, Senft JA (1985) An improved method to determine cell viability by simultaneous staining with fluorescein diacetate-propidium iodide. J Histochem Cytochem 33:77–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/33.1.2578146
- 98. Xiao X, Chen YX, Liang XQ, et al (2010) Effects of Tibetan hulless barley on bloomforming cyanobacterium (*Microcystis aeruginosa*) measured by different physiological and morphologic parameters. Chemosphere 81:1118–1123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.09.001
- 99. Azevedo R, Rodriguez E, Figueiredo D, et al (2012) Methodologies for the study of filamentous cyanobacteria by flow cytometry. Fresenius Environ Bull 21:679–684
- 100. Tashyreva D, Elster J, Billi D (2013) A Novel Staining Protocol for Multiparameter Assessment of Cell Heterogeneity in *Phormidium* Populations (Cyanobacteria) Employing Fluorescent Dyes. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055283
- 101. Hughes C, Franklin DJ, Malin G (2011) Iodomethane production by two important marine cyanobacteria: *Prochlorococcus marinus* (CCMP 2389) and *Synechococcus* sp. (CCMP 2370). Mar Chem 125:19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2011.01.007

- 102. Mikula P, Zezulka S, Jancula D, Marsalek B (2012) Metabolic activity and membrane integrity changes in *Microcystis aeruginosa* - new findings on hydrogen peroxide toxicity in cyanobacteria. Eur J Phycol 47:195–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670262.2012.687144
- 103. Swisher R, Carroll GC (1980) Fluorescein Diacetate Hydrolysis as an Estimator of Microbial Biomass on Coniferous Needle Surfaces. Microb Ecol 226:217–226
- 104. Lebaron P, Catala P, Parthuisot N (1998) Effectiveness of SYTOX green stain for bacterial viability assessment. Appl Env Microbiol 64:2697–2700. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.64.7.2697-2700.1998
- 105. Stal LJ, Moezelaar R (1997) Fermentation in cyanobacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 21:179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-6445(97)00056-9
- 106. Ferris MJ, Hirsch CF (1991) Method for Isolation and Purification of Cyanobacteria. Appl Env Microbiol 57:1448–1452. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.57.5.1448-1452.1991
- Temraleeva AD, Dronova SA, Moskalenko S V, Didovich S V (2016) Modern methods for isolation, purification, and cultivation of soil cyanobacteria. Microbiology 85:389– 399. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0026261716040159
- 108. Palinska KA, Krumbein WE (1995) Electrophoretic separation of two unicyanobacterial strains leading to purification. J Microbiol Methods 24:41–48. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-7012(95)00052-6
- 109. Singh RN, Sharma S (2012) Development of suitable photobioreactor for algae production A review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16:2347–2353. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.01.026
- 110. Gupta PL, Lee S-M, Choi H-J (2015) A mini review: photobioreactors for large scale algal cultivation. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 31:1409–1417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-015-1892-4
- 111. Chang J-S, Show P-L, Ling T-C, et al (2017) Photobioreactors. In: Current developments in biotechnology and bioengineering. Elsevier, pp 313–352
- 112. Ozkan A, Kinney K, Katz L, Berberoglu H (2012) Reduction of water and energy requirement of algae cultivation using an algae biofilm photobioreactor. Biores Technol 114:542–548. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.03.055
- 113. Gross M, Jarboe D, Wen Z (2015) Biofilm-based algal cultivation systems. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99:5781–5789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6736-5
- 114. Boelee NC, Janssen M, Temmink H (2014) The effect of harvesting on biomass production and nutrient removal in phototrophic biofilm reactors for effluent polishing. J Appl Phycol 26:1439–1452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-0178-1
- 115. Johnson MB, Wen Z (2010) Development of an attached microalgal growth system for biofuel production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 85:525–534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2133-2
- 116. Cheng P, Ji B, Gao L, et al (2013) The growth, lipid and hydrocarbon production of *Botryococcus braunii* with attached cultivation. Bioresour Technol 138:95–100. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.150
- 117. Liu T, Wang J, Hu Q, et al (2013) Attached cultivation technology of microalgae for efficient biomass feedstock production. Bioresour Technol 127:216–222. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.100
- 118. Scherer K, Stiefelmaier J, Strieth D, et al (2020) Development of a lightweight multiskin sheet photobioreactor for future cultivation of phototrophic biofilms on facades. J Biotechnol 320:28–35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.06.004
- 119. Xu X-Q, Wang J-H, Zhang T-Y, et al (2017) Attached microalgae cultivation and nutrients removal in a novel capillary-driven photo-biofilm reactor. Algal Res 27:198–205. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.08.028
- 120. Naumann T, Çebi Z, Podola B, Melkonian M (2013) Growing microalgae as aquaculture feeds on twin-layers: a novel solid-state photobioreactor. J Appl Phycol 25:1413–1420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9962-6
- 121. Yin S, Wang J, Chen L, Liu T (2015) The water footprint of biofilm cultivation of *Haematococcus pluvialis* is greatly decreased by using sealed narrow chambers combined with slow aeration rate. Biotechnol Lett 37:1819–1827.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-015-1864-7

- 122. Ji B, Zhang W, Zhang N, et al (2014) Biofilm cultivation of the oleaginous microalgae *Pseudochlorococcum* sp. Bioprocess Biosys Eng 37:1369–1375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-013-1109-x
- 123. Strieth D, Weber A, Robert J, et al (2021) Characterization of an Aerosol-Based Photobioreactor for Cultivation of Phototrophic Biofilms. Life 11:1–13. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/life11101046
- 124. Shi J, Podola B, Melkonian M (2007) Removal of nitrogen and phosphorus from wastewater using microalgae immobilized on twin layers: an experimental study. J Appl Phycol 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-006-9148-1
- 125. Cheng P, Osei-Wusu D, Zhou C, et al (2020) The effects of refractory pollutants in swine wastewater on the growth of *Scenedesmus* sp. with biofilm attached culture. Int J Phytoremediation 22:241–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2019.1658706
- 126. Shen Y, Yu T, Xie Y, et al (2019) Attached culture of *Chlamydomonas* sp. JSC4 for biofilm production and TN/TP/Cu(II) removal. Biochem Eng J 141:1–9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2018.09.017
- 127. Gross M, Wen Z (2014) Yearlong evaluation of performance and durability of a pilotscale Revolving Algal Biofilm (RAB) cultivation system. Biores Technol 171:50–58. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.08.052
- 128. Christenson LB, Sims RC (2012) Rotating algal biofilm reactor and spool harvester for wastewater treatment with biofuels by-products. Biotechnol Bioeng 109:1674–1684
- 129. Blanken W, Janssen M, Cuaresma M, et al (2014) Biofilm Growth of *Chlorella sorokiniana* in a Rotating Biological Contactor Based Photobioreactor. Biotechnol Bioeng 111:2436–2445. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25301
- 130. Orandi S, Lewis DM, Moheimani NR (2012) Biofilm establishment and heavy metal removal capacity of an indigenous mining algal-microbial consortium in a photorotating biological contactor. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 39:1321–1331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-012-1142-9
- 131. Mukherji S, Chavan A (2012) Treatment of aqueous effluents containing non-aqueous phase liquids in rotating biological contactor with algal bacterial biofilm. Chem Eng J 200–202:459–470. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.06.076
- 132. Melo M, Fernandes S, Caetano N, Borges MT (2018) *Chlorella vulgaris* (SAG 211-12) biofilm formation capacity and proposal of a rotating flat plate photobioreactor for more sustainable biomass production. J Appl Phycol 30:887–899. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-017-1290-4
- 133. Iman Shayan S, Agblevor FA, Bertin L, Sims RC (2016) Hydraulic retention time effects on wastewater nutrient removal and bioproduct production via rotating algal biofilm reactor. Biores Technol 211:527–533. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.03.104
- 134. Genin SN, Stewart Aitchison J, Grant Allen D (2014) Design of algal film photobioreactors: Material surface energy effects on algal film productivity, colonization and lipid content. Biores Technol 155:136–143. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.12.060
- 135. Gao F, Yang Z, Li C, et al (2015) Bioresource Technology A novel algal biofilm membrane photobioreactor for attached microalgae growth and nutrients removal from secondary effluent. Biores Technol 179:8–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.108
- 136. Lee S-H, Oh H-M, Jo B-H, et al (2014) Higher biomass productivity of microalgae in an attached growth system, using wastewater. J Microbiol Biotechnol 24:1566–1573
- 137. Schnurr PJ, Espie GS, Allen DG (2013) Bioresource Technology Algae biofilm growth and the potential to stimulate lipid accumulation through nutrient starvation. Biores Technol 136:337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.036
- 138. Walther J, Erdmann N, Wastian K, et al (2020) Novel photobioreactor for moving bed biofilm cultivation of terrestrial cyanobacteria. Copernicus Meetings
- 139. Zamalloa C, Boon N, Verstraete W (2013) Decentralized two-stage sewage treatment by chemical-biological flocculation combined with microalgae biofilm for nutrient

immobilization in a roof installed parallel plate reactor. Biores Technol 130:152–160. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.11.128

- 140. Mulbry WW, Wilkie AC (2001) Growth of benthic freshwater algae on dairy manures. J Appl Phycol 13:301–306
- 141. Sukačová K, Trtílek M, Rataj T (2015) Phosphorus removal using a microalgal biofilm in a new biofilm photobioreactor for tertiary wastewater treatment. Water Res 71:55– 63. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.12.049
- 142. Choudhary P, Prajapati SK, Kumar P, et al (2017) Development and performance evaluation of an algal biofilm reactor for treatment of multiple wastewaters and characterization of biomass for diverse applications. Biores Technol 224:276–284. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.078
- 143. Adey W, Luckett C, Jensen K (1993) Phosphorus removal from natural waters using controlled algal production. Restor Ecol 1:29–39
- 144. Heuschkel I, Hoschek A, Schmid A, et al (2019) Mixed-trophies biofilm cultivation in capillary reactors. MethodsX 6:1822–1831. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2019.07.021
- 145. de Assis LR, Calijuri ML, Assemany PP, et al (2019) Evaluation of the performance of different materials to support the attached growth of algal biomass. Algal Res 39:101440
- 146. Godos I De, González C, Becares E (2009) Simultaneous nutrients and carbon removal during pretreated swine slurry degradation in a tubular biofilm photobioreactor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82:187–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1825-3
- 147. He S, Xue G (2010) Algal-based immobilization process to treat the effluent from a secondary wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). J Hazard Mater 178:895–899. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.02.022
- 148. Rosli SS, Amalina Kadir WN, Wong CY, et al (2020) Insight review of attached microalgae growth focusing on support material packed in photobioreactor for sustainable biodiesel production and wastewater bioremediation. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 134:110306. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110306
- 149. Strieth D, Ulber R, Muffler K (2018) Application of phototrophic biofilms: from fundamentals to processes. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 41:295–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-017-1870-3
- 150. Hodges A, Fica Z, Wanlass J, et al (2017) Nutrient and suspended solids removal from petrochemical wastewater via microalgal biofilm cultivation. Chemosphere 174:46–48. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.01.107
- 151. Kondo T, Wakayama T, Miyake J (2006) Efficient hydrogen production using a multilayered photobioreactor and a photosynthetic bacterium mutant with reduced pigment. Int J Hydrog 31:1522–1526. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.06.019
- 152. Podola B, Li T, Melkonian M (2017) Porous Substrate Bioreactors: A Paradigm Shift in Microalgal Biotechnology? Trends in Biotechnol 35:121–132. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.06.004
- 153. Kuhne S, Strieth D, Lakatos M, et al (2014) A new photobioreactor concept enabling the production of desiccation induced biotechnological products using terrestrial cyanobacteria. J Biotechnol 192:28–33. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.10.002
- 154. Strieth D, Schwing J, Kuhne S, et al (2017) A semi-continuous process based on an ePBR for the production of EPS using *Trichocoleus sociatus*. J Biotechnol 256:6–12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2017.06.1205
- 155. Stiefelmaier J, Strieth D, Scherer K, et al (2018) Kultivierung terrestrischer Cyanobakterien in emersen Photobioreaktoren. Chemie Ing Tech 90:1248–1292. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201855272
- 156. Vermaas WF (2001) Photosynthesis and respiration II. Effect of 3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1,1-dimethylurea and of partial pressure of oxygen on the rates of carbon dioxide exchange in light and in darkness of detached wheat leaves. Nature 245–251.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02140811

- 157. Wang B, Li Y, Wu N, Lan CQ (2008) CO2 bio-mitigation using microalgae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 79:707–718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1518-y
- 158. Xiong W, Cano M, Wang B, et al (2017) The plasticity of cyanobacterial carbon metabolism. Curr Opin Chem Biol 41:12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2017.09.004
- 159. Chen X, Schreiber K, Appel J, et al (2016) The Entner-Doudoroff pathway is an overlooked glycolytic route in cyanobacteria and plants. PNAS 113:5441–5446. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521916113
- 160. Xiong W, Lee TC, Rommelfanger S, et al (2015) Phosphoketolase pathway contributes to carbon metabolism in cyanobacteria. Nat Plants 1:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.187
- 161. Stanier RY, Cohen-Bazire G (1977) Phototrophic Prokaryotes: The Cyanobacteria. Ann Rev Microbiol 31:225–274
- 162. Zhang S, Bryant DA (2011) The tricarboxylic acid cycle in cyanobacteria. Science (80-) 334:1551–1553. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210858
- 163. Xiong W, Brune D, Vermaas WFJ (2014) The γ-aminobutyric acid shunt contributes to closing the tricarboxylic acid cycle in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Mol Microbiol 93:786–796. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12699
- 164. Walther J, Schwarz A, Witthohn M, et al (2020) A qPCR method for distinguishing biomass from non-axenic terrestrial cyanobacteria cultures in hetero- or mixotrophic cultivations. J Appl Phycol 32:3767–3774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-020-02282-2
- 165. Schwarz A, Walther J, Geib D, et al (2020) Influence of heterotrophic and mixotrophic cultivation on growth behaviour of terrestrial cyanobacteria. Algal Res 52:102125. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.102125
- 166. Chojnacka K, Noworyta A (2004) Evaluation of Spirulina sp. growth in photoautotrophic, heterotrophic and mixotrophic cultures. Enzym Microb Technol 34:461–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2003.12.002
- 167. Vonshak A, Cheung SM, Chen F (2000) Mixotrophic growth modifies the response of *Spirulina (Arthrospira) platensis* (Cyanobacteria) cells to light. J Phycol 36:675–679. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1529-8817.2000.99198.x
- 168. Nakajima Y, Ueda R (1999) Improvement of microalgal photosynthetic productivity by reducing the content of light harvesting pigment. J Appl Phycol 11:195–201. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008015224029
- 169. Ungerer JL, Pratte BS, Thiel T (2008) Regulation of fructose transport and its effect on fructose toxicity in Anabaena spp. J Bacteriol 190:8115–8125. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00886-08
- 170. Ekman M, Picossi S, Campbell EL, et al (2013) A *Nostoc punctiforme* sugar transporter necessary to establish a cyanobacterium-plant symbiosis. Plant Physiol 161:1984–1992. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.213116
- 171. Fisher ML, Allen R, Luo Y, Curtiss R (2013) Export of Extracellular Polysaccharides Modulates Adherence of the Cyanobacterium *Synechocystis*. PLoS One 8:. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074514
- 172. Morsy FM, Kuzuha S, Takani Y, Sakamoto T (2008) Novel thermostable glycosidases in the extracellular matrix of the terrestrail cyanobacterium *Nostoc commune*. J Gen Appl Microbiol 54:243–252. https://doi.org/10.2323/jgam.54.243
- 173. Mirus O, Strauss S, Nicolaisen K, et al (2009) TonB-dependent transporters and their occurrence in cyanobacteria. BMC Biol 7:68. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-7-68
- 174. Christman HD, Campbell EL, Meeks JC (2011) Global transcription profiles of the nitrogen stress response resulting in heterocyst or hormogonium development in *Nostoc punctiforme*. J Bacteriol 193:6874–6886. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.05999-11
- 175. You L, He L, Tang YJ (2015) Photoheterotrophic fluxome in *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC 6803 and its implications for cyanobacterial bioenergetics. J Bacteriol 197:943– 950. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.02149-14
- 176. Panda B, Jain P, Sharma L, Mallick N (2006) Optimization of cultural and nutritional

conditions for accumulation of poly-β-hydroxybutyrate in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Biores Technol 97:1296–1301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2005.05.013

- 177. Chen F, Zhang Y (1997) High cell density mixotrophic culture of *Spirulina platensis* on glucose for phycocyanin production using a fed-batch system. Enzym Microb Technol 0229:221–224
- 178. Das S, Nath K, Chowdhury R (2021) Comparative studies on biomass productivity and lipid content of a novel blue-green algae during autotrophic and heterotrophic growth. Env Sci Pollut Res 28:12107–12118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-09577-4
- 179. Kanno M, Carroll AL, Atsumi S (2017) Global metabolic rewiring for improved CO₂ fixation and chemical production in cyanobacteria. Nat Commun 8:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14724
- 180. Matsudo MC, Moraes FA, Bezerra RP, et al (2015) Use of acetate in fed-batch mixotrophic cultivation of *Arthrospira platensis*. Ann Microbiol 65:1721–1728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-014-1011-z
- 181. Andrade MR, Costa JAV (2007) Mixotrophic cultivation of microalga *Spirulina platensis* using molasses as organic substrate. Aquaculture 264:130–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.11.021
- 182. Yu H, Jia S, Dai Y (2009) Growth characteristics of the cyanobacterium *Nostoc flagelliforme* in photoautotrophic, mixotrophic and heterotrophic cultivation. J Appl Phycol 21:127–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-008-9341-5
- 183. Yu G, Shi D, Cai Z, et al (2011) Growth and physiological features of cyanobacterium Anabaena sp. Strain PCC 7120 in a glucose-mixotrophic culture. Chin J Chem Eng 19:108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1004-9541(09)60185-3
- 184. Bhati R, Mallick N (2012) Production and characterization of poly(3-hydroxybutyrateco-3-hydroxyvalerate) co-polymer by a N₂-fixing cyanobacterium, *Nostoc muscorum* Agardh. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 87:505–512. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2737

Chapter III

Novel method enabling a rapid vitality determination of cyanobacteria

Marco Witthohn¹, Anna Schwarz¹, Jakob Walther², Dorina Strieth², Roland Ulber², Kai Muffler¹

¹Department of Life Sciences and Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Bingen, Berlinstr. 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany ²Institute of Bioprocess Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

Engineering in Life Sciences (2020), 20(12), 580-584

Authorship contribution

- M. Witthohn: Project administration, visualization, writing, investigation (all shown data).
- A. Schwarz: Final approval of the article, review & editing.
- J. Walther: Final approval of the article, review & editing.
- D. Strieth: Final approval of the article, review & editing.
- R. Ulber: Funding acquisition, review & editing, conceptualization.
- K. Muffler: Funding acquisition, supervision, conceptualization, review & editing.

Keywords: cyanobacteria, cell vitality determination, Trichocoleus sociatus

Practical Application

The presented method is the first approach to link the O₂ production of cyanobacteria directly to their cell vitality. By this, new conservation methods can be rapidly evaluated, without the need for long cultivation periods, expensive technical equipment or high amounts of biomass. The approach is suitable for every cyanobacterial strain and is not impaired by the commonly occurring production of viscous exopolysaccharides or the formation of cell aggregates. Further application areas are conceivable, for example the testing for antibiotic susceptibility/resistance, or the response to altered cultivation conditions.

Abstract

Cyanobacteria represent a large group of bacteria with underestimated scientific potential. Recent studies indicate them as a great reservoir of secondary metabolites with antifungal, antiviral or antibacterial activity. However, common, well established research techniques cannot be easily adapted to these organisms. Slow growth rates and irregular cell aggregates constitute challenges for researchers dealing with cyanobacteria. In this work, we present an innovative new method enabling a quick, easy and economical vitality determination of cyanobacterial strains, as *e.g.* required for the finding of optimal cryopreservation conditions. We were able to measure the vitality of previously cryopreserved and defrosted *Trichocoleus sociatus* samples within 45 minutes by means of their O_2 -production. For each run, a cell wet mass of only 0.5 g was required. By application of this method, we could find DMSO (5 % v/v) and glycerin (15 % v/v) to be the most promising cryoprotectants for the conservation of *T. sociatus* cells. DMSO and glycerin guaranteed a vitality rate of 80-90 % and 60-70 % after up to four weeks of cryopreservation, compared to fresh cell material.

1 Introduction

Cyanobacteria are a group of versatile, phenologically and ecologically diverse microorganisms, which occur in most habitable areas in the world. Because of this circumstance, these organisms are of great interest for scientific research, as they are known as producers of highly valuable secondary metabolites [1-3] and can be used as phototrophic production strains of high energy compounds, used as biofuels [4]. Although cyanobacteria are not ideal production organisms, mainly due to slow growth rates, new cultivation concepts and reactor types can highly improve the productivity of promising strains [5]. Especially for terrestrial cyanobacteria, the principle of "productive biofilms" is a promising approach [6,7]. However, a reasonable exploration of these bacteria requires

stable and easy to handle strain collections. Cyanobacterial strain collections are commonly sustained as actively growing cell cultures on solid agar plates or in liquid medium [8]. This conservation mode is not only combined with much work afford, but also with high risks of contamination and genetical modifications [9]. Safe conservation methods as freeze drying, the inclusion in alginate beads [10] and, most importantly, cryopreservation [8], have already been adapted for many cyanobacterial strains. Nevertheless, it remains a challenge to define one appropriate method for all strains, due to the high phenological and ecological diversity. For the invention of possible new methods, it is necessary to compare cell vitalities after different approaches of cryoconservation. Regularly used methods are e.g. the determination of growth through repeated OD measurements, or the colony-forming unit assay on agar plates. There are also some promising recent approaches, as the staining of cells with a fluorescence colorant, which can only intercalate in the DNA of dead cells [5]. However, these methods are merely realizable for larger laboratories with superior equipment and resources. The classic approaches are though not easily applicable for cyanobacterial strains. Through the formation of cell aggregates or the production of exopolysaccharides, absorption measurement and colony counts often become impractical. As a possible solution on this, a new approach for the determination of cyanobacterial cell viability is presented in this work. The formation of oxygen and the consequently rising pO_2 value in T. sociatus samples was measured by a new method and used for vitality evaluation.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Strain cultivation

The cyanobacterial strain *Trichocoleus sociatus* (obtained from Prof. Dr. Burkhard Büdel, University of Kaiserslautern, Department of Plant Ecology and Systematics, Germany) was cultivated in 300 ml flasks, on a rotation shaker at 120 rpm (Multitron Pro, Infors HT, Switzerland) under phototrophic conditions ($E_v = 100 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$) at 27 °C, without addition of CO₂. The standard mineral medium BG-11 [11] was used for cultivation. The flasks were inoculated with *T. sociatus* cells sustained on solid BG-11 agar plates under phototrophic conditions ($E_v = 30 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$).

2.2 Cryopreservation

Main cultures were inoculated with about 0.25 g wet cell mass from the precultures. Cells were harvested after 4-6 weeks of growth by centrifugation at 2360 x g and 25 °C for 10 min. (Rotanta 460 R, Hettich, Germany). After cell harvest, the culture supernatant was removed, the cells were carefully mixed with a spatula and cell wet masses of 0.5 g were

respectively weighed into cryo-vials (AEH8.1, Carl Roth, Germany) with a high-resolution balance. While this, the cell mass was regularly mixed to ensure an equal composition in all tubes. Subsequently, all samples were mixed up to a concentration of 5 % (v/v) with DMSO or MeOH, or up to 15 % (v/v) with glycerin, respectively. All cryoprotectants were diluted with BG-11 medium. Each sample was done in triplicates. The cryo-vials were subsequently transferred to a precooled (8 °C) passive freezing device (Mister Frosty, Nalgene, USA) and cooled to -80 °C (New Brunswick[™] U360 Innova®, Eppendorf AG, Germany) with a cooling rate of -1 °C min⁻¹. Cells were stored at -80 °C for up to four weeks. The cells were thawed quickly in a water bath at 30 °C for 10 min. Cryoprotectants were removed by three washing steps. Sedimentation was used for cell palletization instead of centrifugation because cyanobacterial cells might be sensitive towards centrifugation after cryoconservation [8]. The supernatant was removed and substituted by 1 ml of BG-11 medium. Afterwards the cryo-vials were mixed thoroughly. Cell pellets were subsequently transferred to the vitality test setup and mixed up to a volume of 35 ml with BG-11 medium.

2.3 Vitality test setup

The verification of cell vitality after cryoconservation was performed with a new measurement technique, based on the pO₂ alteration by cyanobacterial photosynthesis. The setup (Fig. 1) consists of a glass flask, wrapped with an LED strip (Article no. 9180308, Briloner, Germany) for light supply and an overlying cooling hose, connected to a cooling unit (K15, Haake, Germany).



Fig 1 Vitality test setup for cyanobacteria. Cell vitality was determined after cryopreservation by means of pO_2 increase in the cultivation medium.

The setup is equipped with a temperature sensor (LT-101, TFA Dostmann, Germany) and a pO₂ sensor (OxyFerm FDA 225, Hamilton Company, USA). Data of the pO2 sensor was collected by a connected bioreactor (Minifors, Infors HT, Switzerland) and monitored with the bioprocess control software IRIS 6 (Infors HT, Switzerland). Medium circulation is assured by a magnetic stirrer (Mini MR Standard, IKA, Germany) at about 500 rpm. Measurements were done for 45 min, at a constant temperature of 27 °C. For each run, a cell wet mass of 0.5 g was used.

2.4 Determination of cell vitality

Cell vitality of *T. sociatus* was obtained by measuring the pO_2 and calculation of the highest gradient of the pO_2 curve. Values obtained from fresh cell material was determined as 100% vital and served as reference value.

2.5 Method comparison

The new pO_2 based vitality test for cyanobacteria was compared to the standard method based on cell mass increase. Therefore, samples of 0.2 g fresh *T. sociatus* biomass were cryopreserved and thawed after two weeks as specified in **2.2**. For each tested cryoprotectant, three 100 ml cultivation flasks were filled with 20 ml BG-11 medium and inoculated with the respective sample (in triplicates). The cultivation conditions are listed in **2.1**. Flasks were harvested after 3, 7 and 10 days and the cells were washed three times and centrifuged at 3000 x g (EBA 12, Hettich, Germany) with BG-11 medium. The cell dry mass was determined gravimetrically (M254Ai, BEL engineering, Italy) after drying at 60 °C for 24 h.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Vitality determination via pO2 measurement

Data concerning the vitality of cyanobacterial cells was gained by measurement of increasing pO_2 values in the test setup and comparison of the gradients with data from fresh cell material (Fig. 2a). By application of the method demonstrated in this work, it was possible to determine significant differences between the three performed cryopreservation approaches, using different cryoprotectants (Fig. 2b).



Fig. 2 A, Demonstration of data acquisition through measurement of the pO₂ increase in the setup. **B**, results of the vitality test with *T*. *sociatus* cells after cryopreservation with 5 % (v/v) of DMSO, 5 % (v/v) of MeOH or 15 % of (v/v) glycerin as cryoprotectant. The samples were frozen for one, two and four weeks. The pO₂ increase in the measurement setup was compared to the one of fresh cells. (Error bars = SD, n = 3)

While the samples mixed with MeOH showed a clearly diminished vitality of about 0-18 %, the ones cryopreserved with either DMSO or glycerin reached decent activity values of 80-96 % and 60-70 %. Similar results were obtained with cells of the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Nostoc muscorum*, which were equally cryopreserved and tested for vitality as *T. sociatus* (data not shown). A significant decrease in cell vitality over time was only detectable with DMSO after four weeks of cryopreservation. In case of glycerin as cryoprotectant, the freezing duration had only minimal impact on cell vitality, low standard deviations give hints on consistent amounts of intact cells.

3.2 Method validation

The developed technique was validated by comparison with the known standard method, the evaluation of growth experiments (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 A, Results of the vitality test (growth assay) with *T. sociatus* cells after two weeks of cryopreservation with 5 % (v/v) of DMSO, 5 % (v/v) of MeOH or 15 % of (v/v) glycerin as cryoprotectant. Data of fresh cells serve as reference. The increase of CDM was measured by cultivation and gravimetrical evaluation of *T. sociatus* samples after different modes of cryopreservation. The cells were harvested after 3, 7 and 10 days. For the t₀ measurement, 200 mg of fresh *T. sociatus* cells were dried at 60 °C for 24 h and the CDM was determined gravimetrically. **B**, approximate growth rates μ [h⁻¹]; CDM values of t₀ and t₇ were considered for calculation. (Error bars = SD, n = 3)

For this, the increase of *T. sociatus* cell dry weight was measured gravimetrically after different points of cultivation time (**2.5**). Prior to the vitality assay, the cells were cryopreserved under addition of DMSO, MeOH or glycerin, as done with the cells applied in the pO_2 measurements (**2.2**). This method was chosen because optical density measurements are impractical, due to inhomogeneous cell aggregates of *T. sociatus*. Cultures inoculated with 10 g l⁻¹ *T. sociatus* cell wet mass (1 g l⁻¹ cell dry mass, CDM) were harvested after 3, 7 and 10 days of phototrophic cultivation (**2.1**).

The results obtained from the growth assay could confirm the data from the pO_2 based vitality measurements. The obvious loss of CDM in the growth assay with cryopreserved samples indicates a diminished number of vital cells, due to the freezing process. Cells cryoconserved with MeOH showed the highest difference in CDM between t_0 and t_3 . Cells frozen with glycerin seem slightly less damaged by the process, in comparison to DMSO samples. The higher CDM value after three days of cultivation can be explained by glycerin residues in the samples, which remained after the washing steps. *T. sociatus* was found to be capable of mixotrophic growth with different carbon sources, resulting in significantly higher growth rates (Schwarz et al., unpublished data). As shown in Fig. 3a, the cell vitality determined by pO_2 measurement allows a relatively precise inference to the corresponding growth rates and thus permit a quick prediction on cell growth behavior. The comparability of both data sets might be improved by more repetitions in the pO_2 measurements and more CDM values at different points of the growth curve.

4 Concluding remarks

Considering all obtained results, a simple yet effective novel method for the vitality determination of cyanobacterial cells could be established. The test can approximately predict the growth impairment caused by cryoprotective agents and can give a first hint on negative impacts, which is sufficient for a fast selection of suitable cryoprotectants. The functionality and validity of the assay was confirmed by 'classic' growth experiments after identical cell treatment. At this point it should be noted that one growth assay took ten days and 2.4 g of wet cell mass, while the vitality determination by pO₂ measurements provided results after about 30 min and only required a maximum of 1.5 g wet cell mass. The applied cell mass can also be significantly reduced when more time is invested in data acquisition. This makes the method feasible for cyanobacteria with very low growth rates, without the need for long cultivation times. Moreover, the method offers great potential for further application fields, as the testing for antibiotic susceptibilities, or reaction of cyanobacterial cells to different medium supplements.

5 References

- 1. Singh, R. K., Tiwari, S. P., Rai, A. K., Mohapatra, T. M., Cyanobacteria: An emerging source for drug discovery, J. Antibiot. 2011, 64, 401–412.
- 2. Rastogi, R. P., Sinha, R. P., Biotechnological and industrial significance of cyanobacterial secondary metabolites. Biotechnol. Adv. 2009, 27, 521–539.
- 3. Burja, A. M., Banaigs, B., Abou-Mansour, E., Grant Burgess, J. et al., Marine cyanobacteria a prolific source of natural products. Tetrahedron. 2001, 57, 9347–9377.
- 4. Farrokh, P., Sheikhpour, M., Kasaeian, A., Asadi, H., Bavandi, R., Cyanobacteria as an eco- friendly resource for biofuel production: A critical review. Biotechnol. Progress. 2019, 35:e2835.
- 5. Strieth, D., Schwing, J., Kuhne, S., Lakatos et al., A semi-continuous process based on an ePBR for the production of EPS using *Trichocoleus sociatus*. J. Biotechnol. 2017, 256, 6–12.
- Muffler K., Lakatos M., Schlegel C., Strieth D. et al., Application of Biofilm Bioreactors in White Biotechnology. In: Muffler K., Ulber R. (eds) Productive Biofilms. Adv. Biochem. 2014, 146, 123–161, Cham: Springer International Publishing
- 7. Strieth D., Ulber R., Muffler, K., Application of phototrophic biofilms : from fundamentals to processes, Bioproc Biosyst Eng. 2018, 41, 295–312.
- 8. Day, J. G., Stacey, G. (Eds.), Cryopreservation and freeze-drying protocols. Methods in molecular biology. Humana Press, New York. 2007.
- 9. Rhodes, L., Smith, J., Tervit, R., Roberts, R. et al., Cryopreservation of economically valuable marine micro-algae in the classes Bacillariophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Cyanophyceae, Dinophyceae, Haptophyceae, Prasinophyceae, and Rhodophyceae. Cryobiology. 2006, 52, 152–156.
- Romo, S., Pérez-Martínez, C., The Use of Immobilization in Alginate Beads for Long-Term Storage of *Pseudoanabaena galeata* (Cyanobacteria) in the laboratory. J. Phycol. 1997, 33, 1073–1076.
- 11. Rippka, R., Deruelles, J., Waterbury, J. B., Herdman, M. et al., Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria., J. Gen. Microbiol. 1979, 111, 1–61.

Chapter IV

A modified method for a fast and economic determination of nitrate concentrations in microalgal cultures

Marco Witthohn¹, Anne-Kathrin Schmidt¹, Dorina Strieth², Roland Ulber², Kai Muffler¹

¹Department of Life Sciences and Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Bingen, Berlinstr. 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany ²Chair of Bioprocess Engineering, Technical university of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

Algal Research (2022), 69, 102957

Authorship contribution

- M. Witthohn: Project administration, visualization, writing, investigation (data for fig. 1-4).
- A.-K. Schmidt: Methodology, investigation (data for fig. 3).
- D. Strieth: Final approval of the article, visualization.
- R. Ulber: Funding acquisition, review & editing, conceptualization.
- K. Muffler: Funding acquisition, supervision, conceptualization, review & editing.

Keywords: Cyanobacteria, Nitrate determination, Salicylate

Abstract

The sodium salicylate method for nitrate determination in liquids was adapted for the use in microtiter plates and the applicability of this quick, easy and economic test was examined for cyanobacterial mineral media. The assay was found to be suitable for a direct detection of nitrate ions up to a concentration of 450 mg L⁻¹ within the commonly used mineral media BG-11, BBM, ASN-III and Zarrouk. The salicylate method was successfully used for the correlation of *Synechococcus elongatus* PCC 6301 cell growth and nitrate consumption over 17 cultivation days.

1 Introduction

Nitrogen (N) is essential for cyanobacterial growth, as it is a major constituent of photosynthetic pigments as chlorophyll and phycobiliproteins. It is also an important element for the production of a vast array of cyanobacteria-derived secondary metabolites. Several methods have been established for the determination of nitrate concentrations in liquids. Some, as the commonly used ion chromatography [1, 2], are based on direct detection via UV measurement at 210 [3] or 225 nm [4] and require the use of a chromatography system [5] for fractionation of complex samples, which prevents overlaying signals caused by interfering ions or larger molecules. Some require either chemical conversion/diazotisation of nitrate, mostly preceded by a reduction to nitrite or ammonia, followed by spectrometric measurement of the formed products [6-8]. There is a variety of commercial kits using a colorimetric reaction, examples are the "nitrate/nitrite Assay Kit Colorimetric" from Sigma Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), the Hach "NI-11 Nitrate Test Kit" (Hach Lange GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany) and the "Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit" (Cayman Chemical, Michigan, USA). These tests have a price range of ~ 1,38 – 5,73 €/test (before taxes). The most common approach for on-line data recording is the use of nitrate-specific ion-selective electrodes (ISEs), based on potential difference measurements [9, 10]. All these methods have certain advantages and disadvantages, depending on the envisaged application area. In case of bacterial culture media, a nitrate detection via direct UV- or infrared spectroscopy is mostly not feasible, because of too many interfering components. ISEs are easy to use and allow continuous data acquisition, however, ionic interferences have been observed [11] and electrodes must be replaced regularly. Therefore, indirect chemical detection methods can be cheap, easy, and reliable alternatives to more time consuming, or hardware requiring approaches.

We adapted the sodium salicylate method for the use in 96-well plates and tested it for interference with the most widely used mineral media for microalgae and cyanobacteria, the

blue-green algae (BG)-11 medium [12], artificial seawater nutrients (ASN)-III medium [12], Bold's basal medium (BBM) [13] and Zarrouk's (Z) medium [14]. The salicylate method for nitrate determination [15] was chosen because of its relative insensitivity against interfering ions [16], the feasibility and the cheap and relatively low toxic ingredients. It is based on two reaction steps, first the nitration of salicylate through addition of concentrated sulphuric acid. The 5-nitro isomer is preferentially formed over the 3-nitro isomer [17]. Secondly the formation of 5-sodiumnitrosalicylate through alkalisation of the previously formed 5-nitrosalicylic acid with sodium hydroxide (**Fig. 1**).



5-nitrosalicylic acid

5-sodiumnitrosalicylate (yellow)

Fig. 1 Formation of 5-sodiumnitrosalicylate by nitration of salicylic acid through addition of conc. H_2SO_4 and alkalisation of the resulting 5-nitrosalicylic acid with 30 % (w/v) NaOH. For the first reaction step, water must be evaporated before the addition of H_2SO_4 . The nitrate residue reacts with the H_2SO_4 , resulting in the formation of nitric acid, which nitrifies the available salicylic acid. By alkalisation of the resulted compound with NaOH, the hydroxy- and carboxyl group are deprotonated. After an electrophilic addition of 2 Na⁺, the yellow compound 5-sodiumnitrosalicylate is formed.

5-sodiumnitrosalicylate is a yellow compound with maximum absorbance at 412 nm (see **3.1**, **Fig. 2**). If technically necessary, a wavelength range of approx. 400 - 440 nm can as well be used for detection.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Determination of nitrate concentration

2.1.1 Sodium salicylate assay

The adapted sodium salicylate method was performed in 96-well microtiter plates (Rotilabo[®] F-profile, Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany). A sample volume of 25 µL was used for

each reaction. If nitrate concentrations higher than 350 mg L⁻¹ were to be expected, samples were diluted 1:10 in H₂O_{demin}. Subsequently, 25 μ L of 1 % (w/v) sodium salicylate solution were added to the samples. In this step, the bottom of the wells was covered evenly avoiding the formation of one single drop. The water was evaporated for 45 - 50 min at 80 °C in a drying cabinet (UT 6200, Heraeus GmbH, Hanau, Germany). The drying step is crucial, as all water must be eliminated for the formation of nitric acid from solid nitrate and sulphuric acid. The remaining salts were dissolved in 25 μ L conc. H₂SO₄ by mixing on an incubation shaker at 200 rpm for 10 min at room temperature (TR-125, Infors AG, Bottmingen, Schweiz). The acidic solution was diluted with 150 μ L H₂O_{demin} and then alkalised by addition of 125 μ L 30 % (w/v) NaOH. After an incubation time of 5 min at room temperature, the absorption was measured at 405 nm, using a microtiter plate reader (EL808 Ultra Microplate Reader, Bio-Tek Instruments Inc., Vermont, USA). The method protocol is summarized in **Table 1**. The absorption maximum of 5-sodiumnitrosalicylate was determined by UV/VIS spectrometry (**Fig. 2**). Although 412 nm was determined as the optimal wavelength, the assay was performed at 405 nm, because of technical reasons.

Step #	Ingredients	Concentration	Volume [µL]				
1	Sample	100 % (v/v) or	25				
		10 % (v/v)					
2	Sodium salicylate	1 % (w/v)	25				
3	Evaporation at 80 °C (45 - 50 min)						
4	H ₂ SO ₄	Conc.	25				
5	Incubation for 10 min at 200 rpm						
	(dried residue must be fully resolved)						
6	H ₂ O _{demin}		150				
7	NaOH	30 % (w/v)	125				
8	Incubation for 5 min						
9	Absorbance measurement at 405 nm						

Table 5 Application of the sodium salicylate method for nitrate concentration determination in 96well plates.

2.1.2 Reference assay (Griess assay)

The Griess assay is based on a first enzymatic reduction of nitrate to nitrite, followed by diazotisation of nitrite, resulting in a deep-purple azo-compound. The concentration of the reaction product can be determined by visible spectroscopy.

The Griess assay was used for verification of the adapted sodium salicylate assay (**3.3**, **Fig. 4**). A commercially available assay kit was used for the measurements (Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit, Cayman Chemical, Michigan, USA).

2.2 Mineral media

The mineral media tested for applicability with the adapted sodium salicylate assay are listed in **Table 2**. NaNO₃ was omitted from the table and added to the mineral media at varying concentrations for the purpose of assay calibration (**3.2**, **Fig. 3**). For the cultivation of *Synechococcus elongatus* PCC 6301 in BG-11, the indicated NaNO₃ concentration at 1.5 g L⁻¹ was used.

Ingradiant [g] -1]	Cyanobacteria Mineral Medium					
	BG-11	ASN-III	BBM	Zarrouk		
NaCl		25.0	0.025	1.0		
MgCl ₂ × 6H ₂ O		2.0				
KCI		0.5				
NaNO ₃	1.5	0.75	0.25	2.5		
K ₂ HPO ₄ × 3H ₂ O	0.04	0.02	0.098			
KH ₂ PO ₄			0.175	0.5		
K ₂ SO ₄				1.0		
MgSO ₄ × 7H ₂ O	0.075	3.5	0.075	0.2		
CaCl ₂ × 2H ₂ O	0.036	0.5	0.025	0.04		
Citric acid	0.006	0.003				
Ferric ammonium citrate	0.006	0.003				
EDTA-Na₂Mg	0.001	0.0005				
EDTA-Na			0.05	0.08		
КОН			0.031			
FeSO4 × 7H2O			0.00498 (+ 0,1 % H ₂ SO ₄)	0.01		
Na ₂ CO ₃	0.02	0.02				
NaHCO ₃				16.8		
H ₃ BO ₃	2.86 10 ⁻³	2.86 10 ⁻³	11.42 10 ⁻³	2.86 10 ⁻³		
MnCl ₂ × 4H ₂ O	1.81 10 ⁻³	1.81 10 ⁻³	1.44 10 ⁻³	1.81 10 ⁻³		
ZnSO ₄ × 7H ₂ O	0.222 10 ⁻³	0.222 10 ⁻³	8.82 10 ⁻³	0.222 10 ⁻³		
Na ₂ MoO ₄ × 2H ₂ O	0.39 10 ⁻³	0.39 10 ⁻³		0.39 10 ⁻³		
MoO ₃			0.71 10 ⁻³			
CuSO ₄ × 5H ₂ O	0.079 10 ⁻³	0.079 10 ⁻³	1.57 10 ⁻³	0.079 10 ⁻³		
Co(NO ₃) ₂ × 6H ₂ O	0.0494 10 ⁻³	0.0494 10 ⁻³	0.49 10 ⁻³	0.0494 10 ⁻³		
final pH	7.4	7.5	6.6	8.25		

 Table 6 Chemical composition of the mineral media

2.3 Cultivation of Synechococcus elongatus PCC 6301

S. *elongatus* PCC 6301 was cultivated at 30 °C, 150 rpm and 200 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ (Multitron Pro, Infors AG, Bottmingen, Switzerland) in 100 mL shaking flasks containing

20 mL of BG-11 medium, respectively. Before usage, the medium was sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 20 min (Systec VE-150 Systec GmbH, Linden, Germany). All flasks were inoculated to an OD₇₃₀ of 0.1 with cells of a preculture cultivated under the same conditions. The cell dry mass (CDM) was measured by serial harvest of three flasks each 2-3 days of cultivation and subsequent desiccation and weighting of the biomass. Cell harvest was performed by centrifugation at 4600 rpm for 15 min at room temperature (Rotanta 460 R, Hettich GmbH, Tuttlingen, Germany). Desiccation of the wet biomass was carried out at 70 °C for 15 h in a drying cabinet (UT 6200, Heraeus GmbH, Hanau, Germany). The CDM was measured with a precision scale (M254Ai-M, VWR GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany).

2.4 Statistical analysis

Data of the Griess-/ sodium-salicylate assay comparison (**Fig. 4**) was analysed at a 95% confidence level using ANOVA and post-hoc test, Tukey-HSD (XLSTAT 2022.4.1).

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Spectrogram of 5-nitrosalicylic acid

To identify the possible wavelength range for the detection of 5-nitrosalicylic acid, a spectrogram of the final reaction mixture was done. The range of the yellow target product is shown in **Fig. 2**.



Fig. 2 Spectrogram of 5-sodiumnitrosalicylic acid, the absorption maximum is indicated at 412 nm. The absorbance scan was done using a spectrophotometer with a set scan range of 350 - 500 nm. The 5-sodiumnitrosalicylic acid was synthesized using the method shown in Table 1.

The shown UV/VIS spectrum of 5-nitrosalicylic acid shows an absorption maximum at about 410 to 420 nm, with a calculated peak at 412 nm. This is congruent with literature; a wavelength of 410 - 420 nm is mostly used for the detection of the component [16, 18–20]. The spectrogram shows that 5-nitrosalicylic acid can be detected at wavelengths between 400 and 430 nm, which expands the usability with photometers/well plate readers offering limited wavelength ranges.

3.2 Applicability for standard mineral media

The applicability of the adapted sodium salicylate method for widely used microalgae and cyanobacteria mineral media was tested with BG-11, BBM, ASN-III and Z-medium, containing nitrate concentrations between 0 and 450 µg mL⁻¹ (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3 Calibration curves of the sodium salicylate method adapted for 96-well plates using standard mineral media frequently used for cultivation of microalgae and cyanobacteria. NaNO₃ was used as NO₃ source, concentrations of 0 to 450 μ g mL⁻¹ were applied. The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 4 replicates.

The calibration curves obtained with all four mineral media are linear until a nitrate concentration of 350 μ g mL⁻¹. In case of BBM and Z-medium, a linearity until 450 μ g mL⁻¹ was confirmed. Concentrations exceeding the ones shown in **Fig. 3** led to non-linearity and must therefore be diluted as required. The coefficient of determination (R²) for all calibration curves is between 0.9924 and 0.9996. Thus, the data fit the linear trend-lines with high accuracy. The slopes of all four straight lines range between 0.0095 and 0.0117. While the slopes of BBM, ASN-III and Z only differ by a magnitude of \pm 0.00017, the standard deviation including the BG-11 data is \pm 0.00089. Consequently, only the BG-11 slope differs more significantly from the other slopes. Nonetheless, the deviation is quite low and could be reduced by more replicates.

The data emphasize that the adapted sodium salicylate assay is suitable for the determination of nitrate concentrations in standard cyanobacteria mineral media and provides comparable data despite of diverging ingredients, salt concentrations and pH

values. It is known that high Cl⁻ concentrations of > 1.5 g L⁻¹ and nitrite concentrations of > 10 mg L⁻¹ N cause interferences in the sodium salicylate test [16, 18]. Especially the Cl⁻ concentration could play a role in marine microalgae cultivation. However, as only 25 μ l sample is used in a total volume of 350 μ l, a critical concentration is hard to reach. The application of ASN-III medium (25 g L⁻¹ NaCl) had no unexpected effects on the modified assay. If in doubt, samples should be diluted accordingly, or Cl⁻ can be removed with silver sulphate. For the elimination of nitrite, the application of sulphamic acid was proposed [18].

3.3 Practical application of the assay

For a practical evaluation of the assay, *S. elongatus* PCC 6301 was cultivated in shaking flasks for 3-17 days and the nitrate concentration of the cell-free culture supernatants was determined. The obtained data was correlated with CDM values (**Fig. 4**).



Fig. 4 Correlation of *S. elongatus* PCC 6301 CDM and nitrate concentration in the cell-free culture supernatants. Nitrate concentration was determined by the adapted sodium salicylate assay and Griess assay. Standard BG-11 with $1.5 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ NaNO}_3 (1.09 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ NO}_3^{-})$ was used as cultivation medium. The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 4 (nitrate) or 3 (CDM) replicates. Different letters indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05 (ANOVA and post-hoc with Tukey HSD).

The adapted sodium salicylate method was performed with samples of an actual *S. elongatus* cultivation, as the applicability for long-term cultivations should be shown. The obtained data was verified by Griess assay, a frequently used colorimetric low-budget test

for nitrite/nitrate analysis [7, 21, 22]. Both assays resulted into a comparable progression, the data match increases towards the end of the cultivation. The statistical analysis shows no significant differences between the corresponding values of both tests. Since standard BG-11 containing 1.5 g L⁻¹ NaNO₃ was used, the initial nitrate concentration was 1.09 g L⁻¹. Standard deviations of the Griess assay data were considerably low, but the initially measured nitrate concentration was beyond the anticipated 1.09 g L⁻¹. Although having higher standard deviations, the adapted salicylate assay data represent the initial nitrate concentration more accurately. The nitrate depletion rate determined by means of the sodium salicylate assay is -3.0625 d⁻¹, a rate of -3.0703 d⁻¹ was calculated with Griess assay data. The depletion rates show a high consistence between the two tests and are not significantly different (p < 0.05). It could be shown that the sodium salicylate method can be used for nitrate concentration determination in a long-term cyanobacterial culture. The assay is not interfered by any extracellular components or the typically increasing pH value. The adaption to 96-well plates offers a significantly higher sample throughput compared to the former assay, as well as to chromatographic methods. While an HPLC run takes about 30 min per sample [21], the adapted sodium salicylate assay allows the analysis of at least 100 samples in approximately 1.5 hours.

4 Conclusion

The proposed sodium salicylate method adapted for 96-well plates was shown to be fully applicable for the work with cyanobacteria and microalgae. Four different standard mineral media were tested for interfering effects, as well as samples of a long-term *S. elongatus* cultivation. Compared to the Griess assay, the initial nitrate concentration of the cultivation medium could be determined more accurately. The adapted sodium salicylate assay is quick and easy, as it does not require an additional chemical or enzymatical reduction step as the Griess method. Moreover, only minimal amounts of low-price chemicals with relatively low toxicity are needed.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by funding from the State of Rhineland-Palatinate (project "iProcess" and the "Forschungsinitiative Rheinland-Pfalz").
5 References

- 1. Michalski R, Kurzyca I (2006) Determination of nitrogen species (Nitrate, Nitrite and Ammonia Ions) in environmental samples by ion chromatography. Pol J Environ Stud 15:5–18
- 2. Buchberger WW (2001) Detection techniques in ion chromatography of inorganic ions. TrAC 20:296–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-9936(01)00068-1
- 3. Cawse PA (1967) The determination of nitrate in soil solutions by ultraviolet spectrophotometry. Analyst 92:311–315. https://doi.org/10.1039/AN9679200311
- 4. Brown L, Bellinger EG (1978) Nitrate determination in fresh and some estuarine waters by ultraviolet light absorption: A new proposed method. Water Res 12:223–229. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(78)90090-8
- 5. Thayer JR, Huffaker RC (1980) Determination of nitrate and nitrite by high-pressure liquid chromatography: Comparison with other methods for nitrate determination. Anal Biochem 102:110–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(80)90325-5
- 6. Griess P (1879) Bemerkungen zu der Abhandlung der HH. Weselky und Benedikt über einige Azoverbindungen. Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft 12:426–428
- Tsikas D (2007) Analysis of nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids by assays based on the Griess reaction: appraisal of the Griess reaction in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of research. J Chromatogr B 851:51–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.07.054
- 8. Moorcroft MJ, Davis J, Compton RG (2001) Detection and determination of nitrate and nitrite: A review. Talanta 54:785–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-9140(01)00323-X
- Kitazumi Y (2022) Recent development of ion selective electrodes. Anal Sci 38:1007– 1008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s44211-022-00145-z
- 10. Craggs A, Moody GJ, Thomas JDR (1974) Matrix Membrane Ion-Selective Electrodes. J Chem Educ 51:541–544
- 11. Di Gioia F, Simonne EH, Gonnella M, et al (2010) Assessment of ionic interferences to nitrate and potassium analyses with ion-selective electrodes. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 41:1750–1768. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2010.489138
- Rippka, R., Deruelles, J., Waterbury, J. B., Herdman, M., Stanier RY (1979) Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria. J Gen Microbiol 111:1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1
- 13. Cox ER, Bold HC (1966) Phycological Studies VII. Taxonomic Investigations of Stigeoclonium. Univ Texas Publ 1–167
- 14. Zarrouk C (1966) Contribution à l'étude d'une cyanophycée Influence de divers facteurs physuques et chimiques sur la croissance et la photosynthèse de Spirulina maxima. Thesis, University of Paris, France.
- 15. Deutsche Einheitsverfahren zur Wasser-, Abwasser- und Schlammuntersuchung. Weinheim/Bergstr.: Verlag Chemie 1971
- Scheiner D (1974) A modified version of the sodium salicylate method for analysis of wastewater nitrates. Water Res 8:835–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(74)90030-X
- 17. Hummel M, Laus G, Nerdinger S, Schottenberger H (2010) Improved synthesis of 3nitrosalicylic acid. Synth Commun 40:3353–3357. https://doi.org/10.1080/00397910903419852
- Monteiro MIC, Ferreira FN, De Oliveira NMM, Ávila AK (2003) Simplified version of the sodium salicylate method for analysis of nitrate in drinking waters. Anal Chim Acta 477:125–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(02)01395-8
- 19. Rutkoviene V, Grazuliaviciene V, Cesoniene L, Kusta A (2005) Determination of nitrate concentration in natural waters. Russian Journal of Applied Chemistry 78:1864–1868. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11167-005-0623-2

- 20. Cruz C, Martins Loução MA (2002) Comparison of methodologies for nitrate determination in plants and soils. J Plant Nutr 25:1185–1211. https://doi.org/10.1081/PLN-120004382
- 21. Romitelli F, Santini SA, Chierici E, et al (2007) Comparison of nitrite/nitrate concentration in human plasma and serum samples measured by the enzymatic batch Griess assay, ion-pairing HPLC and ion-trap GC-MS: The importance of a correct removal of proteins in the Griess assay. J Chromatogr B 851:257–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2007.02.003
- 22. Shen Y, Zhang Q, Qian X, Yang Y (2015) Practical assay for nitrite and nitrosothiol as an alternative to the griess assay or the 2,3-diaminonaphthalene assay. Anal Chem 87:1274–1280. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac5039779

Chapter V

Continuous production of an antimicrobial metabolite with the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana*

Marco Witthohn¹, Dorina Strieth², Roland Ulber², Kai Muffler¹

¹Department of Life Sciences and Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Bingen, Berlinstr. 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany ²Institute of Bioprocess Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

Algal Research (2023), 103193

Authorship contribution

- M. Witthohn: Project administration, visualization, writing, investigation (all shown data).
- D. Strieth: Final approval of the article, visualization.
- R. Ulber: Funding acquisition, review & editing, conceptualization.
- K. Muffler: Funding acquisition, supervision, conceptualization, review & editing.

Keywords: Cyanobacteria, *Chroococcidiopsis cubana*, Antibiotic metabolite, Continuous production

Abstract

The terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* was identified as a producer of an antimicrobial substance inhibiting growth of the Gram-positive bacterium *Micrococcus luteus* and the yeast *Candida auris*. It was found that the production is initiated by nitrogen limitation, usually occurring during late exponential growth phase of the cyanobacterium. This effect was used for implementation of a continuous production set-up, which led to a significantly increased formation of the antimicrobial metabolite. The produced bioactive culture supernatant was purified by reverse phase chromatography; the most potent fraction caused a growth inhibition of over 90 % for both indicator organisms. The metabolite remained active until a temperature of approx. 45 °C; at increasing temperatures, the inhibiting effect decreased significantly. By identification of the trigger initiating the compound synthesis, a first scale-up could be implemented, leading to a reliable production of the antimicrobial metabolite. As *Candida auris* is an emerging pathogen causing serious infections, this work can be the first step to the development of a potent antifungal drug.

1 Introduction

Cyanobacteria are a long-known source for potent bioactive compounds [1-3]. Among these are highly toxic substances as the microcystins, which can cause severe health impacts on animals as well as on humans. But also more beneficial compounds with e.g. antibacterial [4–6], antiviral [7, 8], antifungal [4, 9, 10] and also antitumoral activity [11–13] are synthesized by cyanobacteria. However, until now, none of these substances is produced in an industrial scale or was authorised as medicinal drug, although some already passed clinical trials [14]. The reasons for this are diverse, one of them surely being the extremely tedious and costly drug approval process. Moreover, cyanobacteria are no ideal production organisms, especially for conventional bioreactor systems. As mainly phototrophic organisms, their cultivation requires specialized photobioreactors and constant light supply. In addition, the regulation and forming process of most cyanobacterial bioactive compounds is not fully understood, which results in low product yields and an unreliable process [2]. In case of fully uncovered and less complex metabolic pathways, the desired substances are commonly produced heterogeneously with standard production organisms as Escherichia coli, Corynebacterium glutamicum or Saccharomyces cerevisiae [15]. In case of cyanobacteria, such an approach can be challenging, as only few genomes are completely sequenced [16] and bioactive substances are mostly produced by nonribosomal peptide synthetases (NRPS), polyketide synthases (PKS) or a combination of both [17–19]. These multi-domain enzyme complexes are encoded by large gene clusters. For example, the microcystin biosynthesis cluster from Microcystis aeruginosa spans 55

kilobase pairs [20]. Although it was shown that the cloning and heterologous expression of such large gene clusters is possible and can lead to functional products [21–24], such approaches are rather rare and not applied in an industrial scale. Main problems are incorrect enzyme folding, expensive precursor substrates and low product yields [23, 25]. Even though heterologous approaches could already show very promising results, it is still a long way to an economical production process.

An obvious alternative is the production of bioactive substances using the natural producing cyanobacteria strains. As mentioned before, the cultivation of these phototrophic bacteria requires specialized illuminated bioreactors. In some terrestrial cyanobacteria, the synthesis of pharmaceutically relevant metabolites is even desiccation induced, like the formation of the UV screening compound scytonemin [26], which requires the application of adapted reactor systems [27–29]. However, in times of increasing resource scarcity and climate change, a production process based on cheap mineral culture medium, CO₂- consumption and (sun-) light for energy supply can offer great chances over traditional bioprocesses using heterotrophic microorganisms.

For an upscaled production of valuable substances using cyanobacteria, it is crucial to have information on the regulation mechanisms that trigger the formation of the desired compounds and on how they can be exploited to maximize the product yield. Such information is generally only available to a limited degree, most research towards this subject was done for toxins from freshwater cyanobacteria, as microcystin, saxitoxin, cylindrospermopsin and anatoxin-a [30]. These molecules are all synthetised nonribosomally by NRPS/PKS-systems or similar enzyme complexes in different cyanobacterial genera [31]. It was found that abiotic stimuli affecting the respective toxinproductivity is often strain dependent and common regulation rules are difficult to determine [31]. Very little research was done on the regulation of other, more beneficial, cyanobacterial secondary metabolites. Bloor and England examined the optimal mineral medium (BG-11) composition for the production of an antibiotic substance in Nostoc muscorum [32]. They discovered that a three-fold nitrate concentration of 26.4 mM, as well as a decrease in FeSO₄ \times 6 H₂O from 15 μ M to 6 μ M, maximized the antibiotic production. El-Sheek and colleagues (2006) also analysed the production parameters leading to an augmented antibiotic production in N. muscorum [6]. Their results confirm the findings of Bloor and England; a doubled nitrate concentration, while all other BG-11 components (so iron as well) are reduced by half, caused the strongest antagonistic activity in N. muscorum biomass extracts. Chetsumon et al. (1993) optimized the antibiotic production of immobilized Scytonema sp. TISTR 8208 cells. Best results were obtained by cultivation in standard mineral medium with 1.5 g $L^{\text{-1}}$ NaNO_3 and an increased FeSO₄ \times 6 H₂O concentration of 0.025 g L⁻¹ [33]. The presented examples show that the production

101

regulation of bioactive secondary metabolites in cyanobacteria depends on the specific strain and can depend on different physical and nutritional aspects. Although there is no common trigger for the formation of valuable secondary metabolites in cyanobacteria, it can still be worthwhile to test out different optimization options. Every information on regulation processes can help to establish a production process with constantly high yields of valuable bioactive substances.

The terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* attracted attention as a profound source of potentially interesting biosynthesis genes, coding for e.g. antimicrobial compounds. One of these putative bacteriocin-encoding genes was heterologously expressed in *E. coli* and showed broad growth-inhibiting activity against several Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria [34]. This compound was not synthesized by an NRPS or PKS and is therefore a suitable target for heterologous production. As the strain was found to also produce an antimicrobial metabolite natively, this study focused on the improvement of cultivation conditions, aiming at an increased compound production. The identification of a positive regulation trigger was intended to be used as the basis for a reliable production process, providing sufficient amounts of antimicrobial material for further analysis.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Used strains

The cyanobacterium *C. cubana* SAG 39.79 (obtained from *Culture collection of Algae* at Goettingen University) was used for the production of antimicrobial metabolites. As indicator organisms, mainly close relatives of the "ESKAPE" strains, named after *Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Enterobacter* species, were used and tested for susceptibility. These microorganisms are clinically most relevant pathogens, frequently evolving multidrug-resistances. All indicator organisms were obtained from the *German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH* (DSMZ).

- Acinetobacter baylyi DSM 14961
- Bacillus subtilis DSM 507
- Candida auris DSM 21092
- Escherichia coli DSM 498
- Enterococcus caccae DSM 19114
- Micrococcus luteus DSM 20030
- Mycobacterium phlei DSM 43239

- Pseudomonas fluorescens DSM 50090
- Staphylococcus auricularis DSM 20609

2.2 Cultivation and cell harvest

Cyanobacteria were cultivated in 100 mL flasks, in a photoincubator (Multitron Pro, Infors HT, Switzerland), at 120 rpm, 30 °C and a light intensity of 160 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹, without addition of CO₂ or an organic carbon source. The standard mineral medium BG-11 [35] was used for cultivation. The heterotrophic organisms used in the antimicrobial assays were cultivated in 100 mL flasks at 150 rpm and 30 °C (TR-125, Infors AG, Switzerland), using Mueller-Hinton medium for all bacterial strains and Sabouraud medium for the yeast *C. auris* (Carl Roth GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany).

C. cubana cultures were harvested in late exponential growth phase (approx. 14 days) by centrifugation at 4600 rpm (Rotanta 460 R, Hettich GmbH & Co. KG, Germany). Main cultures of 200 mL were inoculated with 1 g L⁻¹ cell wet mass (CWM), respectively. Desiccation of the wet biomass was done at 70 °C for 15 h in a drying cabinet (UT 6200, Heraeus GmbH, Hanau, Germany). The cell dry mass (CDM) was measured with a precision scale (M254Ai-M, VWR GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany).

2.2.1 Cultivation in Bioreactors

Two identical 2.5 L bioreactors (Minifors I, Infors HT, Switzerland) were used for the comparative batch- and continuous cultivations of *C. cubana*. A respective cultivation volume of 1.7 L BG-11 medium was inoculated with 1 g L⁻¹ CWM. For both processes, a constant cultivation temperature of 30 °C, an agitation speed of 150 rpm and a ventilation rate (sterile air) of 1 L min⁻¹ was applied. Illumination was provided by standard (cold white) LED panels (VILTROX L116T, Shenzen Jueying Technology Co. LTD, Shenzhen, China). Light intensity was determined as 150 μ mol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹ (LI-250A Light Meter, LI-COR Biosciences, Germany). The cultivation processes were conducted under sterile conditions. After five days of identical batch cultivation, a dilution rate of 0.018 h⁻¹ was applied to the bioreactor intended for continuous cultivation. BG-11 medium with a reduced NaNO₃ concentration of 0.274 g L⁻¹ (\approx 0.062 g L⁻¹N) instead of 1.5 g L⁻¹ was used for the continuous flow mode. By this, a condition of nitrate limitation could steadily be adjusted in the culture medium. The process was not used under chemostat conditions. Samples of both processes were taken in 2 mL triplicates each second/third day for a total cultivation time of 19 days.

2.3 Inhibition zone test

Inhibition zone tests were used for an initial, qualitatively screening of cyanobacteria for the production of antimicrobial metabolites. The applied indicator organisms (see 2.1) were

harvested in exponential growth phase, diluted to an OD_{600} of 0.1 and plated on Mueller-Hinton agar plates containing a respective volume of 25 mL. Subsequently, holes of 1 cm diameter were punched into the agar and filled with 100 µL cell-free cyanobacteria cultivation supernatant. BG-11 medium (100 µL, respectively) was taken as a negative control in order to exclude false-positive results caused by salts of the mineral medium. The plates were incubated for 24 h at 30 °C.

2.4 Checkerboard growth inhibition test

The checkerboard growth inhibition tests were performed in 96 well plates (NuncTM MicroWellTM 96-Well Microplates, Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, USA). For each well, a volume of 50 µL *M. luteus/C. auris* suspension, diluted to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.2 with the respective cultivation medium, was mixed with 50 µL of cell free *C. cubana* cultivation sample. The indicator organisms were harvested in exponential growth phase. The test plates were sealed with parafilm and incubated at 30 °C and 150 rpm for 16 h (TR-125, Infors AG, Switzerland). The OD₅₉₅ was measured (EL 808, BioTek Instruments GmbH, Germany) and the difference of OD_{start} to OD_{end} was compared to the negative control (nc), which consisted of 50 µL of the respective indicator organism suspension mixed with 50 µL BG-11 mineral medium. The nc was cultivated exactly as the test samples. The reached OD₅₉₅ of *M. luteus/C. auris* in presence of BG-11 served as 100 % growth reference. The inhibiting activity [%] was calculated as follows:

$$100 - (\frac{OD_{end} - OD_{start}}{OD_{nc}} \times 100)$$
 (Eq. 1)

The respective mean values of four biological replicates are shown, error bars represent standard deviation. The statistical analysis was done using a two-tailed homoscedastic Student's t-test. If no separate groups were compared (all shown data, except for Fig. 7), the inhibition data was compared to the control values using the end-OD₅₉₅ values.

2.5 Nitrate test

The nitrate concentration in the *C. cubana* culture supernatants was measured by a modified version of the sodium salicylate method [36], using 96 well plates. All steps were exactly conducted as specified in the reference.

2.6 Purification of the antibiotic substance

The antibiotic substance was purified and concentrated by reversed phase chromatography (RPC), using an Äkta[™] start FPLC system (Cytiva Europe GmbH, Freiburg, Germany) with an XK 26 column (Cytiva Europe GmbH, Freiburg, Germany), filled with Diaion HP-20 resin

(styrene-divinylbenzene, 250 – 850 µm, Mitsubishi Chemical Corp., Tokyo, Japan). The column was packed to a bed volume of 100 mL. As binding buffer, 50 mM ammoniumacetate and 2 % (v/v) acetonitrile was used, the elution buffer consisted of 20 % binding buffer and 80 % acetonitrile. For the purification and concentration of the antibiotic substance produced by C. cubana, 6 L of culture broth harvested in the continuous cultivation process was filtrated through 0.4 µm sterile filters (Nalgene[™] Rapid-Flow[™] Sterile Disposable Bottle Top Filters, Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, USA) prior to loading the column. The drained culture broth was collected over approx. 8 days; the subfractions were harvested daily, followed by filtration and storage at 4 °C until the purification step. The column was loaded with a flow rate of 5 mL min⁻¹ overnight. Elution was done over 4 column volumes; the eluate was collected in 15 mL fractions. The fractions were transferred to 6-well-plates (PS, ATC0.1, Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) and evaporated to complete dryness for 24 – 48 h at 40 °C in a drying cabinet (UT 6200, Heraeus GmbH, Hanau, Germany). The drying temperature was selected on the basis of temperature stability tests (2.7; Fig. 6). The residues were resolved in 2 mL H₂O_{demin}, respectively, and subsequently used in the checkerboard growth inhibition test (2.4).

2.7 Temperature stability test

For the determination of the antibiotic's temperature stability, bioactive *C. cubana* culture supernatant was heated for one hour at temperatures between 37 and 80 °C on a thermoshaker (TS-100 BIOSan, Latvia). Afterwards, the samples were tested for activity by a checkerboard growth inhibition test (2.4).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Screening for antibiotic substances

Several heterotrophic bacteria and one yeast were tested for susceptibility against the antimicrobial metabolite produced by *C. cubana*. As indicator organisms, primarily close relatives of the ESKAPE-strains were used in inhibition zone tests (**Table 1**).

Strain	Gram-type	Susceptibility	Max. Inhibition zone diameter [cm]
			[•]
Acinetobacter baylyi DSM 14961	-	-	-
Bacillus subtilis DSM 507	+	-	-
Candida auris DSM 21092	/	+	2 (diminished cell growth)
Escherichia coli DSM 498	-	-	-
Enterococcus caccae DSM 19114	+	-	-
Micrococcus luteus DSM 20030	+	+	1.2 (clear zone)
Mycobacterium phlei DSM 43239	+	-	-
Pseudomonas fluorescens DSM	-	-	-
50090			
Staphylococcus auricularis DSM	+	-	-
20609			

 Table 1 Indicator strains tested for susceptibility

From the tested strains, the Gram-positive bacterium *M. luteus* and the yeast *C. auris* showed growth inhibition zones on agar plates treated with *C. cubana* culture supernatant (**Fig. 1**).



Fig. 1: Inhibition zone test with *C. cubana* culture supernatants, taken after 7, 10 and 12 days of batch cultivation using 100 mL shaking flasks, in BG-11 medium at 150 rpm and 160 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. *C. auris* (A) and *M. luteus* (B) served as indicator strains for verification of the antimicrobial activity. C, control. Inhibition zone diameters (including punch holes): A, day 10: 1.7 cm, day 12: 2 cm; B, day 7: 1.05 cm, day 10: 1.2 cm, day 12: 1,1 cm.

Interestingly, many antibiotic compounds produced by cyanobacteria act on both, bacterial and fungal species [37], however, not much is known about the respective mode of action [38]. Most identified antifungal metabolites from cyanobacteria are cyclic peptides and target the cell membrane, leading to lytic cell death [38]. A similar mechanism was described for an antibiotic produced by *Scytonema* sp., which showed broad spectrum activity against Gram-positive bacteria and fungal/yeast cells [39], comparable to the activity spectrum of the compound described in this work. Although the mode of action was not examined in this

study, a cell membrane affecting activity that causes changes in permeability would be thinkable.

It was observed that the inhibiting activity of the supernatant strongly depends on the cultivation time. Samples taken after 7-12 days after inoculation showed the most significant activity, while samples before and after this point showed decreased or no activity. The culture supernatant taken after twelve days had the greatest impact on *C. auris* and *M. luteus* growth (**Fig. 1**)

For further examination of the antimicrobial substance, an increased and stable production was required. Consequently, the exact conditions under which the substance was optimally produced had to be elucidated. By repeated correlation of *C. cubana* CDW increase, nitrate depletion in the cultivation medium and inhibition of *M. luteus* and *C. auris* growth, it was found that growth inhibition of the indicator organisms was always highest when nitrate levels were low, approx. beyond 0.4 g L⁻¹ (**Fig. 2**).



Fig. 2: Correlation of *C. cubana* cell growth under phototrophic conditions with nitrate depletion and growth inhibiting activity against *C. auris* and *M. luteus*. The cultivation was performed in 100 mL shaking flasks in BG-11 medium at 150 rpm and 160 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The *C. cubana* CDM was measured by serial harvest of three shaking flasks, respectively, each 2-3 cultivation days (n = 3). The inhibiting activity was tested by growth assays in microtiter plates, using *C. cubana* cell free culture supernatant and the respective indicator organism (Start OD₆₀₀ 0.1; mixing ratio 1:1; n = 4). The plates were incubated for 15 h at 150 rpm and 30 °C. The final OD of the indicator organism was measured at 595 nm. The nitrate concentration was measured by sodium salicylate assay, adapted for 96-well microplates (n = 6) [36]. Nitrate concentration was measured until the antimicrobial activity reached a maximum. The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 3 (CDM), 4 (inhibition) or 6 (nitrate) biological replicates.

As shown in Fig. 2, the highest inhibition effects occurred with supernatant samples taken between days five and ten of *C. cubana* shaking flask cultivation. While *C. auris* growth inhibition already begins when treated with supernatant of the third *C. cubana* cultivation day, inhibition of *M. luteus* increases more slowly. Effects were first observed after five cultivation days. In both cases, the inhibiting activity climaxes at day ten. The varying growth inhibition intensities shown by both indicator organisms after day ten are putatively caused by a diverging susceptibility against the substance produced by *C. cubana*. A hint on this can be seen in **Fig. 1**; the *C. cubana* culture supernatant causes colony-free inhibition zones with *M. luteus*, while the inhibition zones of *C. auris* show only a diminished number of colonies, but no complete cell growth inhibition.

3.2 Establishment of a continuous production setup

As the until then obtained data suggested a nitrogen limitation to be the trigger initiating the production of an antimicrobial substance by *C. cubana*, a continuous cultivation system was set up for the acquisition of more assured data (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3: Continuous cultivation of *C. cubana* in an illuminated bioreactor. (Modified) BG-11 medium with $0 - 1.5 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ NaNO}_3$ was used as cultivation medium. Inoculum: $1 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ CWM}$, stirring rate: 150 rpm, gassing: $1 \text{ L} \text{ min}^{-1}$ of sterile air, $V_L = 1.7 \text{ I}$, T = 30 °C. Illumination (150 µmol_{photons} m⁻² s⁻¹) was provided by cold white LED panels (VILTROX L116T, Shenzen Jueying Technology Co. LTD, Shenzhen, China).

The continuous cultivation of *C. cubana* was used for a controlled decrease in nitrate concentration and a concomitant verification of the previously proposed N-limitation hypothesis. The cyanobacterium was first cultivated in batch mode using standard BG-11 for five days. Afterwards, the set-up was turned into continuous mode; BG-11 without a nitrogen source (BG-11₀) was used as feed medium. Over a period of ten days, samples were taken and checked for inhibiting activity against *C. auris* and *M. luteus*, as well as for remaining nitrate concentrations (**Fig. 4**).



Fig. 4: Correlation of nitrate depletion in a *C. cubana* continuous cultivation (D = 0.0375 h⁻¹) and growth inhibiting activity against *C. auris* and *M. luteus*. The cultivation was performed in an illuminated 2 L stirred tank reactor at 150 rpm and 160 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The inhibiting activity was tested by growth assays in microtiter plates, using *C. cubana* cell free culture supernatant and the respective indicator organism (Start OD₆₀₀ 0.1; mixing ratio 1:1; n = 4). The plates were incubated for 15 h at 150 rpm and 30 °C. The final OD of the indicator organism was measured at 595 nm. The nitrate concentration was measured by sodium salicylate assay, adapted for 96-well microplates (n = 6) [36]. The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 4 (inhibition) or 6 (nitrate) biological replicates.

The inhibiting activity of the cell-free C. cubana supernatants increased with decreasing nitrate concentration. Growth of the indicator organisms was most inhibited from samples taken after six and seven cultivation days, when the nitrate concentration was between 0.131 ± 0.05 and 0.059 ± 0.024 g L⁻¹. When the nitrate concentration fell below this point, the inhibiting activity of the culture supernatant decreased significantly. The observed effects were more significant with M. luteus than with C. auris, however, the general data progress remained congruent. In this experiment, a maximum growth inhibition of 22.99 \pm 3.57 % for *M. luteus* and 11.46 \pm 5.0 % for *C. auris* was reached with *C. cubana* culture supernatant of day seven. The significantly lower inhibition values compared to the ones obtained in the shaking flask experiment (Fig. 3) can be explained by the dilution rate of 0.0375 h⁻¹ in the continuous run, which allowed only a short time interval with an optimal nitrate concentration for the production of the antimicrobial metabolite. The high standard deviation of some inhibition values, mostly those resulting from C. cubana culture supernatant samples taken towards the end of the cultivation, is probably the result of outlier replicates caused by a mix of decreasing antibiotic impact and increasingly exported extracellular polymeric substances (EPS). The latter ones mainly consists of peptides and sugars and can serve as growth enhancers for the indicator organisms.

As the optimal nitrate concentration range to produce the antibiotic substance was established, this information could be used for the setup of a continuous production system (**Fig. 5**).



Fig. 5: Correlation of inhibiting activity, cell growth and nitrate depletion in *C. cubana* batch- and continuous cultivation (D = 0.018 h⁻¹). BG-11 with 0.3 g L⁻¹ NaNO₃ (\triangleq 0.219 g L⁻¹ NO₃⁻) was used as cultivation medium for the continuous cultivation, standard BG-11 for batch. Preceding continuous mode, the bioreactor was run in batch mode for five days, allowing a sufficient initial cell density. Cell-free culture supernatant of *C. cubana* was tested for antimicrobial activity against *M. luteus*. The inhibiting activity was tested by growth assays in microtiter plates, using *C. cubana* cell free culture supernatant and *M. luteus* as indicator organism (Start OD₆₀₀ 0.1; mixing ratio 1:1; n = 4). The plates were incubated for 15 h at 150 rpm and 30 °C. The final OD of the indicator organism was measured at 595 nm. The nitrate concentration was measured by sodium salicylate assay, adapted for 96-well microplates (n = 6) [36]. The CDW of *C. cubana* was measured gravimetrically after desiccation at 70 °C for 15 h (n = 3). The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 3 (CDM), 4 (inhibition) or 6 (nitrate) biological replicates. Asterisks indicate significant differences in inhibition between samples from batch and continuous cultivation (*, p ≤ 0.1; ***, p ≤ 0.001), determined by a two-tailed homoscedastic Student's t-test.

The inhibitory activity of *C. cubana* culture supernatants from cultivation in batch- and continuous mode was compared for evaluation of the production process effectiveness. For the continuous cultivation, BG-11 with 0.3 g L⁻¹ NaNO₃ (\triangleq 0.219 g L⁻¹ NO₃⁻) was used as feed medium, standard BG-11 for the preceding five days batch mode cultivation. Simultaneously, the *C. cubana* CDW and nitrate consumption was measured and correlated with the inhibition values. As expected from the previous experiments, the inhibitory activity of *C. cubana* batch cultivation supernatants reaches its maximum between exponential and stationary growth phase, at day 17 of cultivation, and a nitrate concentration of 0.5 g L⁻¹. By batch cultivation, a maximum *M. luteus* growth inhibition of

36.88 ± 1.55 % was reached. After that point, the inhibitory activity decreased drastically. The continuous cultivation samples from day 3 to day 14 caused a constantly low growth inhibition of 13 - 19 %. When the target nitrate concentration of 0.219 g L⁻¹ was reached between cultivation days 15 and 17, the inhibiting activity significantly increased to over 80 %. A maximum of 85.29 ± 2.75 % was measured using supernatant taken after 19 days of *C. cubana* cultivation. Besides for days 3 and 7, the inhibiting activity from continuous cultivation samples was considerably higher than from batch samples, with high significance (p ≤ 0.001). The obtained data confirm the findings of the experiment depicted in **Fig. 4** and prove that a continuous cultivation using a feed-medium with a reduced nitrogen source. A NaNO₃ concentration of 0.3 g L⁻¹ was shown to greatly improve the culture supernatant's inhibiting activity, which indicates a higher concentration of the antibiotic substance.

3.3 Enrichment of the antibiotic substance

Prior to purification attempts, the antibiotic substance produced by *C. cubana* was tested for temperature stability (**Fig. 6**). This test was necessary for the subsequent establishment of a purification process, as the RPC fractions had to be dried for complete evaporation of the used buffer and solvent. By this, any false-positive results could be excluded in the following inhibition assay.



Fig. 6: Temperature stability test of the antimicrobial metabolite produced by *C. cubana*. Nonpurified, cell-free culture supernatants were incubated for 1 h at the respective temperature, cooled to room temperature and tested for inhibiting activity by growth assays in microtiter plates, using *C. auris* as indicator organism (Start OD_{600} 0.1; mixing ratio 1:1; n = 4). Samples were incubated at 25 (positive control), 37, 45, 60 and 80 °C. The shown data represent relative values, referring to BG-11 as negative control. The plates were incubated for 15 h at 150 rpm and 30 °C. The final OD of

the indicator organism was measured at 595 nm. The results represent the mean value (\pm standard deviation) of 4 biological replicates.

The obtained data confirmed a temperature stability till 45 °C, with no or only slight decrease of inhibiting activity. An incubation of the antimicrobial compound at 60 °C led to an activity drop of about 25 %, which further decreased to 5.34 ± 6.7 % after heat treatment at 80 °C. As a result, purified fractions obtained by RPC could be evaporated safely at 40 °C, without a loss of activity.

The improved production of the antibiotic substance by the continuous cultivation of *C. cubana* at a reduced nitrate concentration enabled subsequent purification attempts. Six liters of cell free cultivation broth were purified by RPC (**2.6**). The obtained fractions were completely dried, residues were resuspended in H_2O_{demin} and used in a growth inhibition test against *M. luteus* and *C. auris* (**Fig. 7**).



Fig. 7: Enrichment of the antimicrobial metabolite by RPC. Fractions were evaporated to complete dryness at 40 °C, resuspended in 2 mL H₂O_{demin}, respectively, and tested for inhibiting activity by growth assays in microtiter plates, using *C. auris* and *M. luteus* as indicator organisms (Start OD₆₀₀ 0.1; mixing ratio 1:1; n = 4). The shown data represent relative values, referring to H₂O_{demin} as negative control. The plates were incubated for 15 h at 150 rpm and 30 °C. The final OD of the indicator organism was measured at 595 nm. Gradient B represents the increasing elution buffer gradient. The UV light absorbance was measured at 280 nm. The results represent the mean value (± standard deviation) of 4 biological replicates. Asterisks indicate a significant inhibition effect compared to the negative control (*, p ≤ 0.1; **, p ≤ 0.01 ***, p ≤ 0.001), determined by a two-tailed homoscedastic Student's t-test.

Fraction 14 exhibited by far the most growth inhibiting activity against both, *M. luteus* (91.15 % \pm 1.32) and *C. auris* (96.95 % \pm 1.32) and thus contains the antimicrobial component from *C. cubana*. A false positive effect was excluded by a negative control with

evaporated elution buffer, resolved in H₂O_{demin}. The successful enrichment of the metabolite by RPC indicates a hydrophobic nature. Purification attempts by ionic interaction chromatography did not lead to active fractions (data not shown). The antibiotic substance was eluted at an elution buffer concentration of 45 %; at this point, an UV absorbance of 17.04 mAU was measured. As the absorbance starts to rise along with the antibiotic activity, a peptidic structure could be assumed. The main peak in UV absorbance was measured after the elution of the antimicrobial compound and probably consists of protein components from EPS, produced by all terrestrial cyanobacteria [40]. The respective RPC elution fractions did not possess an inhibitory activity comparable to the one of fraction 14. As the inhibition values were calculated by means of the negative control, fractions showing negative inhibition values must contain growth-supporting elements as sugars, which are also contained in EPS [41]. These effects are probably masked by the antimicrobial compound mainly contained in fractions 14 and 15.

3.4 Putative regulation mechanism and identification of the responsible gene cluster

As nitrate starvation was clearly identified as the trigger for the production of the antibiotic metabolite, an *in silico* examination for identification of the eligible biosynthetic gene clusters was done. Several of these clusters were analysed for adjacent genes encoding transcriptional regulators and transport systems that could be involved in the regulation of expression and export of the antimicrobial metabolite. It was especially searched for already known linkages of nitrate limitation and the metabolic/transcriptomic answer it triggers in cyanobacteria.

According to the genome analysis using antiSMASH, C. cubana harbors five biosynthetic gene clusters, which could possibly be responsible for the synthesis of the antibiotic substance described in this work. These were chosen because of encoded transcriptional regulators in their relative proximity, which could be activated be nitrogen starvation. Also, some adjacent genes coding for transporter proteins are of interest. Among the five candidates clusters (ctg_56, WP_148125936.1 are two NRPS and ctg 5, WP 127022514.1/WP 127022517.1/RUT13761.1), two NRPS-like clusters (ctg 134, WP 241994450.1 and ctg 171, WP 106169125.1) and one lanthipeptide class v gene cluster (ctg_39, WP_106167084.1/WP_106167087.1). The product of the latter one appears to belong to the novel class v of lanthipeptides. This class was described only recently, current members are lexapeptide from Streptomyces rochei Sal35 [42], which shows potent activity against Gram-positive bacteria, and cacaoidin, synthesized by Streptomyces cacaoi [43]. Both peptides show the particularity of an N-terminal (N,N)dimethyl phenylalanin, a C-terminal (2-aminovinyl)-3-methyl-cysteine, as well as a D-

113

alanine. Generally, lanthipeptides are ribosomally synthesized and post-translationally modified molecules (RiPPs), which contain thioether cross-linked (methyl-) lanthionine and often show potent antibiotic activity (lantibiotics), typically against Gram-positive bacteria. Although they are mostly produced by Gram-positive bacteria, a lantibiotic synthesized by Gram-negative Chitinophaga pinensis (Pinensin) was isolated, that exhibits a high inhibiting activity against filamentous fungi and yeasts [44]. Also, several class v lanthipeptide gene clusters were recently identified in cyanobacterial genomes [42]. In C. cubana, the corresponding gene cluster is situated next to genes encoding a sensor histidine kinase (Hik) (WP 12702384.1) and a response regulator (WP 015155273.1), respectively. Hiks are known to be responsible for the regulation of stress-induced gene expression in cyanobacteria [45, 46]. In Synechococcus they were shown to be involved in the response to nitrogen limitation [47]. Upstream of the NRPS-like gene cluster ctg 171, another Hik is encoded (WP 106169124.1). Solely a response regulator gene (WP 106168295.1) is situated upstream of NRPS-cluster ctg 56, without an adjacent sensor histidine kinase. Downstream of NRPS-cluster ctg 5, two AraC-family transcriptional regulators (TRs) were identified. AraC-type TRs are one of the most abundant bacterial regulators, which mostly positively regulate gene expression. AraC was first described as regulator of the L-arabinose operon in Escherichia coli [48]. In the cyanobacterium Nostoc punctiforme, an AraC-type transcription factor was shown to upregulate the expression of a PKS-cluster [49]; in Anabaena PCC7120 five AraC TRs were upregulated during nitrogen starvation [50]. Summarized, NRPS cluster ctg 5, together with the downstream situated araC, could be a suitable candidate for encoding the antibiotic metabolite produced by C. cubana. However, also downstream of the NRPS cluster, genes for siderophore exportation are situated. These consist of a periplasmic binding protein, a TonB-dependent siderophore receptor and a cytoplasmic membrane protein. As siderophores are often synthesized by NRPS [51], which is also described for cyanobacteria [52], it is more likely that ctg_5 encodes an NRPS responsible for the synthesis of siderophores. The expression of the respective genes is putatively regulated by the adjacently encoded AraC TR. Another interesting C. cubana NRPS-like gene cluster is ctg 134. In its downstream region, an EamA/DMT-family transporter was identified. Drug metabolite transporters (DMT) are often involved in amino acid metabolism [53], a member of the subfamily EamA was described as YdeD in E. coli, an O-acetyl-serine/cysteine exporter [54]. In Pseudomonas aeruginosa, an EamA-like transporter is involved in the export of antimicrobial peptides [55], the cyanobacterium Aphanizomenon gracile uses SxtPer, a permease of the DMT superfamily, for the export of the highly potent neurotoxin saxitoxin [56]. The transcription of ctg 134 could be regulated by a LuxR family DNAbinding response regulator, which was identified downstream of the NRPS-like cluster.

Generally, LuxR TRs are known to be involved in Quorum Sensing, the initiation of virulence factors and the synthesis of antibiotics [57]. However, to our knowledge, until now no LuxR family TR was identified in cyanobacteria that is involved in the regulation of nitrogen starvation stress.

In conclusion, several gene clusters in the genome of *C. cubana* were identified through *in silico* analysis, which could possibly be involved in the production of the detected antibiotic metabolite. For identification of the responsible genes, a transcriptomic analysis could give a more certain insight.

3.5 Process industrialization

As already mentioned in the introduction, an industrial production of bioactive compounds from cyanobacteria is challenging, not least because of low product yields. Thus, an economic process is only feasible by high-priced products. With regard to the described growth inhibitory effect against the emerging human pathogen C. auris, a use as a highvalue antimycotic drug would be thinkable. Of course, further studies excluding a possible toxicity towards human cells are a necessary prerequisite, especially with regard to the compound's activity against eucaryotic yeast cells, which often hinders new antimycotic therapies [58]. An advantage for a future process scale up is the elimination of cell disruption steps, because of the direct export of the compound to the surrounding culture medium. Since the cells must still be separated from the medium before the extraction process, a cultivation approach using immobilized cells would be favourable. The formerly mentioned antibiotic from Scytonema sp. was continuously produced using a seaweedtype bioreactor with cells attached to polyure than foam strips. A similar approach could be feasible with C. cubana; a study dealing with optimization strategies for an improved biofilm production yielded a biofilm concentration of 20 g L⁻¹ in 10 days, using this strain [59], which could facilitate a surface-attached growth. The application of continuous cultivation systems for pharmaceutical manufacturing offers a crucial advantage over batch or fed batch systems, as it can significantly reduce production costs and increase product yields by permanent productivity [60]. Mainly because of strict regulations and product safety aspects, the sector of continuously manufactured drugs is still slowly developing. However, between 2015 and 2017, five partly continuously produced small-molecule biosimilars were FDA approved [61], which at least constitutes a positive sign for future continuous biomanufacturing processes.

4 Conclusion

The terrestrial cyanobacterium Chroococcidiopsis cubana was identified as the producer of an antimicrobial metabolite with potent growth inhibitory activity against the Gram-positive bacterium Micrococcus luteus and the yeast Candida auris. The latter one is a newly emerging human pathogen, causing severe and difficultly treatable infections [62, 63]. It was found that the synthesis and export of the substance is initiated by nitrogen starvation, which sets in at about 0.2 g L^{-1} nitrate. By cultivation of *C. cubana* in a continuous cultivation system using mineral medium with a reduced nitrate concentration, a continuously high production of the target substance was achieved. The metabolite was purified and concentrated by RPC, the active fraction nearly completely inhibited growth of both indicator organisms. The metabolite is stable until 45 °C, after incubation at 60 °C, nearly half the activity was lost. By in silico analysis using the biosynthetic gene cluster identification/identification tool antiSMASH, several potentially involved gene clusters were identified in the genome of *C. cubana*. The most promising candidates are ctg 39, putatively encoding a class five lanthipeptide, with a sensor histidine kinase/response regulator in close proximity, and ctg 134, an NRPS-like cluster being situated adjacent to a transporter of the DMT-family encoding gene. The identification of the trigger initiating the metabolite's production and the thereby enabled set up of a continuous production system will greatly help to further elucidate the profound metabolic principles and to reveal the identity of the antibiotic substance in future studies; this next step is currently addressed by subsequent LC-MS analysis.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by funding from the State of Rhineland-Palatinate (project "iProcess" and the "Forschungsinitiative Rheinland-Pfalz").

The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

5 References

- 1. Strieth D, Lenz S, Ulber R (2022) In vivo and in silico screening for antimicrobial compounds from cyanobacteria. Authorea. https://doi.org/10.22541/au.164436121.14229912/v1
- 2. Singh SK, Kaur R, Bansal A, Kapur S, Sundaram S (2020) Biotechnological exploitation of cyanobacteria and microalgae for bioactive compounds. Elsevier B.V.
- 3. Tan LT (2007) Bioactive natural products from marine cyanobacteria for drug discovery. Phytochemistry 68:954–979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2007.01.012
- 4. Volk R-B, Furkert FH (2006) Antialgal, antibacterial and antifungal activity of two metabolites produced and excreted by cyanobacteria during growth. Microbiol Res 161:180–186

- Silva-stenico ME, Kaneno R, Zambuzi FA, Vaz MGM V, Alvarenga DO, Fiore MF (2013) Natural Products from Cyanobacteria with Antimicrobial and Antitumor Activity. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 14:820–828
- 6. El-Sheekh MM, Osman MEH, Dyab MA, Amer MS (2006) Production and characterization of antimicrobial active substance from the cyanobacterium *Nostoc muscorum*. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 21:42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2005.06.006
- Reshef V, Mizrachi E, Maretzki T, Silberstein C, Loya S, Hizi A, Carmeli S (1997) New acylated sulfoglycolipids and digalactolipids and related known glycolipids from cyanobacteria with a potential to inhibit the reverse transcriptase of HIV-1. J Nat Prod 60:1251–1260. https://doi.org/10.1021/np970327m
- 8. Bokesch HR, O'Keefe BR, McKee TC, Pannell LK, Patterson GML, Gardella RS, Sowder RC, Turpin J, Watson K, Buckheit RW, Boyd MR (2003) A potent novel anti-HIV protein from the cultured cyanobacterium *Scytonema varium*. Biochemistry 42:2578–2584. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0205698
- Biondi N, Piccardi R, Margheri MC, Rodolfi L, Smith GD, Tredici MR (2004) Evaluation of *Nostoc* strain ATCC 53789 as a potential source of natural pesticides. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:3313–3320. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.6.3313-3320.2004
- 10. Najdenski HM, Gigova LG, Iliev II, Pilarski PS, Lukavský J, Tsvetkova I V., Ninova MS, Kussovski VK (2013) Antibacterial and antifungal activities of selected microalgae and cyanobacteria. Int J Food Sci Technol 48:1533–1540. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.12122
- 11. Quintana J, Bayona LM, Castellanos L, Puyana M, Camargo P, Aristizábal F, Edwards C, Tabudravu JN, Jaspars M, Ramos FA (2014) Almiramide D, cytotoxic peptide from the marine cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria nigroviridis*. Bioorg Med Chem 22:6789–6795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2014.10.039
- 12. Iwasaki A, Ohno O, Sumimoto S, Ogawa H, Nguyen KA, Suenaga K (2015) Jahanyne, an apoptosis-inducing lipopeptide from the marine cyanobacterium *Lyngbya* sp. Org Lett 17:652–655. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol5036722
- Tidgewell K, Engene N, Byrum T, Media J, Doi T, Valeriote FA, Gerwick WH (2010) Evolved diversification of a modular natural product pathway: Apratoxins F and G, two cytotoxic cyclic depsipeptides from a palmyra collection of *Lyngbya bouillonii*. ChemBioChem 11:1458–1466. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201000070
- 14. Khalifa SAM, Shedid ES, Saied EM, Jassbi AR, Jamebozorgi FH, Rateb ME, Du M, Abdel-Daim MM, Kai GY, Al-Hammady MAM, Xiao J, Guo Z, El-Seedi HR (2021) Cyanobacteria—from the oceans to the potential biotechnological and biomedical applications. Mar Drugs 19:. https://doi.org/10.3390/md19050241
- 15. Heux S, Meynial-Salles I, O'Donohue MJ, Dumon C (2015) White biotechnology: State of the art strategies for the development of biocatalysts for biorefining. Biotechnol Adv 33:1653–1670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.08.004
- 16. Shih PM, Wu D, Latifi A, Axen SD, Fewer DP, Talla E, Calteau A, Cai F, Tandeau De Marsac N, Rippka R, Herdman M, Sivonen K, Coursin T, Laurent T, Goodwin L, Nolan M, Davenport KW, Han CS, Rubin EM, Eisen JA, Woyke T, Gugger M, Kerfeld CA (2013) Improving the coverage of the cyanobacterial phylum using diversity-driven genome sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:1053–1058. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217107110
- 17. Jones AC, Gu L, Sorrels CM, Sherman DH, Gerwick WH (2009) New tricks from ancient algae: natural products biosynthesis in marine cyanobacteria. Curr Opin Chem Biol 13:216–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.02.019
- 18. Silva-Stenico ME, Silva CSP, Lorenzi AS, Shishido TK, Etchegaray A, Lira SP, Moraes LAB, Fiore MF (2011) Non-ribosomal peptides produced by Brazilian cyanobacterial isolates with antimicrobial activity. Microbiol Res 166:161–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.04.002

- 19. Süssmuth RD, Mainz A (2017) Nonribosomal Peptide Synthesis—Principles and Prospects. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 56:3770–3821. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201609079
- 20. Tillett D, Dittmann E, Erhard M, Von Döhren H, Börner T, Neilan BA (2000) Structural organization of microcystin biosynthesis in *Microcystis aeruginosa* PCC7806: An integrated peptide-polyketide synthetase system. Chem Biol 7:753–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-5521(00)00021-1
- 21. Gruenewald S, Mootz HD, Stehmeier P, Stachelhaus T (2004) In vivo production of artificial nonribosomal peptide products in the heterologous host *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:3282–3291. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.6.3282-3291.2004
- 22. Watanabe K, Hotta K, Praseuth AP, Koketsu K, Migita A, Boddy CN, Wang CCC, Oguri H, Oikawa H (2006) Total biosynthesis of antitumor nonribosomal peptides in *Escherichia coli*. Nat Chem Biol 2:423–428. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio803
- 23. Li J, Neubauer P (2014) *Escherichia coli* as a cell factory for heterologous production of nonribosomal peptides and polyketides. N Biotechnol 31:579–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2014.03.006
- 24. Ongley SE, Bian X, Zhang Y, Chau R, Gerwick WH, Müller R, Neilan BA (2013) High-titer heterologous production in *E. coli* of lyngbyatoxin, a protein kinase C activator from an uncultured marine cyanobacterium. ACS Chem Biol 8:1888–1893. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb400189j
- 25. Boghigian BA, Pfeifer BA (2008) Current status, strategies, and potential for the metabolic engineering of heterologous polyketides in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Lett 30:1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-008-9689-2
- 26. Fleming ED, Castenholz RW (2007) Effects of periodic desiccation on the synthesis of the UV-screening compound, scytonemin, in cyanobacteria. Environ Microbiol 9:1448–1455. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01261.x
- 27. Kuhne S, Strieth D, Lakatos M, Muffler K, Ulber R (2014) A new photobioreactor concept enabling the production of desiccation induced biotechnological products using terrestrial cyanobacteria. J Biotechnol 192:28–33. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.10.002
- 28. Strieth D, Schwing J, Kuhne S, Lakatos M, Muffler K, Ulber R (2017) A semicontinuous process based on an ePBR for the production of EPS using *Trichocoleus sociatus*. J Biotechnol 256:6–12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2017.06.1205
- 29. Strieth D, Ulber R, Muffler K (2018) Application of phototrophic biofilms: from fundamentals to processes. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 41:295–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-017-1870-3
- 30. Jones AC, Gerwick L, Gonzalez D, Dorrestein PC, Gerwick WH (2009) Transcriptional analysis of the jamaicamide gene cluster from the marine cyanobacterium *Lyngbya majuscula* and identification of possible regulatory proteins. BMC Microbiol 9:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-9-247
- 31. Pearson LA, Dittmann E, Mazmouz R, Ongley SE, D'Agostino PM, Neilan BA (2016) The genetics, biosynthesis and regulation of toxic specialized metabolites of cyanobacteria. Harmful Algae 54:98–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2015.11.002
- 32. Bloor S, England RR (1991) Elucidation and optimization of the medium constituents controlling antibiotic production by the cyanobacterium *Nostoc muscorum*. Enzyme Microb Technol 13:76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/0141-0229(91)90192-D
- 33. Chetsumon A, Fujieda K, Hirata K, Yagi K, Miura Y (1993) Optimization of antibiotic production by the cyanobacterium *Scytonema* sp. TISTR 8208 immobilized on polyurethane foam. J Appl Phycol 5:615–622. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02184640
- 34. Witthohn M, Strieth D, Eggert S, Kins S, Ulber R, Muffler K (2021) Heterologous production of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin with potent antibacterial activity. CRBIOT 3:281–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crbiot.2021.10.002

- 35. Rippka, R., Deruelles, J., Waterbury, J. B., Herdman, M., Stanier RY (1979) Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria. J Gen Microbiol 111:1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1
- 36. Witthohn M, Schmidt A-K, Strieth D, Ülber R, Muffler K (2022) A modified method for a fast and economic determination of nitrate concentrations in microalgal cultures. Algal Res. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2022.102957
- 37. Chauhan A, Chauhan R, Basniwal RK, Narwadiya SC (2020) Cyanobacteria: an emerging source for antibacterial, antimycobacterial and antifungal properties. Science Archives 01:35–41. https://doi.org/10.47587/sa.2020.1104
- 38. Kar J, Ramrao DP, Zomuansangi R, Lalbiaktluangi C, Singh SM, Joshi NC, Kumar A, Kaushalendra, Mehta S, Yadav MK, Singh PK (2022) Revisiting the role of cyanobacteria-derived metabolites as antimicrobial agent: A 21st century perspective. Front Microbiol 13:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1034471
- Chetsumon A, Umeda F, Maeda I, Yagi K, Mizoguchi T, Miura Y (1998) Broad spectrum and mode of action of an antibiotic produced by *Scytonema* sp. TISTR 8208 in a seaweed-type bioreactor. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology - Part A Enzyme Engineering and Biotechnology 70–72:249–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02920141
- 40. Li M, Zhu W, Gao L, Lu L (2013) Changes in extracellular polysaccharide content and morphology of *Microcystis aeruginosa* at different specific growth rates. J Appl Phycol 25:1023–1030. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9937-7
- 41. Pereira S, Zille A, Micheletti E, Moradas-Ferreira P, De Philippis R, Tamagnini P (2009) Complexity of cyanobacterial exopolysaccharides: Composition, structures, inducing factors and putative genes involved in their biosynthesis and assembly. FEMS Microbiol Rev 33:917–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2009.00183.x
- 42. Xu M, Zhang F, Cheng Z, Bashiri G, Wang J, Hong J, Wang Y, Xu L, Chen X, Huang SX, Lin S, Deng Z, Tao M (2020) Functional Genome Mining Reveals a Class V Lanthipeptide Containing a d-Amino Acid Introduced by an F420H2-Dependent Reductase. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 59:18029–18035. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202008035
- 43. Román-Hurtado F, Sánchez-Hidalgo M, Martín J, Ortiz-López FJ, Genilloud O (2021) Biosynthesis and heterologous expression of cacaoidin, the first member of the lanthidin family of RiPPs. Antibiotics 10:. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10040403
- 44. Mohr KI, Volz C, Jansen R, Wray V, Hoffmann J, Bernecker S, Wink J, Gerth K, Stadler M, Müller R (2015) Pinensins: The First Antifungal Lantibiotics. Angewandte Chemie - International Edition 54:11254–11258. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201500927
- 45. Los DA, Zorina A, Sinetova M, Kryazhov S, Mironov K, Zinchenko V V. (2010) Stress sensors and signal transducers in cyanobacteria. Sensors 10:2386–2415. https://doi.org/10.3390/s100302386
- 46. Murata N, Suzuki I (2006) Exploitation of genomic sequences in a systematic analysis to access how cyanobacteria sense environmental stress. J Exp Bot 57:235–247. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erj005
- 47. Van Waasbergen LG, Dolganov N, Grossman AR (2002) nblS, a gene involved in controlling photosynthesis-related gene expression during high light and nutrient stress in *Synechococcus elongatus* pcc 7942. J Bacteriol 184:2481–2490. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.9.2481-2490.2002
- 48. Greenblatt J, Schleif R (1971) Arabinose C protein: regulation of the arabinose operon in vitro. Nat New Biol 233:166–170. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/newbio233166a0
- 49. Krumbholz J, Ishida K, Baunach M, Teikari JE, Rose MM, Sasso S, Hertweck C, Dittmann E (2022) Deciphering Chemical Mediators Regulating Specialized Metabolism in a Symbiotic Cyanobacterium. Angewandte Chemie - International Edition 61:. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202204545

- 50. Ehira S, Ohmori M (2006) NrrA, a nitrogen-responsive response regulator facilitates heterocyst development in the cyanobacterium *Anabaena* sp. strain PCC 7120. Mol Microbiol 59:1692–1703. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05049.x
- 51. Crosa JH, Walsh CT (2002) Genetics and Assembly Line Enzymology of Siderophore Biosynthesis in Bacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 66:223–249. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.66.2.223-249.2002
- 52. Ehrenreich IM, Waterbury JB, Webb EA (2005) Distribution and diversity of natural product genes in marine and freshwater cyanobacterial cultures and genomes. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:7401–7413. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.11.7401-7413.2005
- 53. Hadley B, Litfin T, Day CJ, Haselhorst T, Zhou Y, Tiralongo J (2019) Nucleotide Sugar Transporter SLC35 Family Structure and Function. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 17:1123–1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2019.08.002
- 54. Isabel F, Armin R, Tobias D, Thomas M, August B (2003) YfiK from *Escherichia coli* Promotes Export of O-Acetylserine and Cysteine. J Bacteriol 185:1161–1166. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.4.1161-1166.2003
- 55. Modrzejewska M, Kawalek A, Bartosik AA (2021) The Irp/asnc-type regulator pa2577 controls the eama-like transporter gene pa2576 in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Int J Mol Sci 22:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222413340
- 56. Cirés S, Delgado A, González-Pleiter M, Quesada A (2017) Temperature influences the production and transport of saxitoxin and the expression of sxt genes in the cyanobacterium *Aphanizomenon gracile*. Toxins (Basel) 9:... https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins9100322
- 57. Chen J, Xie J (2011) Role and regulation of bacterial LuxR-like regulators. J Cell Biochem 112:2694–2702. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.23219
- 58. Seneviratne CJ, Rosa EAR (2011) Management of invasive fungal infections: A role for polyenes. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 66:457–465. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkq479
- 59. Mehta D, Sivan P, Shah D (2020) Statistical In vitro Model for Upscaling Biofilm of *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* by Media Optimization and its Protocol for DNA Extraction. 13:1962–1966
- Badman C, Cooney CL, Haslam RT, Florence A, Konstantinov K, Krumme M, Mascia S, Nasr M, Trout BL, Baddour RF (2019) Why We Need Continuous Pharmaceutical Manufacturing and How to Make it Happen. J Pharm Sci, in press 3521–3523
- 61. Khanal O, Lenhoff AM (2021) Developments and opportunities in continuous biopharmaceutical manufacturing. MAbs 13:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/19420862.2021.1903664
- 62. Schelenz S, Hagen F, Rhodes JL, Abdolrasouli A, Chowdhary A, Hall A, Ryan L, Shackleton J, Trimlett R, Meis JF, Armstrong-James D, Fisher MC (2016) First hospital outbreak of the globally emerging *Candida auris* in a European hospital. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 5:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-016-0132-5
- 63. Lone SA, Ahmad A (2019) *Candida auris*—the growing menace to global health. Mycoses 62:620–637. https://doi.org/10.1111/myc.12904

Chapter VI

Heterologous production of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin with potent antibacterial activity

Marco Witthohn¹, Dorina Strieth², Simone Eggert³, Stefan Kins³, Roland Ulber², Kai Muffler¹

 ¹Department of Life Sciences and Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Bingen, Berlinstr. 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany
 ²Institute of Bioprocess Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany
 ³Department of Human Biology and Human Genetics, Technical University of Kaiserslautern, Erwin-Schrödinger-Str. 13, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

Current Research in Biotechnology (2021), 3, 281–287

Authorship contribution

M. Witthohn:	Methodology, formal analysis, investigation (data for fig. 1-5), resources, writing,
	visualization, supervision, project administration.
D. Strieth:	Validation, resources.
S. Eggert:	Methodology, validation, investigation (data for fig. 6), resources, review & editing,
	funding acquisition.
S. Kins:	Resources, review & editing, funding acquisition.
R. Ulber:	Conceptualization, resources, review & editing, funding acquisition.
K. Muffler:	Conceptualization, resources, review & editing, supervision, project administration,
	funding acquisition.

Keywords: cyanobacteria, bacteriocins, Chroococcidiopsis cubana

Abstract

With regard to the emerging health threat by antibiotic resistant bacteria, bacteriocins are considered as a promising way to overcome this urgent problem. In this work, a hitherto unknown bacteriocin from the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* was heterologously expressed in *Escherichia coli*, purified to homogeneity and tested for activity against several bacteria and one yeast species. The compound showed potent bacteriolytic activity against several Gram-positive bacteria and slight activity against one Gram-negative strain. The bacteriocin had no cytotoxic impact on mouse neuroblastoma N2a cells, indicating its potential for treatment against Gram-positive bacterial pathogens in human diseases.

1 Introduction

Cyanobacteria are a rich source of different bioactive substances and valuable secondary metabolites (Carroll et al., 2019; Lakatos & Strieth, 2017; Singh et al., 2020). On the one hand there are the widely known cyanobacterial toxins as Anatoxin A from Anabaena (Mahmood & Carmichael, 1987) and Microcystin from Microcystis (Konst et al., 1965), which are very harmful for mammals and water organisms. On the other hand, cyanobacteria produce numerous valuable secondary metabolites such as pigments, long-chain fatty acids, proteins and polysaccharides, which can be, and partly already are used in food industry (Borowitzka, 1995; Burja et al., 2007). Additionally, cyanobacteria also produce a wide range of bioactive substances with potent activity against other bacteria (Ghasemi et al., 2004; Volk & Furkert, 2006), fungi (Shishido et al., 2015), viruses (Carpine & Sieber, 2021) and also tumour cells (Silva-Stenico et al., 2011). Many of these metabolites are produced by nonribosomal peptide synthetases (NRPSs), polyketide synthases (PKSs), or PKS-NRPS hybrids, large multienzyme complexes which assemble and modify single peptides to one bioactive molecule (Jones et al., 2009; Welker et al., 2012). However, next to this mode of complex molecule synthesis, many cyanobacteria also generate ribosomal peptides with very promising biological activities – the bacteriocins. These small molecules are produced by a wide range of organisms, but especially lactobacterial bacteriocins were in focus of research for a long time (Gradisteanu Pircalabioru et al., 2021). The most prominent representative nisin, produced by Lactococcus lactis, is a widely applied antibiotic peptide for the prevention of bacterial growth in the food industry (Delves-Broughton et al., 1996). Most bacteriocins belong to the heterogeneous class of ribosomally-synthesized and post-translationally-modified peptides (RiPPs), with the exception of class II lactic acid bacterial bacteriocins, which are unmodified or cyclic. The superordinate term RiPPs comprises a large number of diverse subclasses which are

produced from many different prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms and undergo various posttranslational modifications (Arnison et al., 2013). However, the mode of biosynthesis is a commonality that all RiPPs share. The ribosomally synthesized precursor peptide contains the core peptide, which is N-terminally flanked by a leader peptide and sometimes also C-terminally by a recognition sequence. The latter can be important for further processing of the core peptide. Eukaryotic precursor peptides often contain an additional signal sequence at the N-terminus of the leader peptide. During the maturation process the core peptide gets enzymatically cleaved from the leader peptide und can undergo further modifications. Whereas the leader regions of all RiPPs show significant sequence similarities, the core peptides are extremely variable (Oman & Donk, 2010).

Since the discovery of nisin in 1933 (Whitehead, 1933), Gram-positive bacteria and especially lactobacteria were in focus of bacteriocin research. However, also Gramnegative bacteria receive attention as bacteriocin producing organisms. Well-known examples are the colicins and microcins from E. coli and some other Enterobacteriaceae (Luria & Suit, 1987). More recently, the group of cyanobactins was described, which contains small cyclic peptides that possess highly diverse bioactivities and only occur in cyanobacteria (Sivonen et al., 2010; Welker & Von Döhren, 2006). A major breakthrough in the identification of novel putative bacteriocins became possible by the massive advances of the *in silico* techniques. The number of sequenced genomes is quickly growing, enabling a rapid search for conserved motifs of already known bacteriocin gene clusters. By this, a double-glycin-type motif was identified as a conserved amino acid sequence of bacteriocins in Gram-negative bacteria, among them also several cyanobacterial genera such as Synechococcus, Synechocystis, Nostoc and Prochlorococcus (Dirix et al., 2004). As subclasses of these double-glycine-type precursor peptides, the nitrile hydratase leader (NHLP) family and the N11P family, which is annotated as Nif11 nitrogen-fixing protein, were identified in cyanobacteria (Haft et al., 2010).

The cyanobacterial genus *Chroococcidiopsis* is known to include extremely desiccation and radiation tolerant strains and was therefore even treated as a possible candidate for terraforming Mars (Friedmann & Ocampo-Friedmann, 1995; Billi et al., 2011). *Chroococcidiopis* appears as single coccoid cells which duplicate through binary fission (Rippka et al., 1979). Strain *C. cubana* SAG 39.79 was isolated from a soil sample (Pinar del Rio, Cuba) in 1966 (Komárek & Hindak, 1975). In antimicrobial screenings prior to this work, *C. cubana* showed hints for producing growth inhibiting substances effective against *Micrococcus luteus* (data not shown). Therefore, this terrestrial cyanobacterium was further investigated by bioinformatic- and molecular biological attempts.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Generation of expression strains

The DNA sequence of b135CC was amplified from C. cubana gDNA by PCR (Phusion DNA Scientific[™], Polymerase, Thermo Waltham, USA), using the primers 5'-AAAAGGATCCATGAAAGCAAGTACTAACTTTAC-3' and 5'-AAAACTCGAGGCTAACTATCCCTGTCACCG-3' (restriction sites underlined). The gDNA was extracted with the NucleoSpin Tissue Mini Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). The amplified DNA was purified by agarose gel electrophoresis (1 % w/v) and retrieved with the GeneJet Gel Extraction Kit (Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, USA). *b135CC* was cloned into the vector pJET1.2/blunt (CloneJET PCR Cloning Kit, Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, USA) and competent E. coli NEB 5-alpha cells (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, USA) were transformed with the resulting recombinant plasmid. Correctly transformed cells were identified on LB agar (1.5 % w/v) with ampicillin (100 μ g ml⁻¹) and by analytical PCR. The insert was cut from pJET1.2/blunt using the restriction enzymes BamH I and Xho I (Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, USA) and subsequently cloned into the digested expression vector pET23a (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). The plasmid was used for transformation of competent E. coli LEMO21 (DE3) cells (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, USA). Correctly transformed cells were identified on LB agar (1.5 % w/v) with ampicillin (100 μ g ml⁻¹) and chloramphenicol (25 µg ml⁻¹), as well as by analytical PCR. All DNA ligation steps were carried out with T4 DNA ligase (Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, USA). Isolation of plasmids was done with the NucleoSpin Plasmid Mini Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). The correct orientation and sequence of the DNA insert was checked by sequencing (LGC Genomics GmbH, Berlin, Germany). All procedures were carried out according to the manufacturers' recommendations.

2.2 Protein expression

Main cultures of the expression strain were inoculated with 2 % of an overnight-grown preculture (30 °C, 200 rpm, TR-125, Infors AG, Bottmingen, Switzerland). LB supplemented with 100 μ g ml⁻¹ ampicillin, 25 μ g ml⁻¹ chloramphenicol and 1 mM L-rhamnose was used as cultivation medium. The expression was induced at OD₆₀₀ 0.8 with 400 μ M IPTG. The main culture was cultivated at 37 °C and 200 rpm for 20 h.

2.3 Cell harvest and cell disruption

Cell harvest was performed for 15 min at 2360 x g (Rotanta 460 R, Hettich Zentrifugen, Germany), followed by a wash step with 0.9 % (w/v) sterile saline. Cells were disrupted via

ultrasonic probe (Bandelin HD 70, UW 70, Bandelin, Berlin, Germany; 5 x 30 s, 100 % power; 1 min cooling on ice between each cycle).

2.4 Protein purification

The cell extract was clarified by centrifugation at 2360 x g for 100 min (Rotanta 460 R, Hettich Zentrifugen, Tuttlingen, Germany). Purification of the bacteriocin was achieved by affinity chromatography using a HisTrapTM HP 5 ml column and an ÄktaTM start FPLC system (Cytiva Europe GmbH, Freiburg Germany). Binding buffer: 20 mM NaH₂PO₄/Na₂HPO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 5 mM imidazole, pH 7.4; elution buffer: 20 mM NaH₂PO₄/Na₂HPO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.5 M imidazole, pH 7.4. The bacteriocin was desalted with a HiTrapTM 5 ml desalting column (Cytiva Europe GmbH, Freiburg GmbH, Freiburg, Germany), using 20 mM NaH₂PO₄/Na₂HPO₄ buffer. The protein concentration was determined by Bradford assay.

2.5 Bioactivity test

The growth assays of the indicator bacteria were performed in 96 well plates (NuncTM MicroWellTM 96-Well Microplates, Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, USA). Per well, a volume of 50 µl bacterial suspension (OD₆₀₀ 0.2) was mixed with 50 µl prediluted bacteriocin suspension. Final B135CC concentrations of respectively 150, 100 and 50 µg ml⁻¹ were used for *M. luteus*, *M. phlei* and *S. auricularis*; reduced concentrations of 25, 12.5 and 6.25 µg ml⁻¹ were applied for *S. auricularis*. All used bacteria were cultivated in Müller-Hinton medium and harvested in the exponential growth phase. The bacterial suspensions were diluted with Müller-Hinton medium, the bacteriocin dilutions were done with 20 mM NaH₂PO₄/Na₂HPO₄ buffer.

2.6 Protein leakage test

Samples of *S. auricularis* (OD₆₀₀ 1.0) were mixed with different concentrations of B135CC, followed by an incubation period of 6 h at 30 °C. Samples were taken every two hours, the protein concentrations were determined by Lowry-Assay (PierceTM Modified Lowry Protein Assay Kit, Thermo Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). The respective share of total *S. auricularis* cell protein was determined through comparison with cells disrupted by ultrasound (Bandelin HD 70, UW 70, Bandelin, Berlin, Germany; 5 x 30 s, 100 % power; 1 min cooling on ice between each cycle).

2.7 Cytotoxicity assay

The cytotoxicity of B135CC was tested by Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) activity test. The assay was performed with the Invitrogen[™] CyQUANT[™] LDH Cytotoxicity Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA), as specified by the manufacturer. The bacteriocin was diluted with N2a medium (DMEM high glucose, 1 % penicillin/streptomycin, 1 % sodium pyruvate, 1 % L-glutamine, 1 % nonessential amino acids (all from Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA), and 10% FBS (PAN Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany) to a final volume of 100 µl and added in different concentrations to the N2a cells in a 96-well plate, followed by an overnight incubation at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. Addition of 100 µl 10 mM HEPES buffer (vehicle of the protein) to the N2a cells (neuroblastoma mouse cells) was used as a control. Further tests for positive and negative control were carried out the following day using lysis buffer for maximum LDH release and distilled H₂O to measure spontaneous LDH activity, respectively.

3 Results and Discussion

As the genome of C. cubana was sequenced for phylogenetic analyses in 2019 (Will et al., 2019), an in silico scan for biosynthetic gene clusters could be performed using the open source online platform antiSMASH (Blin et al., 2019). Besides several NRPS and PKS domains, four bacteriocin precursor encoding gene clusters (locus tags ctg7 159, ctg38 34, ctg42 31/32 and ctg135 5) were identified. All four genetic sequences were amplified by PCR and used to generate E. coli expression strains, of which only strain E. coli LEMO21 pET23a::ctg135 5 produced a significant amount of recombinant protein. The associated putative bacteriocin was designated as B135CC. The corresponding gene was identified by antiSMASH as an RiPP-like protein encoding sequence, which contains an NHLP family leader peptide domain (TIGR03793). Upstream of ctg135 5 a short-chain dehydrogenase was identified as a putative additional biosynthetic gene (Fig. 1a). In a sequence alignment with four other cyanobacterial NHLP-like proteins from Nostoc sp. PCC 7120 (WP 010996185), Anabaena variabilis (WP 011317978), Nostoc punctiforme (WP 012409643) and Nostoc sp. PCC 7120 (WP 010996188), the high degree of sequence homology in the leader peptide region became evident (Fig. 1B, N-terminal sequence area up to peptidase cleavage site).



Fig. 1 A, Relevant genomic region of *b135CC*, putative gene products and protein domains identified by *antiSMASH*. Black pins indicate predicted protein domains. **B**, Sequence alignment of B135CC (locus tag ctg135_5) with four cyanobacterial NHLP-like proteins from *Nostoc* sp. PCC 7120 (WP_010996185), *Anabaena variabilis* (WP_011317978), *Nostoc punctiforme* (WP_012409643) and *Nostoc* sp. PCC 7120 (WP_010996188). Sequence alignment done with the online tool *MUSCLE* (Madeira et al., 2019), image created with *Jalview* (Waterhouse et al., 2009). Red box indicates the putative double glycine leader peptide cleavage site.

Interestingly, the conserved region containing the typical double glycine peptide cleavage site (Fig. 1B, red box) differs from the other sequences, as the second glycine (N to C terminus) is replaced by a histidine. However, it is known that only the first glycine is constantly conserved in this region, while the second glycine can be substituted by other amino acids (Havarstein et al., 1994). Although leader peptide sequences of double-glycinetype motif bacteriocins tend to be highly conserved, the core peptides are hypervariable (Oman & Donk, 2010). That can also be noticed in the depicted sequence alignment (Fig. 1B). However, the core peptide of B135CC is significantly longer than those of the compared precursor proteins. In case of most other bacteriocin gene clusters found in cyanobacteria, several other domains involved in bacteriocin production, maturation and transport were found in close proximity to the bacteriocin core gene(s) (Wang et al., 2011). As already elucidated in 1995, bacterial bacteriocins are transported across the cytoplasmic cell membrane by ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, which contain a C39 peptidase domain concomitantly cleaving the leader peptide off the core peptide. The associated genes are mostly situated next to the precursor peptide encoding genes. NHLP like bacteriocin precursors were identified in association with thiazole/oxazole-modified microcins (TOMM) (Haft et al., 2010). These posttranslational modifications are performed by the combined action of a cyclohydratase, a dehydrogenase and a docking/scaffolding protein, which work on serine, threonine and cysteine residues in the core peptide to form the according heterocycles. The associated genes are generally located next to the

precursors. B135CC also contains an NHLP leader peptide domain and ten threonine and seven serine residues, which could be converted to oxazoles and methyloxazoles, respectively. However, there is no evidence for this assumption in case of B135CC. The bacteriocin B135CC was heterologously produced with *E. coli* Lemo21 (New England Biolabs GmbH) and purified by affinity chromatography taking advantage of the C-terminal poly His-tag conferred by the used medium-copy expression vector pET23a (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 A, Purification of the His-tagged bacteriocin B135CC. Protein expression was performed in *E. coli* LEMO21 (DE3) pET23a::*b135cc* (New England Biolabs GmbH). L, protein ladder (SERVA Triple Color Proteinstandard III); 1, cell-free extract, empty vector control; 2, cell-free extract; 3, HisTrap elution fraction; 4, desalted HisTrap elution fraction. Stained with Quick Coomassie Stain, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany). **B**, Purification steps.

The result of the SDS-PAGE (Coomassie staining) showed a full size protein (of approx. 29,3 kDa) that was not cleaved by an *E. coli* peptidase, although *E. coli* generally possesses several ABC transporters containing a C39 peptidase domain. The purified protein was subsequently tested for antimicrobial activity by microtiter plate growth assays against the Gram-positive bacteria *Bacillus subtilis*, *Micrococcus luteus*, *Mycobacterium phlei* and *Staphylococcus auricularis*, the Gram-negative strains *Acinetobacter baylyi*, *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and *E. coli*, as well as against the yeast *Candida auris* (Fig. 3, only results of sensitive strains shown).



Fig. 3 Bioactivity (microtiter plate) test of B135CC against **A**, *Micrococcus luteus*; **B**, *Mycobacterium phlei*; **C**, *Staphylococcus auricularis* and **D**, *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. The bars depict the relative OD₅₉₅ of the indicated bacterial strains after growth for 15 h at 30 °C and low agitation on a microtiter plate reader (BioTek EL808, BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, USA) with initial addition of different B135CC concentrations. The negative control (NC, 20 mM NaH₂PO₄/Na₂HPO₄ buffer) served as reference. Error bars indicate standard deviation, n = 3; Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the control (**, $p \le 0.01$; ***, $p \le 0.001$), determined by a two-tailed homoscedastic Student's t-test.

The bacteriocin B135CC from the terrestrial cyanobacterium *C. cubana* showed a slight inhibitory impact on the growth of *P. fluorescens* and significant effects on *M. luteus* (150 μ g ml⁻¹), *M. phlei* (100 and 150 μ g ml⁻¹) and *S. auricularis* (5, 6.25, 12.5 and 25 μ g ml⁻¹). Growth of the latter strain was strongly inhibited by B135CC, pre-tests using concentrations of 50 - 150 μ g ml⁻¹ completely prevented *S. auricularis* growth, therefore dilutions up to 5 μ g ml⁻¹ were tested for determination of the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). Until a bacteriocin concentration of 6.25 μ g ml⁻¹, *S. auricularis* growth was completely inhibited. When the B135CC concentration was decreased to 5 μ g ml⁻¹, the bacterium could grow to an OD₅₉₅ of 20%, compared to the negative control. As a consequence, a bacteriocin concentration of 6.25 μ g ml⁻¹ was determined as the MIC for *S. auricularis*. The results of the bioactivity test show a strong antimicrobial activity of B135CC towards the Gram-positive strain *S. auricularis*, whereas a significantly lower

inhibition was observed against *M. luteus*. Consequently, the bacteriocin does not act as a general antibiotic compound against Gram-positive bacteria but seems to possess specificity for *S. auricularis* cells. Antibiotics like lyostaphin, a bacteriolytic enzyme produced by *Staphylococcus simulans*, specifically binds to *Staphylococcus aureus* cells, due to a cell wall targeting C-terminal sequence [267]. Lyostaphin acts as peptidoglycan hydrolase and thus damages the cell wall of *S. aureus*. Although no evidence for such a cell wall targeting sequence could be found for B135CC, a similar mechanism could explain the potent activity against *S. auricularis*.

In order to illuminate the bacteriocin's mode of action, a protein leakage test was conducted with *S. auricularis* (Fig. 4), as the release of proteins after treatment with the bacteriocin can indicate a bacteriolytic activity [268]. For this test, B135CC concentrations of $62.5 - 500 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$ were applied, since high concentrations lead to quick protein releases. A prolonged incubation phase could lead to falsified results because of protease activity.



Fig. 4 Protein leakage test with *S. auricularis*. Samples of the indicator bacterium were mixed with different concentrations of B135CC and incubated at 30 °C. Samples were taken every two hours and the protein concentration was determined by Lowry-assay. NC, negative control, *S. auricularis* without addition of the bacteriocin. The share of total cell protein (TCP) was calculated on the basis of untreated *S. auricularis* cells, disrupted by ultrasound. Error bars indicate standard deviation, n = 3.

The results of the protein leakage test (Fig. 4) show a significant release of *S. auricularis* proteins, after treatment with *C. cubana* bacteriocin B135CC. After six hours of incubation, all applied concentrations ($62.5 - 500 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$) led to a release of about 30 - 35% of total cell protein. The negative control without B135CC caused only a minor protein release that climaxed after four hours. The obtained results emphasise that B135CC acts as a

bacteriolytic bacteriocin. For further characterisation of the bacteriocin, a temperature stability test was done with *S. auricularis* (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5 Temperature stability test of B135CC. The bacteriocin was incubated at different temperatures for one hour and subsequently tested for activity. The inhibition test was done with *S. auricularis* in microtiter plates. Error bars indicate standard deviation, n = 3.

Temperature stability tests confirmed a bacteriocin activity till 60 °C. From 70 °C on, activity was significantly diminished. Together with the obtained data about the bacteriocin's activity spectrum and its size, B135CC shows similarities to class III bacteriocins as lysostaphin from *Staphylococcus simulans*, helveticin J from *Lactobacillus helveticus* or the colicin-type family from *E. coli* and some other *Enterobacteriaceae*. These bacteriocins tend to be much larger than class I or II bacteriocins, are heat labile and mainly act on Gram-positive bacteria (Bastos et al., 2010). However, all class III bacteriocin gene, a lysis gene and an immunity gene (Luria & Suit, 1987), which is not the case for B135CC. Moreover, most known class III bacteriocins do not exhibit a double glycine leader motif, except for colicin V, a less than 10 kDa protein which does possess a conserved double glycine peptide cleavage site (Havarstein et al., 1994). For evaluation of the applicability of the bacteriocin as food preservative or as a possible treatment for human bacterial infections, B135CC was tested for toxicity against mammalian N2a-cells (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6 LDH activity test for evaluation of B135CC-toxicity against mammalian N2a cells. For the toxicity tests, B135CC was eluted in 10 mM HEPES buffer in the desalting step after affinity chromatography. Subsequently it was diluted with N2a medium ($6.25 - 150 \mu g ml^{-1}$ bacteriocin) to a final volume of 100 μ l and added to the N2a cells in 96-well plates. The samples were incubated overnight at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The negative control with only 10 mM HEPES (without N2a medium) was incubated overnight. The following day, for maximal LDH activity control, N2a cells were incubated in 10 μ l lysis buffer plus 90 μ l N2a medium for 45 min. The spontaneous LDH activity was tested by incubation of the cells in 10 μ l distilled water plus 90 μ l N2a medium for 45 min. Error bars indicate standard deviation, n = 3.

N2a cells, a mouse neuroblastoma cell line, is frequently used for the detection of neurotoxic compounds [269, 270]. As many cyanobacteria tend to produce highly (neuro-) toxic compounds, it is especially important to exclude the production of such substances. The neurotoxicity tests with B135CC did not show any negative impact on N2a cells. All applied bacteriocin concentrations (6.25 - 150 μ g ml⁻¹) caused a lower LDH activity than the negative control (10 mM HEPES).
4 Conclusion

The bacteriocin B135CC from the terrestrial cyanobacterium *C. cubana* shows promising narrow range antibacterial activity mainly against some Gram-positive strains, especially against *S. auricularis*. The latter was identified as an inhabitant of the human ear (Kloos & Schleifer, 1983) and can rarely cause infections and sepsis (Hoffman et al., 2007). Susceptibility of this bacterium to B135CC can particularly be seen as a hint for further applicability on related *Staphylococcus* strains as multi-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, which still causes thousands of dead every year (Navidinia, 2016). While all other sensitive strains had to be treated with concentrations of at least 50 µg ml⁻¹ to observe a growth inhibition, B135CC almost completely prevented growth of *S. auricularis* in concentrations as low as 6.25 µg ml⁻¹. Moreover, the bacteriocin showed no cytotoxicity against mammalian N2a cells in concentrations up to 150 µg ml⁻¹. Together, our data suggest that B135CC could be of great use for the specific treatment of different Gram-positive pathogenic bacteria with highest activity against *Staphylococci* species.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by funding from the State of Rhineland-Palatinate (project "iProcess", project "NeurodegX", and the "Forschungsinitiative Rheinland-Pfalz"). We thank Dipl.-Ing. Birgit Hammel for the supervision of the genetic engineering works.

5 References

- Arnison, P. G., Bibb, M. J., Bierbaum, G., Bowers, A. A., Bugni, T. S., Bulai, G., Camarero, J. A., Campopiano, D. J., Challis, G. L., Clardy, J., Cotter, P. D., Craik, D. J., Dawson, M., Dittmann, E., Donadio, S., Dorrestein, P. C., Entian, K.-D., Fischbach, M. A., Garavelli, J. S., Göransson, U., Gruber, C. W., Haft, D. H., Hemscheidt, T. K., Hertweck, C., Hill, C., Horswill, A. R., Jaspars, M., Kelly, W. L., Klinman, J. P., Kuipers, O. P., Link, A. J., Liu, W., Marahiel, M. A., Mitchell, D. A., Moll, G. N., Moore, B. S., Müller, R., Nair, S. K., Nes, I. F., Norris, G. E., Olivera, B. M., Onaka, H., Patchett, M. L., Piel, J., Reaney, M. J. T., Rebuffat, S., Ross, R. P., Sahl, H.-G., Schmidt, E. W., Selsted, M. E., Severinov, K., Shen, B., Sivonen, K., Smith, L., Stein, T., Süssmuth, R. D., Tagg, J. R., Tang, G.-L., Truman, A. W., Vederas, J. C., Walsh, C. T., Walton, J. D., Wenzel, S. C., Willey, J. M., van der Donk, W. A., 2013. Ribosomally synthesized and post-translationally modified peptide natural products: overview and recommendations for a universal nomenclature. Nat. Prod. Rep. 30, 108-160. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2np20085f.
- Baba, T., & Schneewind, O., 1996. Target cell specificity of a bacteriocin molecule: a Cterminal signal directs lysostaphin to the cell wall of *Staphylococcus aureus*. EMBO J. 15, 4789–4797. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00859.x
- Bastos, M. do C. de F., Coutinho, B. G., Coelho, M. L. V., 2010. Lysostaphin: A staphylococcal bacteriolysin with potential clinical applications. Pharmaceuticals. 3, 1139–1161. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph3041139
- Billi, D., Viaggiu, E., Cockell, C. S., Rabbow, E., Horneck, G., Onofri, S., 2011. Damage

escape and repair in dried *Chroococcidiopsis* spp. from hot and cold deserts exposed to simulated space and martian conditions. Astrobiology. 11, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1089/ast.2009.0430

- Blin, K., Shaw, S., Steinke, K., Villebro, R., Ziemert, N., Lee, Y., Medema, M. H., Weber, T., 2019. antiSMASH 5.0: updates to the secondary metabolite genome mining pipeline. Nucleic Acids Res. 47, 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz310
- Borowitzka, M. A., 1995. Microalgae as sources of pharmaceuticals and other biologically active compounds. J. Appl. Phycol. 7, 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00003544
- Burja, A. M., Banaigs, B., Abou-mansour, E., Grant, J., Wright, P. C., Bellevaux, A. De, Neucha, C.-, Chimie, I. De., 2007. Marine cyanobacteria - a prolific source of natural products. Tetrahedron Lett. 57, 9347–9377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)00931-0
- Carpine, R., Sieber, S., 2021. Current Research in Biotechnology Antibacterial and antiviral metabolites from cyanobacteria : Their application and their impact on human health. Curr. Res. Biotechnol. 3, 65–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crbiot.2021.03.001
- Carroll, A. R., Copp, B. R., Davis, R. A., Keyzers, R. A., Prinsep, M. R., 2019. Marine natural products. Nat. Prod. Rep. 36, 122–173. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8np00092a
- Delves-Broughton, J., Blackburn, P., Evans, R. J., Hugenholtz, J., 1996. Applications of the bacteriocin, nisin. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 69, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00399424
- Devi, K. P., Nisha, S. A., Sakthivel, R., & Pandian, S. K., 2010. Eugenol (an essential oil of clove) acts as an antibacterial agent against *Salmonella typhi* by disrupting the cellular membrane.
 J. Ethnopharmacol.
 130, 107–115.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2010.04.025
- Dirix, G., Monsieurs, P., Dombrecht, B., Daniels, R., Marchal, K., Vanderleyden, J., Michiels, J., 2004. Peptide signal molecules and bacteriocins in Gram-negative bacteria: A genome-wide *in silico* screening for peptides containing a double-glycine leader sequence and their cognate transporters. Peptides. 25, 1425–1440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2003.10.028
- Ghasemi, Y., Yazdi, M. T., Shafiee, A., Amini, M., Shokravi, S., Zarrini, G., 2004. Parsiguine, a novel antimicrobial substance from *Fischerella ambigua*. Pharm. Biol. 42, 318–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/13880200490511918
- Gradisteanu Pircalabioru, G., Popa, L. I., Marutescu, L., Gheorghe, I., Popa, M., Czobor Barbu, I., Cristescu, R., Chifiriuc, M. C., 2021. Bacteriocins in the era of antibiotic resistance: rising to the challenge. Pharmaceutics. 13, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13020196
- Haft, D. H., Basu, M. K., Mitchell, D. A., 2010. Expansion of ribosomally produced natural products : a nitrile hydratase- and Nif11-related precursor family. BMC Biol. 8, 70. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-8-70
- Havarstein, L. S., Holo, H., Nes, I. F., 1994. The leader peptide of colicin V shares consensus sequences with leader peptides that are common among peptide bacteriocins produced by Gram-positive bacteria. Microbiology. 140, 2383–2389. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-140-9-2383
- Hoffman, D. J., Brown, G. D., Lombardo, F. A., 2007. Early-onset sepsis with *Staphylococcus auricularis* in an extremely low-birth weight infant - An uncommon pathogen. J. Perinatol. 27, 519–520. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jp.7211773
- Imre Friedmann, E., Ocampo-Friedmann, R., 1995. A primitive cyanobacterium as pioneer microorganism for terraforming Mars. Adv. Sp. Res. 15, 243–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1177(99)80091-X
- Jones, A. C., Gu, L., Sorrels, C. M., Sherman, D. H., Gerwick, W. H., 2009. New tricks from ancient algae: natural products biosynthesis in marine cyanobacteria. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 13, 216–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.02.019
- Kloos, W. E., Schleifer, K. H., 1983. *Staphylococcus auricularis* sp. nov.: An inhabitant of the human external ear. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 33, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-33-1-9
- Komárek, J., Hindak, F., 1975. Taxonomy of the new isolated strains of Chroococcidiopsis

(Cyanophyceae). Arch. Für Hydrobiol. 46, 311–329.

- Konst, H., McKercher, P. D., Gorham, P. R., Robertson, A., Howell, J., 1965. Symptoms and pathology produced by toxic *Microcystis aeruginosa* NRC-1 in laboratory and domestic animals. Can. J. Comp. Med. Vet. Sci. 29, 221.
- Lakatos, M., Strieth, D., 2017. Terrestrial Microalgae: Novel Concepts for Biotechnology and Applications. Prog. Bot. 79, 269–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/124 2017 10
- Luria, S. E., Suit, J. L., 1987. Colicins and Col plasmids. *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium*: Cellular and Molecular Biology, edited by Ingraham, J., Low, K. B., Magasanik, B., Schaechter, M., Umbarger, H. E., Neidhardt, F. C. ASM Press, Washington, DC. 1615-1624.
- Madeira, F., Park, Y. M., Lee, J., Buso, N., Gur, T., Madhusoodanan, N., Basutkar, P., Tivey, A. R. N., Potter, S. C., Finn, R. D., Lopez, R., 2019. The EMBL-EBI search and sequence analysis tools APIs in 2019. Nucleic Acids Res. 47, 636 – 641. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz268
- Mahmood, N. A., Carmichael, W. W., 1987. Anatoxin-a(s), an anticholinesterase from the cyanobacterium *Anabaena flos-aquae* NRC-525-17. Toxicon. 25, 1221–1227. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-0101(87)90140-1
- Navidinia, M., 2016. The clinical importance of emerging ESKAPE pathogens in nosocomial infections. J. Paramed. Sci. 7, 2008–4978. https://doi.org/10.22037/jps.v7i3.12584
- Oman, T. J., Donk, W. A. Van Der., 2010. Follow the leader: the use of leader peptides to guide natural product biosynthesis. Nat. Chem. Biol. 6, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.286
- Rippka, R., Deruelles, J., Waterbury, J. B., Herdman, M., Stanier, R. Y., 1979. Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria. J. Gen. Microbiol. 111, 1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1
- Shishido, T. K., Humisto, A., Jokela, J., Liu, L., Wahlsten, M., Tamrakar, A., Fewer, D. P., Permi, P., Andreote, A. P. D., Fiore, M. F., Sivonen, K., 2015. Antifungal compounds from cyanobacteria. Mar. Drugs. 13, 2124–2140. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13042124
- Silva-Stenico, M. E., Silva, C. S. P., Lorenzi, A. S., Shishido, T. K., Etchegaray, A., Lira, S. P., Moraes, L. A. B., Fiore, M. F., 2011. Non-ribosomal peptides produced by Brazilian cyanobacterial isolates with antimicrobial activity. Microbiol. Res. 166, 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.04.002
- Singh, S. K., Kaur, R., Bansal, A., Kapur, S., Sundaram, S., 2019. "Biotechnological exploitation of cyanobacteria and microalgae for bioactive compounds," in Biotechnological Production of Bioactive Compounds, eds M. L. Verma and A. K. Chandel (Prayagraj; Jalandhar; Telangana, Elsevier). https://doi.org/221-259. 10.1016/B978-0-444-64323-0.00008-4
- Sivonen, K., Leikoski, N., Fewer, D. P., Jokela, J., 2010. Cyanobactins ribosomal cyclic peptides produced by cyanobacteria. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 86, 1213–1225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2482-x
- Takser, L., Benachour, N., Husk, B., Cabana, H., & Gris, D., 2016. Cyanotoxins at low doses induce apoptosis and inflammatory effects in murine brain cells: Potential implications for neurodegenerative diseases. Toxicol. Reports 3, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2015.12.008
- Viallon, J., Chinain, M., & Darius, H. T., 2020. Revisiting the neuroblastoma cell-based assay (CBA-N2a) for the improved detection of marine toxins active on voltage gated sodium channels (VGSCs). Toxins. 12, 281. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/toxins12050281
- Volk, R. B., Furkert, F. H., 2006. Antialgal, antibacterial and antifungal activity of two metabolites produced and excreted by cyanobacteria during growth. Microbiol. Res. 161, 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2005.08.005
- Wang, H., Fewer, D. P., Sivonen, K., 2011. Genome mining demonstrates the widespread occurrence of gene clusters encoding bacteriocins in cyanobacteria. PLoS One. 6, e223884. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022384

- Waterhouse, A. M., Procter, J. B., Martin, D. M. A., Clamp, M., Barton, G. J., 2009. Jalview Version 2—a multiple sequence alignment editor and analysis workbench. Bioinformatics. 25, 1189 –1191. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp033
- Welker, M., Dittmann, E., von Döhren, H., 2012. Chapter Two Cyanobacteria as a Source of Natural Products. Method. Enzymol. 517, 23-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-404634-4.00002-4
- Welker, M., Von Döhren, H., 2006. Cyanobacterial peptides—nature's own combinatorial biosynthesis. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 30, 530–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00022.x
- Whitehead, H. R., 1933. A substance inhibiting bacterial growth, produced by certain strains of lactic streptococci. Biochem. J. 27, 1793. https://doi.org/10.1042%2Fbj0271793
- Will, S. E., Henke, P., Boedeker, C., Huang, S., Brinkmann, H., Rohde, M., Jarek, M., Friedl, T., Seufert, S., Schumacher, Overmann, J., Neumann-Schaal, M., Petersen, J., 2019. Day and night: Metabolic profiles and evolutionary relationships of six axenic non-marine cyanobacteria. Genome Biol. Evol. 11, 270–294. https://doi.org/10.1093/gbe/evy275

Chapter VII

General Discussion & Outlook

1 Antimicrobial metabolites from Chroococcidipsis cubana

In this chapter, the main results of the thesis, regarding the identification and production of antimicrobial metabolites, are critically discussed, compared to recent findings from literature and evaluated in regard to possible proceeding research approaches.

1.1 Native production of an antimicrobial metabolite

In this chapter, the production process of the antimicrobial compound using the native producer strain, *C. cubana*, is discussed, including possible optimization strategies and approaches for the identification of responsible gene clusters and the compound identity itself.

1.1.1 Identification of the biosynthetic gene cluster

The key element for the implementation of the production process was the identification of the regulatory trigger. Generally, the regulation of cyanobacterial bioactive metabolite synthesis is not fully understood and mostly limited to cyanotoxins [1]. So, the identification of nitrogen limitation to be the necessary prerequisite for C. cubana to produce the substance of interest, was an interesting new finding for cyanobacterial research. This trigger was exploited for the implementation of a continuous production system, relying on a permanently low nitrate concentration in the culture medium (Chapter V). In the course of this thesis, the metabolic background of this regulation mechanism could not be revealed, but it was postulated that the synthesis of the antibiotic compound could be linked to the formation of spore-like survival cells. These cells are functionally similar to akinetes, formed by cyanobacteria strains belonging to the Nostocales or Stigonematales, and are reported to be formed by Chroococcidiopsis strains in response to nitrogen starvation (Chapter V). Until now, spores, akinetes, or similar cyanobacterial survival cells were not found to be linked to the formation of bioactive compounds in cyanobacteria, however, such connections were indeed described for Streptomyces species (Chapter V). Although the question of regulation could not be clarified, the connection of nitrogen starvation and compound production was clearly shown and could eventually lead to the identification of the responsible biosynthetic gene cluster in C. cubana. This, together with the identification of the responsible transcriptional factors, can then be used for an induced overexpression of the relevant genes.

For this purpose, a combined strategy of *in silico* analysis and molecular biological techniques might be used. As already reported, five biosynthetic gene clusters in *C. cubana* could likely come into question for the synthesis of the bioactive compound (Chapter V). These were identified using antiSMASH, a tool for the identification of biosynthetic gene

138

clusters in bacteria and fungi [2] and given a closer consideration because of proximate encoded transcriptional regulators, which might be activated by nitrogen starvation (Chapter V). As the most suitable candidates count, a lanthipeptide class V gene cluster, situated next to a histidine kinase (Hik) encoding cluster, an NRPS-like gene cluster with an adjacent hik, an NRPS-cluster close to an encoded response regulator gene and another NRPS-like gene cluster which is situated next to a drug metabolite transporter gene, as well as a gene coding for a LuxR family transcriptional regulator. Members of the latter one are known for the regulation of antibiotic synthesis genes [3]. By narrowing the selection to these four clusters, a subsequent reverse transcriptase (RT)-PCR can become useful [4]. For this, C. cubana cells should be cultivated under normal- and nitrogen starvation conditions, followed by extraction of all transcribed RNA molecules. In the RT-PCR process, these are retranscribed to DNA, which, in turn, allows the identification and, more importantly, quantification of the formed DNA-molecules by qPCR using specific primers for the formerly chosen gene clusters. As it could be shown that the antimicrobial compound from C. cubana is predominantly produced at a limited nitrogen concentration, the responsible genes should be transcribed at a significantly higher rate than under normal cultivation conditions. Next to the over-expression approach, the identification of the biosynthetic gene cluster would also provide information about the nature of the produced metabolite, as NRPS-cluster consist of individual enzymatic domains, catalyzing specific reactions and modifications on the growing peptide chain. Another possibility for the cluster identification is a liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS)-based approach, where the respectively transcribed and translated domains are identified on the basis of their predicted molecular weight [5]. As mentioned before, the elucidation of the transcriptional regulation is an important step towards genetic manipulation of the transcription rate. The regulation of jamaicamide, a toxin produced by Lyngbya majuscula, was uncovered by a β galactosidase-based reporter gene assay in E. coli and a subsequent protein pulldown assay [1]. For the first assay, the predicted promoter regions upstream of the gene cluster were cloned to a vector, upstream of a β -galactosidase gene, which was then used to transform *E. coli* cells. The formation of β -galactosidase was verified bv chemiluminescence, taking advantage of its hydrolytic activity. The protein pulldown assay uses a target gDNA-sequence, containing the genes of interest, which is immobilized to e.g. an agarose matrix. The matrix is then incubated with the soluble crude protein fraction containing the putative transcription factors. After binding to the specific DNA target sequences, all unbound proteins can be washed out and the transcription factors are eluted for further analysis [1]. A similar approach could be used to identify the transcription factors involved in the synthesis of the bioactive metabolite from C. cubana.

1.1.2 Identification of the antimicrobial compound

Although the continuous production process led to a significantly higher bioactive sample supply and the RPC-based purification of these samples resulted in partially purified and concentrated fractions with clearly increased antimicrobial activity, the identity of the unknown substance could not be revealed. As the genome of C. cubana has already been sequenced, the afore mentioned identification of the corresponding gene cluster could help identifying the bioactive product. In case of an NRPS-cluster, the number and type of enzymatic domains allows conclusions about size, amino acid composition and possible modifications [6, 7]. Again, heavily improved in silico prediction tools as SeMPI 2.0 can provide precise structure predictions [8]. Next to this approach, a structure analysis of the antimicrobial compound itself is a mandatory step. For this, a functional purification strategy is needed in the first place. In this respect, in-depth information about the structure of the associated gene cluster, possibly provided by in silico analysis, would be useful. Information about hydrophobicity, isoelectric point or spectroscopic behavior can be a great help for planning purification approaches. However, since the purification method used in Chapter V already provided at least fractions with concentrated compound, a fine tuning of the applied RPC-protocol could eventually lead to a complete purification. In literature, mostly solvents as methanol, chloroform or ethanol are used for the direct extraction of the target substances from dried or lyophilized cells, followed by a first purification by thin layer chromatography [9–11]. But as the antimicrobial compound from C. cubana is directly exported to the surrounding medium, both techniques are not applicable. After a complete purification, further MS and NMR analyses can be used for complete structure elucidation.

1.1.3 Optimization of the production process

For the production of the antimicrobial compound from *C. cubana*, a continuous cultivation system, providing a specific nitrogen concentration in the cultivation medium, was used. Instead of cultivating free-floating cells, also immobilized cells would have been a thinkable option for this process. Biofilm-based photobioreactors are an interesting topic for the cultivation of cyanobacteria, since downstream processes regarding cell harvest or the isolation of exported products from the medium become a lot easier (Chapter IV). An example for a successful continuous antibiotic production using immobilized cyanobacterial cells was shown by Chetsumon *et al.* (1995). The team used a seaweed-type bioreactor with *Scytonema* sp. TISTR 8208 cells attached to polyurethan foam strips for a 20 days lasting production of a cyclic peptide antibiotic [12]. Although *C. cubana* is not an extremely biofilm forming strain, a layer of cells sticked to the cultivation vessel (glass) was always observed at cultivations. Like all terrestrial cyanobacteria, *C. cubana* produces extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), which make up the largest proportion of its biofilm [13]. The

formed polysaccharide matrix mainly consists of water, polysaccharides, proteins, lipids and nucleic acids and serves the protection against environmental impacts [14]. Importantly for a possible biofilm-based cultivation, the formation of EPS can be triggered by drought-induced stress, nitrogen starvation and changes in light- and temperature conditions [13, 15]. A study using a *C. cubana* strain even reports a media optimization strategy, yielding a biofilm concentration of 20 g L⁻¹ in 10 days [16]. This was achieved by using BG-11 cultivation medium containing 13 g L⁻¹ NaNO₃ and 6.5 g L⁻¹ K₂HPO₄, which are significantly higher concentrations compared to the standard protocol [17]. Additionally to these optimization strategies, the ability of cyanobacteria to metabolize organic carbon sources alongside with photosynthesis could once again be used. For *Nostoc* sp., it was documented that a mixotrophic cultivation with 2.5 g L⁻¹ potassium acetate leads to an about 3-fold increased EPS production, compared to phototrophic cultivation [18]. A comparable effect could be shown for *Nostoc flagelliforme*, where a mixture of glucose and acetate yielded the highest EPS yields [19].

To summarize, a biofilm-based cultivation approach with *C. cubana* could be well feasible. The main advantages would be the elimination of cell separation steps, as well as further possibilities for an automated production optimization. In the course of this thesis, a self-optimizing AI-controlled PBR system was created, which was used for a biomass yield maximization of the fast-growing cyanobacterium *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 (**Fig.1**). The system is regulated by a continuous OD measurement and in-, or decreases medium inflow/outflow speed in response to the calculated productivity Dx (Bachelor Thesis M. Dörr). A comparable system, also using a machine learning approach, was shown to significantly improve limonene productivity of *S. elongatus* UTEX 2973 [20].



Fig. 1 Al-controlled PBR. The system works similar to a turbidostat, the cell density (*S. elongatus* UTEX 2973) is controlled by the flow rate (D), volume and composition of the culture medium remain constant. In contrast to a turbidostat, D is used to maximize the productivity (Dx), with cell mass as the product. The optical density (OD) of the bacterial culture is determined via the effluent using a flow-through spectrophotometer, after which it enters the harvest tank. The OD is transmitted to the control center, which calculates Dx and compares it to the previously measured value. A signal is then transmitted to the pump control system and the flow rate is adjusted accordingly. This continues until the maximum possible productivity has been reached.

In case of a biofilm-based cultivation with immobilized *C. cubana* cells with the aim to maximize the production of the antimicrobial metabolite, the outflow medium would not contain cells and would thus cause no interferences in the spectrometric measurements. So, if the compound would show spectrometric activity, the system could directly optimize the flow rate on the basis of antibiotic metabolite production. As the system is expendable by further regulation loops for e.g., light intensity, temperature and the addition of carbon sources, the productivity could be optimized with regard to many possibly influencing cultivation parameters.

1.2 Heterologous production of an antimicrobial metabolite

The bacteriocin B135CC from *C. cubana* was heterologously expressed in *E. coli* and showed potent activity especially against Gram-positive bacteria. From a concentration of 6.25 µg mL⁻¹, growth of *Staphylococcus auricularis* was nearly completely inhibited. As the mode of action, a bacteriolytic activity was shown. Since food spoiling bacteria as *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Clostridium botulinum*, *Enterococcus*-, *Streptococcus*-, *Staphylococcus*-, and *Bacillus* species are predominantly Gram-positive, the selectivity of the produced bacteriocin could be an advantage [21]. A possible application as a food preservant is also

indicated by the absent cytotoxicity for mammal N2a cells, and the relatively high temperature stability till 60 °C (Chapter VI). The bacteriocin nisin, produced by *Lactobacillus lactis*, is approved as a food additive since 1988. However, resistances have evolved [22], which increases the urgency for novel compounds.

For a production of B135CC on an industrial scale, the use of a heterologous host as E. coli is presumably inevitable, because *b135cc* seems to be a silent gene, which is the case for most cyanobacterial biosynthetic gene clusters [23]. An inhibitory activity against the bacteria susceptible for the bacteriocin was neither caused by C. cubana biomass nor cultivation medium. As the vector-based expression of *b135CC* led to satisfying bacteriocin concentrations and the host cells were not impaired by the formed product (shown by comparison with an empty vector control while gene expression and a subsequent growth inhibitory assay with purified bacteriocin), E. coli seems to be a suitable host for B135CC production. For an increase in product formation, a range of possibilities exists. Expression efficacy can vary between different expression strains and also E. coli strains specially adapted for the production of bacteriocins can be tried. Strain BL21 (DE3), which was used for B135CC production, is deficient in Lon and OmpT proteases and therefore frequently used for bacteriocin synthesis [24]. The plasmid copy number can as well greatly influence the expression rate. The used pET vector system is designated as a low to middle copy plasmid (about 15 – 20 copies per cell). The use of a high-copy plasmid, such as pUC vectors could be worth trying, as it leads to > 100 copies per cell. However, a high copy number can also lead to the formation of aggregation bodies or misfolding of larger peptides [25], so generally low and medium copy vectors are used for heterologous bacteriocin production [24]. Moreover, the protein expression rate can be positively influenced by codon optimization. If codons rather unusual in E. coli are present in the sequence of the cloned fragment, it is possible that the specific tRNA for these codons is only marginally available or completely absent, which in turn slows down the expression rate or completely prevents the translation [24]. In this case either a codon optimization can be done, or a vector as pRIL or pRARE can be used, which further expands the tRNA pool. An online tool for codon % optimization attested an optimization potential of 48 for B135CC (https://www.novoprolabs.com/tools/codon-optimization), so this approach would be worth trying.

Bacteriocins contain a double-glycine motif within the leader peptide sequence, that is recognized and cleaved by a C39 peptidase domain, which is part of an ABC transporter [26]. This transporter is also responsible for the following export of the bacteriocin to the surrounding medium. Such transporters also occur in *E. coli*, where they are e.g. responsible for the secretion of colicin-type bacteriocins. As the leader peptide of B135CC shows no clear double-glycine-motif and is significantly longer than leader peptides of other

143

bacteriocins, it is apparently not processed and transported by *E. coli* ABC-type transporter. However, a secretion of B135CC in *E. coli* was not tested and cannot be excluded. With regard to the high intracellular bacteriocin content after cell disruption, an export to the cultivation medium seems rather unlikely. Interestingly, it was shown for divergicin A, a bacteriocin from *Carnobacterium divergens*, that the replacement of the native leader peptide with the leader peptide of colicin V, mediated the secretion of the fusion protein in *E. coli* after heterologous expression, using the outer membrane protein TolC and an ABCtype transporter [27]. Consequently, the same principle could be tried for B135CC (**Fig. 2**).



Fig. 2 Possible generation of a fusion peptide consisting of the B135CC core peptide from *C. cubana* and the colicin V leader peptide from *E. coli*. The two fragments are fused by Gibson assembly, using overlapping homologous sequences.

With a functional secretion process in *E. coli*, the bacteriocin B135CC could be produced much more efficiently, without the need for cell separation, or disruption. As a consequence, a significantly more economic process could be implemented, which could lead to a wide field of applications for the novel bacteriocin from *C. cubana*.

2 Summary and Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was the production and identification of novel antimicrobial compounds from terrestrial cyanobacteria, associated with the establishment of a suitable purification method. In the initial screening process, the strain *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* attracted attention by causing inhibition zones at agar plates inoculated with Gram-positive *M. luteus* or the yeast *C. auris* (**Chapter V**). The following research brought light into the required conditions for the synthesis of the responsible compound. It was found that the production was initiated by nitrogen depletion, mostly in late exponential growth phase/early stationary phase when the nitrate concentration was between 0.35 ± 0.053 and 0.059 ± 0.024 g L⁻¹. Using this knowledge, a continuous production process was implemented that used a constant inflow of mineral medium with a decreased nitrate concentration of 0.219 g L⁻¹. The process provided highly active culture supernatants with a maximum of 85.29 ± 2.75 % inhibition in the peak against *M. luteus*. Consequently, a purification approach was implemented, which led to a highly active fraction nearly completely inhibiting growth of *M. luteus* (91.15 % \pm 1.32) and *C. auris* (96.95 % \pm 1.32). The compound was found to remain its activity until a temperature of about 45 °C.

As C. cubana raised our attention, its genome sequence was analyzed and searched for biosynthetic gene clusters, possibly encoding the purified antimicrobial compound. And indeed, several NRPS, PKS, and RiPP domains were identified, of which the latter ones were cloned and heterologously expressed in *E. coli* (Chapter VI). One of the peptides, B135CC, could be produced in sufficiently high amounts and was tested against several microorganisms. The bacteriocin showed potent antagonistic activity against the mycobacterium *M. phlei*, a bacteriocin concentration of 150 µg ml⁻¹ resulted in a growth inhibition of 70 %. For Gram-positive S. auricularis, a minimum inhibitory concentration of 6.25 µg ml⁻¹ was determined for complete growth inhibition. To clarify the mode of action, a protein leakage assay was done by incubation of S. auricularis with different concentrations of B135CC and a subsequent quantification of released cell proteins by Lowry-assay. The test confirmed a bacteriolytic mode of action, after six hours of incubation, all applied concentrations $(62.5 - 500 \ \mu g \ m^{-1})$ led to a release of about 30 - 35% of total cell protein. Since the bacteriocin showed no cytotoxic activity against mammalian N2a cells and a temperature stability until 60 °C was confirmed, a future medical application could at least be imaginable.

As written in **Chapter I**, the work with cyanobacteria can be quite challenging, because standard microbiology methods often need adaptations or must be replaced. But despite, or precisely because of these difficulties, one is forced to develop alternative ways for reaching the anticipated goals. So, in the course of this work, two standard protocols, specifically adapted for the work with cyanobacteria, were established. First, a method for a quick and easy *in vivo* vitality estimation of phototrophic cells, based on pO₂ measurements and only requiring a maximum of 1.5 g wet cyanobacterial cell mass and 30 min of reaction time per run was developed (**Chapter III**). Second, a sodium salicylate approach for a fast and economic determination of nitrate quantities in microalgal cultures was established, which was found to be suitable for a direct detection of nitrate ions up to a concentration of 450 mg L⁻¹ within common microalgal mineral media (**Chapter IV**). Both methods greatly helped to move forward the whole project, the first one by enabling the identification of suitable cryopreservation protocols for individual cyanobacteria strains (outlined in **Chapter II**) and the second one by facilitating the determination of the optimal nitrate concentration for the production of the antimicrobial compound from *C. cubana*.

In the end of **Chapter I**, the ability of cyanobacteria to utilize organic carbon sources for an accelerated cell growth was linked to the (increased) production of bioactive metabolites. Although an enhanced synthesis of the antimicrobial metabolite natively produced by *C. cubana* was not noticed at mixotrophic cultivation, it could though be shown that the bacterium reaches significantly higher growth rates when cultivated with fructose or glucose. Interestingly, this effect was even further enhanced when light intensity was decreased. Under these low-light conditions, phototrophically cultivated *C. cubana* cells showed the exactly opposite reaction (**Chapter II**). This effect might be extremely useful for an economic cultivation of cyanobacteria.

In this thesis, two promising new antimicrobial compounds from the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* were identified, using two different approaches. One was detected by "classic" antimicrobial screening, followed by targeted production and purification, and the other one was found by screening the genome of *C. cubana* for biosynthetic gene clusters, using an *in silico*-based approach, followed by a heterologous expression strategy. Both ways led to a functional molecule with strong antimicrobial activity against different microorganisms. The production strategies were shown to be suitable for providing sufficient amounts of the respective compound, in regard to further analysis. Next to structure elucidation of the natively produced compound, both antibiotics should be tested against the afore mentioned, multi-resistant ESKAPE bacteria, as well as pathogenic fungi like *Candida albicans*. Especially because the discovered compounds show antagonistic activity against the closely related strains *Staphylococcus auricularis* and *Candida auris*. The obtained results show that especially terrestrial cyanobacteria are indeed a largely untapped source for bioactive metabolites, which is worth to be further explored.

3 References

- 1. Jones AC, Gerwick L, Gonzalez D, et al (2009) Transcriptional analysis of the jamaicamide gene cluster from the marine cyanobacterium *Lyngbya majuscula* and identification of possible regulatory proteins. BMC Microbiol 9:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-9-247
- 2. Blin K, Shaw S, Steinke K, et al (2019) antiSMASH 5 . 0 : updates to the secondary metabolite genome mining pipeline. 47:81–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz310
- 3. Chen J, Xie J (2011) Role and regulation of bacterial LuxR-like regulators. J Cell Biochem 112:2694–2702. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.23219
- 4. Brito Â, Gaifem J, Ramos V, et al (2015) Bioprospecting Portuguese Atlantic coast cyanobacteria for bioactive secondary metabolites reveals untapped chemodiversity. Algal Res 9:218–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2015.03.016
- Chen Y, McClure RA, Kelleher NL (2016) Screening for expressed nonribosomal peptide synthetases and polyketide synthases using LC-MS/MS-based proteomics. Methods in Molecular Biology 1401:135–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3375-4_9
- 6. Weber T, Blin K, Duddela S, et al (2015) antiSMASH 3.0 a comprehensive resource for the genome mining of biosynthetic gene clusters. Nucleic Acids Res 43:237–243. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv437
- 7. Kalaitzis JA, Lauro FM, Neilan BA (2009) Mining cyanobacterial genomes for genes encoding complex biosynthetic pathways. Nat Prod Rep 26:1447–1465. https://doi.org/10.1039/b817074f
- 8. Zierep PF, Ceci AT, Dobrusin I, et al (2020) Sempi 2.0—a web server for pks and nrps predictions combined with metabolite screening in natural product databases. Metabolites 11:1–27. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo11010013
- 9. El-Sheekh MM, Osman MEH, Dyab MA, Amer MS (2006) Production and characterization of antimicrobial active substance from the cyanobacterium *Nostoc muscorum*. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 21:42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2005.06.006
- 10. Niveshika, Verma E, Mishra AK, et al (2016) Structural elucidation and molecular docking of a novel antibiotic compound from cyanobacterium *Nostoc* sp. MGL001. Front Microbiol 7:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01899
- 11. Tidgewell K, Engene N, Byrum T, et al (2010) Evolved diversification of a modular natural product pathway: Apratoxins F and G, two cytotoxic cyclic depsipeptides from a palmyra collection of *Lyngbya bouillonii*. ChemBioChem 11:1458–1466. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201000070
- 12. Chetsumon Å, Maeda I, Umeda F, et al (1995) Continuous antibiotic production by an immobilized cyanobacterium in a seaweed-type bioreactor. J Appl Phycol 7:135–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00693059
- 13. Li M, Zhu W, Gao L, Lu L (2013) Changes in extracellular polysaccharide content and morphology of *Microcystis aeruginosa* at different specific growth rates. J Appl Phycol 25:1023–1030. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9937-7
- 14. Pereira S, Zille A, Micheletti E, et al (2009) Complexity of cyanobacterial exopolysaccharides: Composition, structures, inducing factors and putative genes involved in their biosynthesis and assembly. FEMS Microbiol Rev 33:917–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2009.00183.x
- 15. Moreno M, Vargas A, Olivares H, et al (1998) Exopolysaccharide production by the cyanobacterium *Anabaena* sp. ATCC 33047 in batch and continuous culture. J Biotechnol 60:175–182
- Mehta D, Sivan P, Shah D (2020) Statistical In vitro Model for Upscaling Biofilm of *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* by Media Optimization and its Protocol for DNA Extraction. 13:1962–1966

- 17. Rippka, R., Deruelles, J., Waterbury, J. B., Herdman, M., Stanier RY (1979) Generic Assignments, Strain Histories and Properties of Pure Cultures of Cyanobacteria. J Gen Microbiol 111:1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1
- 18. Schwarz A (2022) Heterotrophe und mixotrophe Kultivierung terrestrischer Cyanobakterien. Verlag Dr. Hut
- 19. Yu H (2012) Effect of mixed carbon substrate on exopolysaccharide production of cyanobacterium *Nostoc flagelliforme* in mixotrophic cultures. J Appl Phycol 24:669–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-011-9684-1
- 20. Long B, Fischer B, Zeng Y, et al (2022) Machine learning-informed and synthetic biology-enabled semi-continuous algal cultivation to unleash renewable fuel productivity. Nat Commun 13:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27665-y
- 21. Kumariya R, Garsa AK, Rajput YS, et al (2019) Bacteriocins: Classification, synthesis, mechanism of action and resistance development in food spoilage causing bacteria. Microb Pathog 128:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.01.002
- 22. de Freire Bastos MDC, Varella Coelho ML, da Silva Santos OC (2015) Resistance to bacteriocins produced by gram-positive bacteria. Microbiology (United Kingdom) 161:683–700. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.082289-0
- 23. Dhakal D, Chen M, Luesch H, Ding Y (2021) Heterologous production of cyanobacterial compounds. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 48:. https://doi.org/10.1093/jimb/kuab003
- 24. Mesa-Pereira B, Rea MC, Cotter PD, et al (2018) Heterologous expression of biopreservative bacteriocins with a view to low cost production. Front Microbiol 9:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01654
- 25. Tolia NH, Joshua-Tor L (2006) Strategies for protein coexpression in *Escherichia coli*. Nat Methods 3:55–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth0106-55
- 26. Wang H, Fewer DP, Sivonen K (2011) Genome mining demonstrates the widespread occurrence of gene clusters encoding bacteriocins in cyanobacteria. PLoS One 6:. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022384
- 27. Belkum MJ Van, Worobot RW, Stiles E (1996) Double-glycine-type leader peptides direct secretion of bacteriocins by ABC transporters: colicin V secretion in *Lactococcus lactis*. 23:

A Supplemental Material

A1 Betreute Arbeiten

Dann, M.: Optimization of growth and secondary metabolite production by the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* (2020), Masterarbeit.

Gecgel, S.: Screening terrestrischer Cyanobakterien hinsichtlich der Produktion antimikrobieller Sekundärmetabolite (2020), Bachelorarbeit.

Rabbachin, L.: Analyse von Kulturüberständen des Cyanobakteriums *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* hinsichtlich ihrer antibiotischen Wirkung (2020), Projektarbeit.

Voigt, M.: Strukturaufklärung eines cyanobakteriellen Antibiotikums mittels chemischer Nachweisreaktionen und Stabilitätstests (2020), Projektarbeit.

Iseni, S.: Überprüfung cyanobakterieller Kulturüberstände auf antagonistische Wirkung gegenüber anderen Cyanobakterien-Stämmen mittels der pO₂ – Vitalitätsmessmethode (2021), Projektarbeit.

Kosanenko, A.: Kultivierung der Cyanobakterien *Chroococcidiopsis cubana* und *Chroococcidiopsis thermalis* zur Produktion antimikrobieller Substanzen (2021), Projektarbeit.

Rabbachin, L.: Gewinnung antimikrobieller Substanzen aus Überständen terrestrischer Cyanobakterien-Kulturen (2021), Praxisphase.

Rabbachin, L.: Production and Enrichment of Antimicrobial Substances from the Cyanobacteria *Synechococcus elongatus* and *Scytonema stuposum* (2021), Bachelorarbeit

Schmidt, A.-K.: Wachstumssteigerung des Cyanobakteriums *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 (2021), Projektarbeit.

Srikanthamoorthy, G.: Mixotrophe und heterotrophe Wachstumstests mit *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 (2021), Projektarbeit.

Stielow, C.: Expressionsoptimierung, Aufreinigung und Charakterisierung von heterolog produzierten cyanobakteriellen Bacteriocinen (2021), Bachelorarbeit.

Voigt, M.: Gewinnung antimikrobieller Substanzen aus terrestrischen Cyanobakterien (2021), Praxisphase.

Voigt, M.: Gewinnung antimikrobieller Substanzen aus dem terrestrischen Cyanobakterium *Chroococcidiopsis thermalis* (2021), Bachelorarbeit.

Börner, T.: Verbesserung der Lipidproduktion mit *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 (2022), Projektarbeit.

Dörr, M.: Entwicklung einer digitalen Pumpensteuerung mit Turbiditäts-Rückkopplung für die Durchführung und Optimierung von kontinuierlichen Kultivierungen in Bioreaktoren (2022), Bachelorarbeit.

El Azem, S.: Analyse von Kulturüberständen des Cyanobakteriums *Chroococcidiopsis thermalis* in verschiedenen Kulturmedienzusammensetzungen hinsichtlich der Produktion antibiotischer Wirkstoffe (2022), Projektarbeit.

Gandras, L.: Optimierung der Lipidproduktion von *Synechococcus elongatus* UTEX 2973 mittels mixotropher Kultivierung (2022), Projektarbeit.

Gandras, L.: Produktion, Aufreinigung und Charakterisierung einer antimikrobiellen Substanz aus dem terrestrischen Cyanobakterium *Nostoc punctiforme* (2022), Praxisphase.

Lopes, A.: Analyse von Kulturüberständen des Cyanobakteriums hinsichtlich ihrer antimikrobiellen Wirkung (2022), Projektarbeit.

Lopes, A.: Wirkspektrum antimikrobieller Substanzen aus Überständen terrestrischer Cyanobakterien-Kulturen (2022), Praxisphase.

Ludwig, E.: Einfluss der Stickstofflimitierung bei der Produktion antimikrobieller Substanzen durch das Cyanobakterium *Scytonema stuposum* (2022), Projektarbeit.

Schmidt, A.-K.: Wirkspektrum antimikrobieller Substanzen aus Überständen terrestrischer Cyanobakterien-Kulturen (2022), Praxisphase.

Schmidt, A.-K.: Bioanalytische Untersuchung der durch *Synechococcus elongatus* produzierten antibiotischen Substanzen (2022), Bachelorarbeit.

Ternes, M.: Bioaktivitätsmonitoring einer antibiotischen Substanz aus *Calothrix desertica* (2022), Projektarbeit.

A2 Tagungsbeiträge

M. Witthohn, R. Ulber, K. Muffler: Vitalitätsbestimmung von terrestrischen Cyanobakterien über deren Sauerstoff-Produktion. 12. Bundesalgenstammtisch (2019), Kiel, Deutschland (Poster)

M. Witthohn, R. Ulber, K. Muffler: Novel pO₂-based method for a quick vitality determination of cyanobacteria. 6th Joint Conference of the DGHM & VAAM (2020), Leipzig, Deutschland (Poster)

M. Witthohn, R. Ulber, K. Muffler: Extraction and analysis of antimicrobial secondary metabolites produced by a terrestrial cyanobacterium. ProcessNet-Jahrestagung und 34. DECHEMA-Jahrestagung der Biotechnologen (2020), Aachen, Deutschland (Poster)

M. Witthohn, R. Ulber, K. Muffler: Terrestrische Cyanobakterien als Quelle neuer antimikrobieller Substanzen. DACH Algen Summit (2021), Wien, Österrreich (Vortrag)

M. Witthohn, R. Ulber, K. Muffler: Characterisation of a cyanobacterial bacteriocin heterologously produced with *E. coli*. VAAM Digitale Jahrestagung (2022), Düsseldorf, Deutschland (Poster)

A3 Lebenslauf

Persönliche Daten

Name:	Marco Witthohn
Staatsangehörigkeit:	Deutsch
Studium	
04/2019 – 12/2023	TH Bingen/TU Kaiserslautern Promotion im Bereich Biotechnologie & Bioverfahrenstechnik
10/2016 – 12/2018	WWU Münster M. Sc. Biotechnologie Abschluss: Master of Science
08/2013 – 08/2016	WWU Münster B. Sc. Biowissenschaften Abschluss: Bachelor of Science

Danksagung

Zunächst möchte ich Herrn Prof. Ulber für die Annahme als (externen) Doktoranden sowie die Betreuung und Begutachtung meiner Arbeit danken.

Ebenso danke ich Herrn Prof. Kai Muffler für die Betreuung vor Ort an der TH Bingen, die durchweg konstruktive und positive Zusammenarbeit, sowie die Unterstützung bei der Umsetzung meiner Ideen.

Meinen Kollegen an der TH Bingen möchte ich für die entspannte und freundschaftliche Arbeitsatmosphäre danken. Auch der BioVT-Gruppe in Kaiserslautern danke ich für die herzliche Aufnahme als externen Kollegen und die tolle Zusammenarbeit.

Ein besonderer Dank gilt meiner Familie, meiner Freundin und meinen Freunden für die großartige Unterstützung während dieser herausfordernden Zeit.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation "Production, purification and analysis of novel peptide antibiotics from terrestrial cyanobacteria" ohne unerlaubte fremde Hilfe angefertigt und keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. Wörtlich oder sinngemäß übernommenes Gedankengut wurde als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht.

Ort, Datum

Marco Witthohn